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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

The global mobile games industry continued growing strongly in 2015, with more than 1.6 billion users generating 

approximately US$30 billion in revenue (mainly from smartphones and tablets). This was an increase of 23% over 

2014, surpassing console and video games with a 33% market share. By 2018, mobile games are expected to 

overtake browser games to become the most popular platform of the games industry.

The proliferation of mobile internet not only stimulated the growth of mobile games, but is also having a profound 

impact on the types and manner of traditional games. Sony’s PS4 Remote Play lets users stream their console 

games to their mobile devices; Samsung’s Gear VR, powered by Oculus, lets users experience VR games with 

their Samsung mobile devices wherever they are. With the games industry becomes increasingly “mobile” and 

technological breakthroughs become more widely available, mobile game developers will be limited only by their 

imagination as they strive to enhance the mobile gaming experience. Video games have well and truly become 

mainstream entertainment. We are now seeing a convergence of various media with video games, such as the rise 

of the Let’s Play genre on video-sharing services such as YouTube and Twitch. This positive feedback-loop will have 

spin-off benefits for the reach of mobile games as a platform*.

As a global developer and publisher in a rapidly evolving industry, IGG needs to maintain a stable revenue stream 

from matured markets without missing opportunities as they arise in emerging markets, at the same time keeping 

up with the latest technology trends. Our success is predicated on understanding each market well, and adopting 

strategies tailor-made for them. North America has always been IGG’s main market, contributing 37% of the Group’s 

revenue in 2015. In comparison, the average revenue per paying user in Japan and Korea is up to 50% higher, 

but gamers prefer games of a different style and genre, and have vastly different spending habits. To enter these 

lucrative markets, IGG invested more development resources in Japan and Korea, contributing to a rise in R&D 

expenses.

Eastern Europe is a high growth market, but smartphone and credit card penetration, as well as the spending power 

of consumers, remain much lower than North America. Russia, for example, has a smartphone penetration rate 

of only 25% in 2015; 83% of its population speaks only Russian; action and strategy games are the most popular 

genres in this market; and also there is a large pool of local game development talent. For a foreign publisher, game 

selection and localization are critical success factors; and the best way to do both is to tap into the local talent pool. 

Since September 2013 when the Russian version of Castle Clash was launched, the game has always been among 

the top five grossing games on Google Play in Russia. To strengthen our position in Russia and Eastern Europe, 

IGG intends to set up an office in the region in 2016, recruiting local talent to develop content for the local audience, 

and increasing co-operation with local partners. The Middle East is also a market with a lot of potential, and many 

challenges, among which are language, religion, culture, government regulations, and limited online shopping habits. 

IGG formed an Arabic team in the first quarter of 2016 to tap into this “Blue Ocean” market.



ANNUAL REPORT

5

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

In 2015, IGG transferred its listing from the Growth Enterprise Market to the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock 

Exchange, enjoying increased support from new and existing shareholders, and the Group was honored to be 

selected as a constituent of Hang Seng Internet & Information Technology Index, Hang Seng Global Composite 

Index and Hang Seng Composite Index Series (including Hang Seng Composite Index, Hang Seng Composite 

Industry Index – Information Technology, Hang Seng MidCap & SmallCap Index and Hang Seng SmallCap Index) in 

March 2016. In the “13th China’s Financial Annual Champion Awards (中國財經風雲榜 )” organized by Hexun.com, 

IGG was voted the “Most Promising HKEx Listed Companies (最具投資潛力港股上市公司 )”. We adjusted our R&D 

strategy in 2015. Apart from continuing to recruit talent globally, all game development teams will identify their core 

competencies, sharpen their skill sets in this area, and focus exclusively on producing games in the genre which 

they have a competitive advantage. We remain committed to our idea of games as a service, to creating innovative, 

engaging and entertaining games for our customers. As a company that thrives on competition and embraces 

change, IGG will challenge ourselves to scale new heights in the coming year.

* Data from Newzoo reports and public information

Zongjian Cai

Chairman and Executive Director

25 March 2016
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a renowned developer and publisher of mobile online games with a global presence and international 

customer base. The Group has its headquarters in Singapore with regional offices in the United States, Mainland 

China, Hong Kong, Canada, Japan, Korea, Thailand and the Philippines, and customers from over 200 countries and 

regions around the world.

The Group offers free-to-play mobile, browser and client-based online games in 15 different languages, the majority 

of which are produced by its own development teams. The bulk of the Group’s technical and game development 

personnel are based in China to tap the large talent pool there and to leverage cost advantages. This has enabled 

the Group to develop games more cost-effectively compared to other companies. At the same time, to ensure that 

its games are of the highest quality and suit the tastes of gamers worldwide, the Group has been expanding game 

producers, designers, art directors and other high caliber creative talents in the United States, Canada, Korea and 

Singapore.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the global games industry remained highly competitive. To pursue its 

overall corporate strategy for 2015, the Group has maintained its focus on (i) developing mobile games, and (ii) 

marketing and operating the Group’s mobile games globally, including setting up local teams in key markets around 

the world to tap into local knowledge for more effective game operations, using the Group’s mobile advertising 

platform and game publishing expertise to market third party developers’ games globally.

Mobile Games

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group kept on developing new games based on its strong game 

research and development capabilities and unremitting drive for innovation.

Revenue from mobile games accounted for approximately 94.0% of the total revenue for the year ended 31 

December 2015, as compared to 85.3% for the year ended 31 December 2014. In particular, the Group’s hit title 

“Castle Clash”, a fast-paced tower defense game, continued to perform well, with monthly revenue setting record 

high in December 2015. It ranked top five in 17 countries and regions and top ten in 48 countries and regions in 

terms of daily revenue rankings generated at Google Play as at 31 December 2015, according to the independent 

third-party analysis platform App Annie. The Group has been able to extend the lifespan of “Castle Clash” by 

regularly introducing new game features, rapidly resolving technical issues, and consistently providing excellent 

customer service, and building a large community of loyal gamers around the world along the way. The game is now 

available in 15 languages on Andriod, iOS, Amazon and Windows Phone platforms, making it easily accessible to a 

majority of gamers in many parts of the world. As of 31 December 2015, the MAU of the game was over 10 million.

The Group’s another mobile game, “Clash of Lords II”, which is a fantasy strategy game with a wide array of 

cannons, traps and defenses, has continued to enjoy widespread popularity among gamers. With the release of 

Spanish, Italian, Thai and Turkish versions of “Clash of Lords II” in 2015, the game is now available in 11 languages. 

The MAU for the “Clash of Lords” series was approximately 3.0 million as at 31 December 2015.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

“Deck Heroes”, a card-based strategy game with a western mythology theme, has been performing well since 

its English and traditional Chinese versions were released in 2014. In addition, this game was made available in 

German, French, Korean, Russian, Spanish and Japanese versions in 2015. The monthly gross billing of “Deck 

Heroes”  steadily remained above US$1.0 million since March 2015.

Texas HoldEm Poker Deluxe, our first self-developed mobile game which was launched in October 2011, and Slot 

Machines by IGG, have both proven to be stable revenue generators. Both have regularly maintained their ranking 

among the top five grossing games in the Group, demonstrating their longevity.

In addition to self-publishing, the Group also co-published its games on game platforms in selected markets, 

including Mainland China, Japan, Korea, Taiwan and the Middle East. Each of these platforms had their own 

community of gamers, making them a fast and effective channel to reach the target audience. Working with game 

platforms complemented the Group’s self-publishing efforts.

Global Presence

In an ongoing effort to add game development capabilities overseas and produce games of different styles and 

genres, the Group made additional investment in Nerd Kingdom and completed the consolidation in the second half 

of 2015. Nerd Kingdom is a game developer in the United States that has created the Eternus engine, on which its 

flagship game, TUG, is being built. TUG is a multiplayer, open-world, sandbox RPG using social sciences to allow 

players to impact how the game evolves.

To strengthen its presence in Asia, the Group has set up regional offices in Korea, Japan and Thailand in the year 

of 2015, recruiting local talent for game development and operations. It will boost the Group’s ability to produce and 

launch games to suit local market tastes and demands effectively. As at 31 December 2015, the Group has regional 

offices in 9 countries and regions. The Group also has outsourcing arrangements with companies in Mainland China, 

Korea and Taiwan to develop new games and operate its own games.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group’s customers consisted of players with IP addresses from more 

than 200 countries and regions around the world, emphasizing the Group’s international reach. The Group continued 

to design, develop and launch games in multiple languages, distribute and promote the games in different countries 

in accordance with its global marketing strategy. As at 31 December 2015, the user community of the Group 

consisted of approximately 300 million player accounts around the world, including a total MAU of approximately 18 

million. During the year ended 31 December 2015, approximately 37.2%, 31.3% and 25.5% of the total revenue of 

the Group was generated from North America, Europe and Asia, respectively.

According to the independent third-party analysis platform App Annie, among the mobile game developers, IGG 

ranked 34th globally in terms of revenue of year 2015. After experiencing high growth and being widely recognized, 

the Group will leverage its global reach in R&D and operation, and continue to seek worldwide partners in aim to 

achieve the state-of-the-art in gaming quality, player experience, revenue level etc.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

New value-added tax changes

The new value-added tax (VAT) changes took effect on 1 January 2015 in European Union. Game revenue derived 

by the Group are subject to VAT starting from 1 January 2015 at respective tax rates in different EU countries, 

ranging from 17% to 27%. In addition, the new VAT changes also took effect in Korea and Japan on 1 July 2015 

and 1 October 2015, respectively, at respective tax rates of 10% and 8%. The imposition of the new VAT rules has 

resulted in the Group paying additional VAT and had an impact on the Group’s business. Similar to the new VAT 

changes in EU, Korea and Japan, more tax authorities worldwide are contemplating similar VAT practices which 

could have an adverse effect on the online gaming  industry as well as the Group’s operations.

Prospects

For existing games, the Group will focus on increasing revenue from iOS platform, where the games still have 

considerable growth potential. At the same time, the development team will continue to introduce new modes of 

play for the game. The Group will also release its games in more languages, and continue to seek co-publishing 

opportunities with game platforms. In the short-to-mid term, the games should see continuing revenue growth from 

newly-acquired users.

Looking ahead, the Group expects to develop approximately 15 to 20 games by the end of 2016, consisting both 

self-developed and outsourced mobile games ranging from mid-core games such as SLG, Trading Card and APRG 

types to casual games such as shooting and marble types. The Group is also planning a sequel to Castle Clash and 

Clash of Lords, building on the success and popularity of the game to provide stable revenue growth.

Following the release of the location-based social networking app LINK in August 2014, the Group launched a new 

instant messaging app, LINK Messenger, targeting interaction among friends and family. Recently, the Group will 

market these two apps in selected countries and regions to build awareness and grow their user base. Word of 

mouth plays an important role in a game’s success. The Group intends for these two apps to facilitate interaction 

among its existing gamers, and be a platform to attract new potential players to its games.

The business of the Group depends on effective advertising, distribution and promotional strategies to attract 

customers. During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group has continued to set up its advertisement platform, 

as compared to its previous reliance on third-party advertisement platforms. The Group expects to further expand its 

advertising business to further stimulate the Group’s online game business.

The Group will make greater efforts to strengthen its long-term partnership with Apple, Google, Amazon, Microsoft, 

as well as more than 100 other global platforms and partners, and will allocate more resources in iOS marketing 

development, to execute its global marketing strategy in an effective manner.
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During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group has made several strategic investments into companies in the 

gaming industry that either has high growth potential, or with products and services that are complementary to the 

Group’s business. The Group will continue to seek potential merger and acquisition opportunities that could create 

synergies, accelerate its growth, or provide breakthroughs in its business.

COMPARISON BETWEEN BUSINESS OBJECTIVES WITH ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS

An analysis comparing the business objectives as set out in the Prospectus with the Group’s actual business 

progress during the year ended 31 December 2015 is set out below:

Business objectives as stated in the Prospectus

Actual business progress during the year ended 31 

December 2015

Continue the promotion of existing or new online games 

on various Internet application platforms, social network 

platforms and other online game promotional platforms

Advertising activities for online games and “LINK” 

business were carried out on various online game 

promotional platforms.

Acquisition of/investment in online game developers The Group has made several strategic investments into 

online gaming and mobile internet related companies.

Enhance and diversi fy the game development 

capabilities

The Group has allocated more resources in research 

and development department to further strengthen and 

diversify its game development capabilities.

Working capital and other general corporate purposes The Group has spent its working capital in its day-to-day 

operations and other general corporate purposes.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE PLACING

The net proceeds from the Placing in October 2013, after deducting underwriting commission and expenses in 

connection with the Placing, were approximately US$105.0 million. After the Listing, these proceeds were fully 

utilized for the purposes in accordance with the future plans and prospects as set out in the Prospectus.

An analysis of the utilisation of the net proceeds from the Placing as at 31 December 2015 is set out below:

Net proceeds

from the

Placing

Utilised

amount as at

31 December

2015

(US$’000) (US$’000)

1. Continue the promotion of existing or new online games

on various Internet application platforms, social network

platforms and other online game promotional platforms 36,759.1 36,759.1

2. Acquisition of/investment in online game developers 36,759.1 36,759.1

3. Enhance and diversify the game development

capabilities 21,000.5 21,000.5

4. Working capital and other general corporate purposes 10,500.3 10,500.3
  

Total 105,019.0 105,019.0
  

KEY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Year ended 31 December

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Revenue 202,546 204,612

Profit for the year 41,248 66,392

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the parent 41,492 66,373

Adjusted net income* 44,187 68,642

* Adjusted net income represented profit excluding share-based compensation. It is considered a useful supplement to the 

condensed consolidated statement of profit or loss indicating the Group’s profitability and operational performance for the 

financial periods presented.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2015 was approximately US$202.5 million, remained 

relatively stable compared to approximately US$204.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2014. However, the 

Group’s revenue base was more diversified for the year ended 31 December 2015 as compared to the year ended 

31 December 2014, primarily due to (i) excellent performance of “Clash of Lords” series and “Deck Heroes”, which 

led to the increase of the contribution of these two titles to the total revenue of approximately 11.8% from 12.5% for 

the year ended 31 December 2014 to 24.3% for the year ended 31 December 2015, and (ii) the contribution of “Castle 

Clash” to the total revenue decreased to 59.7% for the year ended 31 December 2015 from 62.0% for the year 

ended 31 December 2014.

Contribution of mobile games to the Group’s revenue increased to approximately 94.0% for the year ended 31 

December 2015 from approximately 85.3% for the year ended 31 December 2014.

Revenue by operating segment and game type

The following table sets out the breakdown of the Group’s revenue by operating segments and game types for the 

years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, respectively:

Year ended 31 December

2015 2014

US$’000 % US$’000 %

Mobile games 190,479 94.0 174,622 85.3

Browser games 8,652 4.3 24,043 11.8

Client-based games 1,535 0.8 3,501 1.7

Others 1,880 0.9 2,446 1.2
     

Total 202,546 100.0 204,612 100.0
     



ANNUAL REPORT

12

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Revenue by geographical markets

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s revenue by geographical markets based on IP locations of 

the players for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, respectively:

Year ended 31 December

2015 2014

US$’000 % US$’000 %

North America 75,330 37.2 78,021 38.1

Europe 63,464 31.3 56,258 27.5

Asia 51,564 25.5 58,259 28.5

Oceania 6,074 3.0 6,989 3.4

South America 4,525 2.2 4,014 2.0

Africa 1,589 0.8 1,071 0.5
    

Total 202,546 100.0 204,612 100.0
    

Revenue by games

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s revenue by games of the players for the years ended 31 

December 2015 and 2014, respectively:

Year ended 31 December

2015 2014

US$’000 % US$’000 %

Castle Clash 120,997 59.7 126,792 62.0

Clash of Lords series 34,644 17.1 24,506 12.0

Deck Heroes 14,593 7.2 997 0.5

Texas HoldEm Poker Deluxe 7,057 3.5 11,055 5.4

Slots Machines by IGG 3,568 1.8 5,875 2.9

Other 21,687 10.7 35,387 17.2
    

Total 202,546 100 204,612 100
    

Cost of sales

The Group’s cost of sales for the year ended 31 December 2015 was approximately US$62.0 million, representing 

an increase of approximately 5.4%% as compared to that of approximately US$58.8 million for the year ended 31 

December 2014, primarily due to the increase in channel costs and server costs as a result of the expansion of 

mobile game business.
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Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group’s gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2015 was approximately US$140.5 million, representing 

a decrease of approximately 3.6% as compared to that of approximately US$145.8 million for the year ended 31 

December 2014, primarily due to the increase in channel costs and server costs as a result of the expansion of 

mobile game business.

The Group’s gross profit margin for the year ended 31 December 2015 was approximately 69.4%, representing a 

decrease by approximately 1.9% as compared to that of approximately 71.3% for the year ended 31 December 

2014, primarily due to higher channel costs in relation to mobile games compared to browser games and client-

based games.

Selling and distribution expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses for the year ended 31 December 2015 were approximately US$41.7 

million, representing a decrease of approximately 3.2% as compared to that of approximately US$43.1 million for the 

year ended 31 December 2014, primarily due to the reduced advertising and promotional activities for mobile games.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December 2015 were approximately US$21.8 million, 

representing an increase of approximately 30.5% as compared to that of approximately US$16.7 million for the year 

ended 31 December 2014, primarily due to (i) expenses incurred in relation to the Transfer of Listing, (ii) the increase 

in rental fee and staff costs as a result of business expansion and (iii) due diligence expenses incurred in connection 

with potential strategy investment activities.

Research and development costs

The Group’s research and development costs for the year ended 31 December 2015 were approximately US$26.9 

million, representing an increase of approximately 56.4% as compared to that of approximately US$17.2 million 

for the year ended 31 December 2014, primarily due to (i) the increase in research and development outsourcing 

expenses attributable to the enrichment of our game portfolio, and (ii) the increase in salaries, performance-based 

bonus and share-based payments expenses in connection with the game development team.

Other expenses

The Group’s other expenses for the year ended 31 December 2015 were approximately US$6.5 million, representing 

an increase of approximately 400.0% over approximately US$1.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2014, 

primarily due to the recognition of impairment loss with respect to the Group’s investments in several online gaming 

companies given the uncertainty in future cash flow of those companies, as well as the increase of exchange loss in 

2015.
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Income tax expenses

The Group’s income tax expenses for the year ended 31 December 2015 were approximately US$3.7 million, 

representing a decrease of approximately 28.8% as compared to that of approximately US$5.2 million for the year 

ended 31 December 2014, primarily due to the decrease in profit before tax.

Capital expenditure

As a game development and operation company, the Group’s capital expenditures were mainly related to purchases 

of property, plant and equipment such as servers, computer equipments and intangible assets, such as software and 

trademark. Capital expenditures for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 are set forth as below:

Year ended 31 December

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 4,137 2,327

Purchase of intangible assets 312 1,472

Capital commitment

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had a capital commitment of approximately US$0.8 million (31 December 2014: 

US$0.3 million). Please refer to note 32 to the financial statements for details of the Group’s capital commitments.
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Liquidity and capital resources and gearing ratios

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had net current assets of approximately US$174.7 million (31 December 2014: 

US$174.0 million), and the gearing ratio of the Group, calculated as total liabilities divided by total assets, was 13.1% 

(31 December 2014: 13.9%).

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of approximately US$185.5 million (31 

December 2014: US$127.1 million).

The Group did not have any bank borrowings or other financing facilities as at 31 December 2015 (31 December 

2014: nil). The table below sets forth selected cash flow data from our consolidated statement of cash flows:

2015 2014

US$’ 000 US$’ 000

Net cash flows from operating activities 53,562 70,823

Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities 45,604 (53,148)

Net cash flows used in financing activities (39,904) (16,085)
  

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 59,262 1,590

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year as stated

 in the consolidated statement of cash flows 127,088 125,488

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net (847) 10
  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year as stated

 in the consolidated statement of cash flows 185,503 127,088
  

Operating activities

Net cash flows from operating activities decreased from approximately US$70.8 million for the year ended 31 

December 2014 to approximately US$53.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2015. While the Group 

maintained a relatively stable stream of revenue, the decrease was primarily attributable to the increased investments 

in research and development as well as increase in rental fee and staff costs as a result of business expansion.

Investing activities

Net cash flows from investing activities was approximately US$45.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2015, 

compared to net cash flows used in investing activities of approximately US$53.1 million for the year ended 31 

December 2014, which was primarily attributable to the decrease of investments in time deposits with original 

maturity of over three months.
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Financing activities

Net cash flows used in financing activities was approximately US$39.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2015, 

representing an increase of approximately US$23.8 million as compared to that of US$16.1 million for the year ended 

31 December 2014, which was primarily attributable to the payment of the second interim and special dividends for 

the year ended 31 December 2014 and the interim dividend for the year ended 31 December 2015 and the share 

buy-backs made by the Company during the year ended 31 December 2015.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise from sales or purchases by operating units 

in currencies other than the units’ functional currency. 64.4% of the sales are denominated in currencies other than 

the functional currency of the operating units making the sales for the year ended 31 December 2015 (31 December 

2014: 23.4%).

The major foreign currency risk of the Group arises from Singapore Dollar deposit. However, as a control measure, 

the Group has been converting most of its Singapore Dollar deposits into U.S. Dollars deposits on a regular basis to 

reduce its exposure to foreign currency exchange risk.

Capital structure

The capital structure of the Company comprised of ordinary Shares.

Dividend

The Board resolved to declare a second interim dividend of HK2.8 cents per ordinary Share (equivalent to US0.4 

cents per ordinary Share) and a special dividend of HK14.2 cents per ordinary Share (equivalent to US1.8 cents per 

ordinary Share). Together with the first interim dividend of HK4.0 cents per ordinary Share (equivalent to US0.5 cents 

per ordinary Share) paid in September 2015, the total dividends per ordinary Share for the year ended 31 December 

2015 would be HK21.0 cents per ordinary Share (equivalent to US2.7 cents per ordinary Share) (31 December 2014: 

the total dividends of HK22.6 cents per ordinary Share, equivalent to US2.9 cents per ordinary Share).

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday, 13 April 2016 to Friday, 15 April 2016, 

both days inclusive, for the purpose of determining shareholders’ entitlements to the second interim and special 

dividend. The record date for entitlement to the second interim and special dividend is on Friday, 15 April 2016. In 

order to qualify for the second interim and special dividend, all transfers of shares, accompanied by the relevant 

share certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong 

Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712–1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, 

Wanchai, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 12 April 2016. The payment date of the 

second interim and special dividend is expected to be on Friday, 29 April 2016.
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Human Resources

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had 860 employees (31 December 2014: 796). The table below sets forth the 

number of employees in each functional area as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 respectively:

As at 31 December

2015 2014

Function

Number of

Employees % of total

Number of

Employees % of total

Development Team 436 50.7 405 50.9

Operation 241 28.0 236 29.6

IT Support Team 69 8.0 66 8.3

Administration 52 6.0 31 3.9

Management 28 3.3 26 3.3

Finance and Accounting 29 3.4 28 3.5

Legal Department 4 0.5 3 0.4

Internal Audit 1 0.1 1 0.1
    

TOTAL 860 100.0 796 100.0
    

The table below sets forth the number of employees located by geographic locations as at 31 December 2015 and 

2014 respectively:

As at 31 December

2015 2014

Location

Number of

Employees % of total

Number of

Employees % of total

China 617 71.8 613 77.0

US 64 7.4 30 3.8

Singapore 63 7.3 55 6.9

Philippines 73 8.5 70 8.8

Canada 31 3.6 28 3.5

Korea 6 0.7 0 —

Japan 6 0.7 0 —
    

Total 860 100.0 796 100.0
    

Personnel expenses (including salary, bonuses, social insurance and provident funds, excluding share option 

expenses) for the year ended 31 December 2015 were approximately US$27.8 million, representing an increase of 

14.4% over US$24.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2014, primarily due to the increase in salary level and 

the increase in headcount of the Group.
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Share-based payments expenses in connection with the Company’s Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, Share Option 

Scheme and Share Award Scheme for the year ended 31 December 2015 were US$2.7 million, representing 

an increase of 17.4% over US$2.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2014, primarily due to (i) the grant of 

540,000 share options during the year ended 31 December 2015 under the Share Option Scheme, and (ii) the grant 

of 2,944,079 awarded shares during the year ended 31 December 2015 under the Share Award Scheme.

Employees’ and Directors’ Emoluments

Details of Directors’ emoluments and five individuals with highest emoluments are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the 

consolidated financial statements.

Significant investment

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group did not hold any significant investment in equity interest in any 

other company (31 December 2014: nil).

Interest capitalised

No interest was capitalised by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 (31 December 2014: nil).

Material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries and associates and joint ventures

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group did not have any material acquisitions and disposals of 

subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures (31 December 2014: nil).

Charges on assets

As at 31 December 2015, no asset of the Group was pledged as a security for bank borrowing or any other financing 

activities (31 December 2014: nil).

Contingent liabilities

The Group had no significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2015 (31 December 2014: nil).

A certain subsidiary of the Group was subject to legal proceedings and claims arising in the ordinary course of 

business. Subsequently, on 4 April 2016, the subsidiary of the Group received the decision of the relevant court 

ruling in favour of the subsidiary of the Group. The Board is of the opinion that such proceedings and claims have 

been concluded and accordingly no provision for contingent liabilities has been made.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Zongjian Cai (蔡宗建 ), aged 38, was appointed as an executive Director of the Company on 31 October 2007 

and is the chief executive officer of the Company. Mr. Cai is one of the founders of the Group and is primarily 

responsible for the corporate strategic planning and overall business development of the Group. Mr. Cai also acts 

as a director of the Company’s subsidiaries, including Skyunion Hong Kong Holdings Limited (天盟香港控股有限公

司 ), Fuzhou Skyunion Digital Co., Ltd* (福州天盟數碼有限公司 ), Fuzhou TJ Digital Entertainment Co., Ltd* (福州天

極數碼有限公司 ) and Tap Media Technology Inc.. Mr. Cai has approximately 16 years of experience in online game 

industry. He worked at Fujian NetDragon Computer Information Network Technology Co., Ltd.* (福建網龍計算機信

息網絡技術有限公司 ) as a vice president from May 2000 to November 2003 by whom 17173.com was developed. 

Mr. Cai also worked as the chief executive officer of 17173.com, which is acquired by Sohu.com Inc., a company 

listed on NASDAQ (Stock Code: SOHU), from November 2003 to January 2005 and a consultant for both Beijing 

Sohu New Era Information Technology Co., Ltd.* (北京搜狐新時代信息技術有限公司 ) and 17173.com from January 

2005 to June 2005. Mr. Cai graduated from Fuzhou University (福州大學 ) with a college diploma in computer and 

accounting in June 1998. In the three years preceding the date of this annual report, Mr. Cai had not been a director 

of any other listed company.

Mr. Yuan Xu (許元 ), aged 40, was appointed as an executive Director on 21 August 2015 and is the Group’s chief 

operating officer. Mr. Xu has approximately 16 years of experience in project and corporate management. He joined 

the Group in September 2007 and is primarily responsible for business operation and development of the Group 

outside the PRC. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Xu worked as a graduate researcher at University of California, 

Santa Cruz, from September 1999 to July 2004. He also worked at Nanoconduction Inc as a project leader from 

September 2004 to June 2007. Mr. Xu graduated from Beijing University of Technology* (北京工業大學 ) with a 

bachelor’s degree in applied physics in July 1998. He also graduated from University of California, Santa Cruz, with 

a degree of doctor of philosophy in electrical engineering in June 2004. In the three years preceding the date of this 

annual report, Mr. Xu had not been a director of any other listed company.

Mr. Hong Zhang (張竑 ), aged 44, was appointed as an executive Director on 21 August 2015 and is the Group’s 

chief technology officer and senior vice president of global operations. Mr. Zhang has approximately 19 years of 

experience in information technology industry. He joined the Group in December 2008 and is primarily responsible 

for the overall technology operation of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhang worked at Charles Schwab 

as a senior staff technology from August 2000 to November 2005. He was also employed by Corporate Computer 

Services Inc. from November 2005 to November 2008 as a software engineer, assigned to Barclays Global 

Investors as an information technology consultant. Mr. Zhang graduated from Zhejiang University* (浙江大學 ) with 

a bachelor’s degree in engineering in June 1994, a master degree in engineering in June 1997. He also graduated 

from University of California, San Francisco, with a master degree in science in September 2000. In the three years 

preceding the date of this annual report, Mr. Zhang had not been a director of any other listed company.
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Non-executive Director

Mr. Yuan Chi (池元 ), aged 59, was redesignated as a non-executive Director on 21 August 2015 and is the Group’s 

senior vice president. Mr. Chi is one of the founders of the Group and he is primarily responsible for the game 

development of the Group. Mr. Chi also acts as a director of the Company’s subsidiaries, including Skyunion Hong 

Kong Holdings Limited (天盟香港控股有限公司 ), Fuzhou TJ Digital Entertainment Co., Ltd* (福州天極數碼有限公司 ), 

Tap Media Technology Inc. and Tap Media Technology Pte. Ltd. Mr. Chi has approximately 18 years of experience 

in the information technology industry. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chi worked as the general manager of Fujian 

Window Network Information Co., Ltd.* (福建之窗網絡信息有限公司 ) (www.66163.com) from April 1998 to June 

2007. He was the vice president of Fujian Rongji Software Co., Ltd.* (福建榕基軟件股份有限司 ), a company listed 

on Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 002474), from November 2000 to September 2003. Mr. Chi also worked 

at Fujian NetDragon Computer Information Network Technology Co., Ltd.* (福建網龍計算機信息網絡技術有限公司 ) 

from October 2003 to November 2007. Mr. Chi graduated from Fuzhou University with a bachelor’s degree in water 

resources and hydropower engineering in July 1982 and a master degree in hydraulic structure in March 1990. Save 

as disclosed above, in the three years preceding the date of this annual report, Mr. Chi had not been a director of 

any other listed company.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Horn Kee Leong (梁漢基 ), aged 63, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 16 September 

2013. Dr. Leong is currently the chairman of CapitalCorp Partners Private. He has been Singapore’s Non-resident 

High Commissioner to Cyprus since July 2014. Since 1983, until prior to joining CapitalCorp Partners Private 

Limited, Dr. Leong held various management positions including as an executive director and consultant of Far East 

Organization Centre Pte. Ltd., the chief executive officer of Yeo Hiap Seng Ltd, the managing director of Orchard 

Parade Holdings Limited, a corporate finance director of Rothschild (Singapore) Limited. From 1977 to 1983, Dr. 

Leong held various positions at the Ministry of Finance and at the Ministry of Trade & Industry of Singapore. He was 

a member of Parliament of Singapore from 1984 to 2006. He was Singapore’s non-resident ambassador to Mexico 

from September 2006 to February 2013. In addition to the above, Dr. Leong held directorships in the following listed 

companies in the past three years preceding the date of this annual report:
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Period Name of company Position

14 August 2015-present Tat Hong Holdings Ltd, listed on 

 Singapore Stock Exchange

Chairman of the board

October 2013-present VIVA Industrial Trust Management 

 Pte Ltd, which is the management 

 company of Viva Industrial Trust 

 listed on Singapore Stock Exchange

Chairman of the board

June 2013-present SPH Reit Management Pte Ltd,

 which is the management 

 company of SPH 

 Reit listed on Singapore 

 Stock Exchange

Chairman of the board

4 November 2010-22 May 2015 Amtek Engineering Ltd, listed on 

 Singapore Stock Exchange

Independent non-executive director

19 January 2001-13 August 2015 Tat Hong Holdings Ltd, listed on 

 Singapore Stock Exchange

Independent non-executive director

30 June 2000-31 December 2015 Wilmar International Limited, listed on 

 Singapore Stock Exchange

Independent non-executive director

9 September 2008-20 November 2014 China Energy Limited, listed on 

 Singapore Stock Exchange

Independent non-executive director

15 December 2000-28 April 2014 ECS Holdings Limited, listed on 

 Singapore Stock Exchange

Independent non executive director 

(Lead independent director from 1 

January 2013 to 28 April 2014)

17 August 2009-30 September 2013 Linair Technologies Limited, listed on 

 Singapore Stock Exchange

Independent non-executive director
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Dr. Leong graduated from Loughborough University with a bachelor degree of technology in production engineering 

and management in July 1975. He completed distance learning and obtained a bachelor degree of science in 

economics from University of London in August 1979 and he also finished part time study and obtained a bachelor 

degree of arts in Chinese Language and Literature from Beijing Normal University* (北京師範大學 ) in March 2009. 

Dr. Leong graduated from the European Institute of Business Administration (INSEAD) with a master degree of 

business administration in 1980 and he also finished part time study and obtained a master degree of business 

research from the University of Western Australia in September 2009. He also graduated from the University of 

Western Australia with the degree of doctor of business administration in September 2013. Save as disclosed above, 

in the three years preceding the date of this annual report, Dr. Leong had not been a director of any other listed 

company.

Mr. Dajian Yu (余大堅 ), aged 67, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 16 September 2013. 

Mr.Yu has over 15 years of experience in venture capital investment and in senior management in semiconductor, 

electronic, IT and pharmaceutical industries. Since 2010, he has been the vice president of Silicon Valley China 

Venture Management LLC and the director of several portfolio companies, Cadeka Technology Holding Ltd., Efficient 

Drivetrains Inc, Consensic International Inc., Tricopian, LLC., Akros Silicon Inc. and Chelsio Communications. He has 

also been the partner of BayHill Partners since 1999. Mr. Yu held senior management positions at several companies, 

including director of operations at General Parametrics Corporation from 1985 to 1996, vice president at Topology 

Corporation from 1996 to 1999, and vice president of Fuzhou Tianmeng from 2009 to 2010. Mr. Yu graduated from 

South China University of Technology (華南理工大學 ) (formerly known as South China Technology College* (華南工學

院 )) with a bachelor’s degree in electrical engineering in July 1982. In the three years preceding the date of this annual 

report, Mr. Yu had not been a director of any other listed company.

Ms. Zhao Lu (陸釗 ), aged 48, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 16 September 2013. Ms. 

Lu is currently the president of Fujian New Media Animation Game Associate* (福建省動漫遊戲協會新媒體產業聯盟 ). 

She was the general manager of Fuzhou Lingdong Network Science and Technology Co., Ltd.* (福州靈動網絡科技有

限公司 ) from February 2009 to December 2012 and the general manager of Tian Liang Customer Service* (天亮客服 ) 

of Fujian NetDragon Computer Information Network Technology Co., Ltd.* (福建網龍計算機網絡信息技術有限公司 ) 

from December 2003 to February 2009. Ms. Lu graduated from Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications* (北

京郵電大學 ) (formerly known as Beijing Institute of Posts and Telecommunications* (北京郵電學院 )) with a bachelor 

degree in compunication in July 1989. In the three years preceding the date of this annual report, Ms. Lu had not been 

a director of any other listed company.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Zhixiang Chen (陳智祥 ), aged 38, is the Group’s senior vice president and a director of IGG Singapore. Mr. 

Chen has approximately 12 years of experience in online game industry. He is primarily responsible for the business 

operation and development of the Group in the PRC. Mr. Chen joined the Group in December 2005 and participated 

in founding the Group and the IGG.com platform from December 2005 to June 2006. He was the Group’s chief 

operation officer from December 2007 to June 2009. He was the president of IGG Singapore from August 2009 to 

August 2012, responsible for expanding the Group’s overseas (South East Asia) business. Prior to joining the Group, 

Mr. Chen worked at Beijing Sohu New Era Information Technology Co., Ltd. Fuzhou branch from June 2004 to 

September 2004 and from January 2005 to November 2005. Mr. Chen graduated from Fujian Normal University* (福

建師範大學 ) with a bachelor’s degree in mathematics education in July 1999. He also obtained a second bachelor ’s 

degree in software engineering from Xiamen University* (廈門大學 ) in July 2004.

Ms. Jessie Shen (沈潔蕾 ), aged 45, is the Group’s chief financial officer and one of the joint company secretaries. 

Ms. Shen has approximately 19 years of experience in accounting and corporate finance. She was appointed as the 

chief financial officer of the Group on 10 November 2014. She joined the Group in March 2009 as the senior vice 

president of finance and has been primarily responsible for corporate finance, accounting and tax management of 

the Group. Prior to joining the Group, she worked as an auditor at Diwan, Ernst & Young from July 1992 to August 

1994, and a finance associate manager of Aurora Corporation, a company listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange 

(Stock Code: 2373), from March 1995 to March 1998 and from August 2001 to January 2002. Ms. Shen also held 

finance and company secretary positions at Rock Mobile Group from January 2003 to March 2007. She worked at 

Neo Solar Power Corp., a company listed on Taiwan Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 3576), as a finance manager 

from December 2007 to March 2009. Ms. Shen graduated from Tunghai University with a bachelor’s degree in 

accounting in June 1992. She also graduated from Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey with a master 

degree in business administration in October 1999. Ms. Shen passed the exam of a certified public accountant in 

both Washington State and Taiwan, and was a member of the Institute of Internal Auditors and a member of Taiwan 

Institute of Internal Auditors* (中華民國內部稽核協會 ).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to the establishment of good corporate governance practices and procedures with a view 

to being a transparent and responsible organization which is open and accountable to the Shareholders. The Board 

strives for adhering to the principles of corporate governance and has adopted sound corporate governance practices 

to meet the legal and commercial standards, focusing on areas such as internal control and risk management, fair 

disclosure and accountability to all Shareholders to ensure the transparency and accountability of all operations of 

the Company.

The Company believes that effective corporate governance is an essential factor to create more value for its 

Shareholders. The Board will continue to review and improve the corporate governance practices of the Group from 

time to time to ensure that the Group is led by an effective Board in order to optimize return for Shareholders.

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance in the interests of Shareholders. 

During the year ended 31 December 2015, except for the deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the Corporate 

Governance Code, the Company has complied with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code.

Under provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code, the roles of the chairman and chief executive officer 

should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual. The Group does not at present separate 

the roles of the chairman and chief executive officer. Mr. Zongjian Cai is the chairman and chief executive officer of 

the Group. He has extensive experience in online game industry and is responsible for the overall corporate strategic 

planning and overall business development of the Group. The Board considers that vesting the roles of chairman and 

chief executive officer in the same individual is beneficial to the business prospects and management of the Group. 

The balance of power and authorities is ensured by the operation of the Board and the senior management, which 

comprise experienced and high caliber individuals. The Board currently comprises three executive Directors, one 

non-executive Director and three independent non-executive Directors and has a strong independence element in its 

composition.

TRANSFER OF LISTING

The Company applied for the Transfer of Listing from GEM to Main Board on 16 March 2015. The approval-in-

principle with respect to the Transfer of Listing was granted by the Stock Exchange on 25 June 2015. Dealings in the 

Shares on the Main Board commenced on 7 July 2015.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The overall management of the Company’s operation is vested in the Board. The Board takes overall responsibility to 

oversee all major matters of the Group, including the formulation and approval of all policy matters, overall strategic 

development of the Group, monitoring and controlling the Group’s operation and financial performance, internal 

control and risk management systems, and monitoring of the performance of the senior management of the Group. 

The Directors have to make decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the Company are delegated to the chief executive 

officer and the senior management of the Company. The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically 

reviewed.

The Board currently comprises seven Directors, consisting of three executive Directors, Mr. Zongjian Cai (the 

chairman of the Board), Mr. Yuan Xu and Mr. Hong Zhang, one non-executive Director, Mr. Yuan Chi, and three 

independent non-executive Directors, Dr. Horn Kee Leong, Mr. Dajian Yu and Ms. Zhao Lu. All Directors have given 

sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Group. Each executive Director is suitably qualified for his position, 

and has sufficient experience to hold the position so as to carry out his duties effectively and efficiently.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there is no other financial, business or family relationship among the 

members of the Board. The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed "Biographical 

Details of Directors and Senior Management" of this annual report.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company has complied with Rule 5.05(1) of the GEM Listing Rules 

and Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules to appoint at least three independent non-executive Directors. In addition, 

at least one independent non-executive Director possesses appropriate professional accounting qualifications or 

financial management expertise in accordance with Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules and Rule 3.10(2) of the 

Listing Rules. The Company has appointed three independent non-executive Directors representing more than 

one-third of the Board and is in compliance with Rule 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules and Rule 3.10A of the Listing 

Rules.

Mr. Kee Lock Chua, a non-executive Director and a member of the audit committee of the Company during the year 

ended 31 December 2015, resigned as a member of the Board on 4 August 2015. On 21 August 2015, Mr. Yuan Xu 

and Mr. Hong Zhang were appointed as executive Directors of the Company. On the same date, Mr. Yuan Chi, an 

executive Director during the year ended 31 December 2015, was re-designated as a non-executive Director. Mr. 

Xiaojun Li, a non-executive Director and a member of the audit committee of the Company during the year ended 31 

December 2015, resigned as a member of the Board on 31 December 2015.
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Board Diversity Policy

Pursuant to the Corporate Governance Code, the Board adopted a board diversity policy on 19 September 2013. 

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity of Board members. While all Board appointments 

will continue to be made on a merit basis based on its business needs from time to time while taking into account 

diversity, the Company will ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives 

necessary to enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain high standards of corporate governance. 

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives with reference to the Company’s business 

model and specific needs, including but not limited to gender, race, language, cultural background, educational 

background, industry experience and professional experience. The nomination committee of the Company will also 

give consideration to the board diversity policy when identifying suitably qualified candidates to become members of 

the Board, and the Board will review the board diversity policy on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness.

Model Code

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company has also adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct 

regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry with all Directors, all Directors 

confirmed that they have complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code regarding directors’ 

securities transactions during the year ended 31 December 2015.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Independent non-executive Directors have played a significant role in the Board by bringing their independent 

judgment at the Board meeting and scrutinizing the Group’s performance. Their views carry significant weight in the 

Board’s decision, in particular, they bring an impartial view to bear on issues of the Group’s strategy, performance 

and control. All independent non-executive Directors possess extensive academic, professional and industry 

expertise and management experience and have provided their professional advices to the Board. The independent 

non-executive Directors provide independent advice on the Group’s business strategy, results and management so 

that all interests of Shareholders can be taken into account, and the interests of the Company and its Shareholders 

can be protected.

The Board has three independent non-executive Directors with one of them, Dr. Horn Kee Leong, possessing 

appropriate professional accounting qualifications and financial management expertise in compliance with the 

requirements set out in Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules and Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from each of the existing independent non- 

executive Directors in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on the contents of such confirmations, 

the Company considers that all the independent non-executive Directors are independent and that they have met the 

specific independence guidelines as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.



ANNUAL REPORT

27

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Training and Support for Directors

All Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities. Any newly appointed Director would receive an 

induction package covering the Group’s operations, businesses, governance policies and the statutory regulatory 

obligations and responsibilities of a director of a listed company. The Directors have been informed of the 

requirement under code provision A.6.5 of the Corporate Governance Code regarding continuous professional 

development. According to the records maintained by the Company, the current Directors received the following 

training with an emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of a director of a listed company in compliance with the 

requirement of the Corporate Governance Code on continuous professional development for the year ended 31 

December 2015:

Corporate Governance/

Updates on Laws,

Rules and Regulations

Accounting/Financial/

Management or

Other Professional Skills

Name of Director

Read

Materials

Attend

Seminars/

Briefings

Read

Materials

Attend

Seminars/

Briefings

Executive Directors

Mr. Zongjian Cai √ √ √ √

Mr. Yuan Xu √ √ √ √

Mr. Hong Zhang √ √ √ √

Non-executive Director

Mr. Yuan Chi √ √ √ √

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Horn Kee Leong √ √ √ √

Mr. Dajian Yu √ √ √ √

Ms. Zhao Lu √ √ √ √

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of potential legal actions against its Directors 

and officers.
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Meetings

The Board meets to discuss the overall strategy as well as the operation and financial performance of the Group 

from time to time. Directors may participate either in person or through electronic means of communications. During 

the year ended 31 December 2015, the Board has held 10 meetings of the Board and 1 general meeting.

The individual attendance record of each Director at the meetings of the Board and the general meeting of the 

Company during the year ended 31 December 2015 is set out below:

Name of Director

Attendance/

Number

of Board

Meeting(s)

eligible to 

attend

Attendance/

Number

of General

Meeting

eligible to 

attend

Executive Directors

Mr. Zongjian Cai (Chairman and chief executive officer) 10/10 1/1

Mr. Yuan Xu (appointed on 21 August 2015) 4/4 —/—

Mr. Hong Zhang (appointed on 21 August 2015) 4/4 —/—

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yuan Chi (redesignated as a non-executive Director on 21 August 2015) 10/10 1/1

Mr. Xiaojun Li (resigned on 31 December 2015) 10/10 1/1

Mr. Kee Lock Chua (resigned on 4 August 2015) 5/5 1/1

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Horn Kee Leong 10/10 1/1

Mr. Dajian Yu 10/10 1/1

Ms. Zhao Lu 10/10 1/1

All Directors are provided with relevant materials relating to the matters brought before the meetings. They have 

separate and independent access to the senior management and the company secretary of the Company at all times 

and may seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense. Where queries are raised by Directors, 

steps would be taken to respond as promptly and comprehensively as possible. All Directors have the opportunity to 

include matters in the agenda for Board meetings. Notices are given to the Directors at least 14 days before Board 

meetings and the procedures for meetings of the Board comply with the Articles of Association, as well as relevant 

rules and regulations.
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Appointments, Re-election and Removal of Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company for a specific term of three 

years commencing from the date of the respective service contracts and will automatically continue thereafter until 

terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other, which notice shall not 

expire until after the fixed term.

Each of the non-executive Director and independent non-executive Directors has entered into a service contract with 

the Company for a specific term of three years commencing from the date of the respective service contracts and 

will automatically continue for another three years thereafter until terminated by not less than two months’ notice in 

writing served by either party on the other, which notice shall not expire until after the fixed term.

The Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at an annual general meeting of the Company at 

least once every three years in accordance with the Articles of Association.

The Articles of Association provide that any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy in the Board 

shall hold office until the first general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment and be subject to re-election 

at such meeting, and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only 

until the next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election. No Director 

proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract which is not determinable 

by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, other than normal 

statutory obligations.

Board Committees

The Board has established (i) audit committee; (ii) remuneration committee; and (iii) nomination committee, with 

defined terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Board committees which explain their respective role and 

the authority delegated to them by the Board are available on the website of the Company at www.igg.com and the 

website of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk. The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources 

to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional advice and other 

assistance in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.
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Audit Committee

The Board has established an audit committee on 5 December 2008 and adjusted composition of the audit 

committee on 4 August 2015 and 31 December 2015, respectively, during the year ended 31 December 2015. The 

audit committee has adopted an amended terms of reference on 6 November 2015 with reference to the changes 

relating to risk management in compliance with the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the audit committee are, 

among other things, to review and to supervise the financial reporting process and risk management and internal 

control systems of the Group. The audit committee comprises all independent non-executive Directors, namely, Dr. 

Horn Kee Leong (chairman of the audit committee), Mr. Dajian Yu, and Ms. Zhao Lu.

The audit committee had reviewed the Group’s audited annual results for the year ended 31 December 2014, the 

Group's unaudited quarterly results for the three months ended 31 March 2015 and the Group's unaudited interim 

results for the six months ended 30 June 2015 and was of the opinion that the preparation of the relevant financial 

statements complied with the applicable accounting standards and requirements and that adequate disclosure has 

been made. The audit committee has also reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, 

and selection and appointment of the external auditors. In addition, the audit committee reviewed the internal control 

systems of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2015. During the year, the audit committee also held a 

meeting with the external auditors without the presence of any members of management of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, four meetings were held by the audit committee. The individual 

attendance record of each member of the audit committee at the meetings of the audit committee is set out below:

Name of Director

Attendance/

Number of

Committee

Meeting(s)

eligible to attend

Dr. Horn Kee Leong 4/4

Mr. Dajian Yu 4/4

Ms. Zhao Lu 4/4

Mr. Xiaojun Li (resigned on 31 December 2015) 4/4

Mr. Kee Lock Chua (resigned on 4 August 2015) 2/2

Remuneration Committee

The Board established a remuneration committee on 5 December 2008 and adjusted composition of the 

remuneration committee on 16 September 2013 with written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. 

The primary duties of the remuneration committee are, among other things, to evaluate the performance, and to 

make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration package of the Directors and senior management. The 

remuneration committee consists of three members, namely, the independent non-executive Director, Ms. Zhao 

Lu (chairman of the remuneration committee), the executive Director, Mr. Zongjian Cai and the independent non-

executive Director, Mr. Dajian Yu.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015, the remuneration committee surveyed peer companies’ remuneration 

packages and reviewed the remuneration packages of the executive Directors and the senior management. The 

remuneration committee also reviewed granting of share options under the Share Option Scheme and Tapcash 

Subsidiary Share Option Scheme and granting of awarded shares under the Share Award Scheme and benefit plans 

to key employees.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, four meetings were held by the remuneration committee. The individual 

attendance record of each member of the remuneration committee at the meetings of the remuneration committee is 

set out below:

Name of Director

Attendance/

Number of

Committee

Meeting(s)

eligible to attend

Ms. Zhao Lu 4/4

Mr. Zongjian Cai 4/4

Mr. Dajian Yu 4/4

Nomination Committee

The Board established a nomination committee on 16 September 2013 with written terms of reference in compliance 

with the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the nomination committee are, among other things, to nominate potential 

candidates for directorship, to review the nomination of directors, to make recommendations to the Board on terms of 

such appointment and review the board diversity policy. Their written terms of reference are in line with the Corporate 

Governance Code provisions. The nomination committee consists of four members, namely, the independent non-

executive Director, Dr. Horn Kee Leong (chairman of the nomination committee), the independent non-executive 

Director, Mr. Dajian Yu, the executive Director, Mr. Zongjian Cai and the independent non-executive Director, Ms. 

Zhao Lu.

The nomination committee reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board during the year of 2015.

The nomination committee reviewed the nomination of candidates for directorship and made recommendations to 

the Board on terms of such appointment.
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During the year ended 31 December 2015, two meetings were held by the nomination committee. The individual 

attendance record of each member of the nomination committee at the meetings of the nomination committee is set 

out below:

Name of Director

Attendance/

Number of

Committee

Meeting(s)

eligible to attend

Dr. Horn Kee Leong 2/2

Mr. Dajian Yu 2/2

Ms. Zhao Lu 2/2

Mr. Zongjian Cai 2/2

Corporate Governance Function

The Company’s corporate governance function is carried out by the Board pursuant to a set of written terms of 

reference adopted by the Board in compliance with the Listing Rules, which include (a) to develop and review the 

Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board; (b) to review 

and monitor the training and continuous professional development of the Directors and senior management of the 

Group; (c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory 

requirements; (d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable 

to employees of the Group and the Directors; and (e) to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate 

Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules and disclosure in the corporate governance report. 

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Board reviewed and determined the policy for the corporate 

governance of the Company.

Joint Company Secretaries

The joint company secretaries of the Company are Ms. Jessie Shen and Ms. Yin Ping Yvonne Kwong. Ms. Yin 

Ping Yvonne Kwong, vice president of SW Corporate Services Group Limited, an external service provider, has 

been engaged by the Company as its company secretary to act jointly with Ms. Jessie Shen (appointed on 9 July 

2013). The primary contact person at the Company is Ms. Jessie Shen. Please refer to the paragraph headed 

“Procedures by which enquiries may be put to the Board” in this section for contact details. The biographical details 

of Ms. Jessie Shen are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” in 

this annual report. Both Ms. Jessie Shen and Ms. Yin Ping Yvonne Kwong have informed the Company that their 

trainings  taken during the year ended 31 December 2015 covering corporate governance and accounting matters 

satisfy the requirements under Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules and Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. The Company 

considers that the training of each of joint company secretaries taken during the year ended 31 December 2015 is in 

compliance with the requirements under Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules and Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board, supported by the chief financial officer and the finance department, is responsible for the preparation of 

the financial statements of the Company and the Group for each financial year which shall give a true and fair view of 

the financial position, performance and cash flow of the Company and its subsidiaries for that period.

The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 

upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of Ernst & Young, the Company’s external auditor, on the financial statements are set out in the 

section headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” in this annual report.

Auditors’ Remuneration

The audit committee of the Board is responsible for making recommendation to the Board on the appointment, 

re-appointment and removal of the authorized external auditors and to approve the remuneration and terms of 

engagement of the external auditors, and any questions of resignation or dismissal of the external auditors. The 

Company engages Ernst & Young as its external auditor. Details of the fees paid/payable to Ernst & Young during 

the year ended 31 December 2015 are as follows.

USD’000

Audit services 500

Non-audit services 738
 

1,238
 

Note: The non-audit services mainly covered tax compliance and consulting services including Transfer of Listing and due diligence 

services for potential strategic investments.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risk the Company is willing to 

take to achieve the Group’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Group establishes and maintains appropriate 

and effective risk management and internal control systems. The Board has developed its internal control and risk 

management systems and is also responsible for overseeing the management in the design, implementation and 

monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems, and reviewing and maintaining appropriate and 

effective risk management and internal control systems.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Board has conducted reviews of the internal control systems of the 

Group and considered the internal control systems of the Group have been implemented effectively. Such reviews 

covered financial, compliance and operational controls. The Board has also discussed the business risk, financial 

risk, compliance risk and operation and other risks.
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In addition, the Board has reviewed and considered that the resources, staff qualifications and experience, training 

programs and budget of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions are adequate 

and effective and have complied with the provisions of the Corporate Governance Code during the year ended 31 

December 2015.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting and put forward proposals at 
Shareholders’ meeting

Pursuant to the Article 58 of the Articles of Association, any one or more member(s) of the Company holding at the 

date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of 

voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the 

company secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the 

transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months after the 

deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the 

requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the 

requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Procedures by which enquiries may be put to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by addressing them to Ms. Jessie Shen, one of 

the joint company secretaries of the Company via following:

Address: 19/F, Cheung Kong Center, 2 Queen’s Road Central, HK

Telephone no.: (852) 3469 5132

Fax no.: (852) 3469 5000

Email: jessie@igg.com

Attention: Jessie Shen

The company secretary of the Company is responsible for forwarding communications relating to matters within 

the Board’s direct responsibilities to the Board and communications relating to ordinary business matters, such as 

suggestions and inquiries, to the chief executive officer of the Company.

Constitutional Documents

There has been no change in the Company’s constitutional documents for the year ended 31 December 2015.

Communications with Shareholders

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining clear, timely and effective communication with Shareholders 

of the Company and investors. Therefore, the Group is committed to maintaining a high degree of transparency to 

ensure the investors and the Shareholders of the Company receiving accurate, clear, comprehensive and timely 

information of the Group by the publication of annual reports, announcements and circulars. The Company also 

publishes all corporate correspondence on the Company’s website www.igg.com. The Board maintains regular 

dialogues with institutional investors and analysts from time to time to keep them informed of the Group’s strategies, 

operations, management and plans. Members of the Board and of the various Board committees will attend the 

annual general meeting of the Company and answer questions raised during the meeting. Separate resolutions 

would be proposed at the general meeting on each substantially separate issue. The chairman of the general 

meetings of the Company would explain the procedures for conducting poll before putting a resolution to vote. The 

results of the voting by poll will be declared at the meeting and published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and 

the Company respectively.
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of 

the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is a renowned global online games (especially mobile games) developer and operator with headquarters 

in Singapore and regional offices in the United States, Mainland China, Hong Kong, Canada, Japan, Korea, 

Thailand, and the Philippines. There has been no significant change in the Group’s principal activities during the year 

of 2015.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 December 2015 are set out in note 1 to the consolidated 

financial statements.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 and the state of 

the Company’s and the Group’s affairs as at that date are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 

179 to 180 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 are set out in the audited consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income.

On 9 March 2015, the Board resolved to declare a second interim dividend of HK5.7 cents per ordinary Share 

(equivalent to US0.7 cents per ordinary Share), amounting to approximately US$10.0 million and a special dividend 

of HK11.3 cents per ordinary Share (equivalent to US1.5 cents per ordinary Share), amounting to approximately 

US$20.0 million. Such dividend has been paid on 15 April 2015.

On 27 August 2015, the Board resolved to declare a first interim dividend of HK4.0 cents per ordinary Share 

(equivalent to US0.5 cents per ordinary Share), amounting to approximately US$7.2 million. Such dividend has been 

paid on 30 September 2015.

On 25 March 2016, the Board resolved to declare a second interim dividend of HK2.8 cents per ordinary Share 

(equivalent to US0.4 cents per ordinary Share), amounting to approximately US$4.9 million and a special dividend 

of HK14.2 cents per ordinary Share (equivalent to US1.8 cents per ordinary Share), amounting to approximately 

US$25.1 million. Such dividend will be paid on or about 29 April 2016.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The annual general meeting is scheduled on 3 June 2016. For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the 

annual general meeting, the register of members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday, 1 June 2016 to 

Friday, 3 June 2016 both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to qualify 

for attending and voting at the annual general meeting, all transfers of shares, accompanied by the relevant share 

certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong 

Investor Services Limited, Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong 

Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 31 May 2016.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group and the Company for the year ended 31 December 2015 are set out 

in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and note 28 to the financial statement, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2015, the Company’s reserves available for distribution, calculated in accordance with the 

Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, amounted to 

approximately US$62 million. The amount of approximately US$62 million represents the Company’s share premium 

account of approximately US$139 million and accumulated deficits of approximately US$77 million in aggregate as 

at 31 December 2015, which may be distributed provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend 

is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the 

ordinary course of business.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Company did not make any charitable and other donations during the year under review.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 are set out in note 

14 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the financial year are set out in note 26 to the 

consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and as of the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zongjian Cai (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Yuan Xu (appointed on 21 August 2015)

Mr. Hong Zhang (appointed on 21 August 2015)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yuan Chi (redesignated as a non-executive Director on 21 August 2015)

Mr. Xiaojun Li (resigned on 31 December 2015)

Mr. Kee Lock Chua (resigned on 4 August 2015)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Horn Kee Leong

Mr. Dajian Yu

Ms. Zhao Lu

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from each of the existing independent non-

executive Directors in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the 

independent non-executive Directors are independent in accordance with the Listing Rules.

In accordance with article 84 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Yuan Chi and Mr. Dajian Yu will retire from the 

Board by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election. 

In accordance with article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, Mr. Yuan Xu and Mr. Hong Zhang will retire from 

the Board at the forthcoming annual general meeting and be subject to re-election. No Director proposed for re-

election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable 

by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory 

compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set out on pages 19 to 23 of this annual report.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTEREST AS PER REGISTERS KEPT PURSUANT TO THE SFO

(a) Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short positions in Shares, underlying Shares and 
debentures

As at 31 December 2015, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executive of the Company 

in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the 

meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which are required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 

pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they are 

taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which are required pursuant to Section 352 of 

the SFO to be entered in the register referred to therein, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock 

Exchange pursuant to the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long positions

Name

Capacity/Nature

of interest

Number of

Shares

Approximate

percentage of

shareholding

Number of

underlying

Shares

Approximate

percentage of

shareholding

Mr. Zongjian Cai Interest in a controlled

 corporation, spouse

 interest, interests held

 jointly with another person

420,466,657

(Notes 1, 3)

30.10% 15,236,000

(Notes 3, 4)

1.09%

Mr. Yuan Chi Interest in a controlled

 corporation, interests

 held jointly with

 another person

420,466,657

(Notes 2, 3)

30.10% 15,236,000

(Notes 3, 4)

1.09%

Mr. Yuan Xu 

 (appointed as an 

 executive Director 

 on 21 August 2015)

Beneficial owner, interests 

 held jointly with 

 another person

420,466,657

(Notes 3, 5)

30.10% 15,236,000

(Notes 3, 4)

1.09%

Mr. Hong Zhang 

 (appointed as an 

 executive Director 

 on 21 August 2015)

Beneficial owner, interests 

 held jointly with 

 another person

420,466,657

(Notes 3, 6)

30.10% 15,236,000

(Notes 3, 4)

1.09%

Mr. Xiaojun Li

 (resigned on 

 31 December 2015)

Beneficial owner — — 350,000

(Note 7 )

0.03%
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Name

Capacity/Nature

of interest

Number of

Shares

Approximate

percentage of

shareholding

Number of

underlying

Shares

Approximate

percentage of

shareholding

Mr. Kee Lock Chua

 (resigned on 

 4 August 2015)

Beneficial owner — — 350,000

(Note 8)

0.03%

Dr. Horn Kee Leong Beneficial owner — — 250,000

(Note 9)

0.02%

Ms. Zhao Lu Beneficial owner — — 250,000

(Note 10)

0.02%

Mr. Dajian Yu Beneficial owner 400,000 0.03% 250,000

(Note 11)

0.02%

Notes:

(1) Mr. Zongjian Cai is interested in all the issued share capital of Duke Online and he is the sole director of Duke Online. 

Therefore, he is deemed to be interested in 178,699,027 Shares held by Duke Online under the SFO. Mr. Zongjian Cai 

is also deemed to be interested in all Shares held by Ms. Kai Chen under the SFO.

(2) Mr. Yuan Chi is interested in 80% of the issued share capital of Edmond Online and he is the sole director of Edmond 

Online. Therefore, he is deemed to be interested in 158,080,000 Shares held by Edmond Online under the SFO.

(3) On 16 September 2013, Mr. Zongjian Cai, Mr. Yuan Chi, Duke Online, Edmond Online, Mr. Yuan Xu, Ms. Kai Chen, 

Mr. Hong Zhang and Mr. Zhixiang Chen entered into an act in concert agreement, pursuant to which each of them 

agreed that they would act in concert with each other with respect to material matters relating to the Company’s 

operation. Mr. Zongjian Cai, Mr. Yuan Chi, Duke Online, Edmond Online, Mr. Yuan Xu, Ms. Kai Chen, Mr. Hong Zhang 

and Mr. Zhixiang Chen expect that the material matters will cover, among other things, the matters which shall be 

approved at the annual general meeting, declaration of dividends, business plan, notifiable transactions and connected 

transactions subject to Shareholders’ approval, if any.

(4) Mr. Zongjian Cai is deemed to be interested in the 332,000 Shares which may be issued to him upon the exercise of 

the share options granted to him on 23 March 2015 under the Share Option Scheme. Mr. Yuan Chi is deemed to be 

interested in the 486,000 Shares which may be issued to him upon the exercise of the share options granted to him 

on 23 March 2015 under the Share Option Scheme. Mr. Yuan Xu is deemed to be interested in (i) the 613,000 Shares 

which may be issued to him upon the exercise of the share options granted to him on 23 March 2015 under the Share 

Option Scheme; and (ii) the 4,000,000 Shares which may be issued to him upon the exercise of the share options 

granted to him under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme. Mr. Hong Zhang is deemed to be interested in (i) the 605,000 

Shares which may be issued to him upon the exercise of the share options granted to him on 23 March 2015 under 

the Share Option Scheme; and (ii) the 9,200,000 Shares which may be issued to him upon the exercise of the share 

options granted to him under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.

(5) Mr. Yuan Xu is the beneficial owner of 29,937,638 Shares. He was appointed as an executive Director on 21 August 

2015.
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(6) Mr. Hong Zhang is the beneficial owner of 11,702,040 Shares. He was appointed as an executive Director on 21 

August 2015.

(7) Mr. Xiaojun Li is deemed to be interested in 350,000 Shares which may be issued to him upon exercise of the share 

options granted to him on 23 March 2015 under the Share Option Scheme. Mr. Xiaojun Li resigned as a non-executive 

Director of the Company on 31 December 2015. On 31 December 2015, the Board resolved that Mr. Xiaojun Li 

shall continue to be entitled to exercise the share options granted to him under the Share Option Scheme after his 

resignation as a non-executive Director of the Company.

(8) Mr. Kee Lock Chua is deemed to be interested in 350,000 Shares which may be issued to him upon exercise of the 

share options granted to him on 23 March 2015 under the Share Option Scheme. Mr. Kee Lock Chua resigned as a 

non-executive Director of the Company on 4 August 2015. On 27 August 2015, the Board resolved that Mr. Kee Lock 

Chua shall continue to be entitled to exercise the share options granted to him under the Share Option Scheme after 

his resignation as a non-executive Director of the Company.

(9) Dr. Horn Kee Leong is deemed to be interested in 250,000 Shares which may be issued to him upon exercise of the 

share options granted to him on 23 March 2015 under the Share Option Scheme.

(10) Ms. Zhao Lu is deemed to be interested in 250,000 Shares which may be issued to her upon exercise of the share 

options granted to him on 23 March 2015 under the Share Option Scheme.

(11) Mr. Dajian Yu is deemed to be interested in 250,000 Shares which may be issued to him upon exercise of the share 

options granted to him on 23 March 2015 under the Share Option Scheme.

Save as disclosed above, as of 31 December 2015, none of the Directors and chief executive of the Company 

was, under Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, taken to be interested or deemed to have any other 

interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company and its associated 

corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that were required to be entered into the register kept 

by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or were required to be notified to the Company and the 

Stock Exchange pursuant to Listing Rules.
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(b) Substantial shareholders’ and other persons’ interests and short positions in Shares and underlying 
Shares

So far as were known to the Directors or chief executive of the Company, as at 31 December 2015, the 

following persons had interests and/or short positions of 5% or more of the Shares and underlying Shares of 

the Company as recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 

336 of the SFO:

Name

Capacity/Nature

of interest

Number of

Shares

Approximate

percentage of

shareholding

Number of

underlying

Shares

Approximate

percentage of

shareholding

Duke Online Beneficial owner,

 interests held jointly

 with another person

420,466,657

(Notes 1, 7)

30.10% 15,236,000

(Notes 3, 4, 7,

8, 9)

1.09%

Mr. Zongjian Cai Interest in a controlled

 corporation, spouse

 interest, interests held

 jointly with another person

420,466,657

(Notes 1, 7)

30.10% 15,236,000

(Notes 3, 4, 7,

8, 9)

1.09%

Edmond Online Beneficial owner,

 interests held jointly

 with another person

420,466,657

(Notes 2, 7)

30.10% 15,236,000

(Notes 3, 4, 7,

8, 9)

1.09%

Mr. Yuan Chi Interest in a controlled

 corporation, interests

 held jointly with

 another person

420,466,657

(Notes 2, 7)

30.10% 15,236,000

(Notes 3, 4, 7,

8, 9)

1.09%

Mr. Yuan Xu Beneficial owner, interests

 held jointly with

 another person

420,466,657

(Notes 3, 7)

30.10% 15,236,000

(Notes 3, 4, 7,

8, 9)

1.09%

Mr. Hong Zhang Beneficial owner, interests

 held jointly with

 another person

420,466,657

(Notes 4, 7)

30.10% 15,236,000

(Notes 3, 4, 7,

8, 9)

1.09%
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Name

Capacity/Nature

of interest

Number of

Shares

Approximate

percentage of

shareholding

Number of

underlying

Shares

Approximate

percentage of

shareholding

Ms. Kai Chen Beneficial owner, spouse

 interest, interests held

 jointly with another person

420,466,657

(Notes 5, 7)

30.10% 15,236,000

(Notes 3, 4, 7,

8, 9)

1.09%

Mr. Zhixiang Chen Beneficial owner, interests

 held jointly with

 another person

420,466,657

(Notes 6, 7)

30.10% 15,236,000

(Notes 3, 4, 7,

8, 9)

1.09%

IDG-Accel China

 Growth

 Fund II L.P.

Beneficial owner 175,892,880

(Note 10)

12.59% — —

IDG-Accel China

 Growth Fund II

 Associates L.P.

Interest in a

 controlled corporation

175,892,880

(Note 10)

12.59% — —

IDG-Accel China

 Growth Fund GP II

 Associates Ltd.

Interest in a

 controlled corporation

190,277,880

(Note 10)

13.62% — —

Ho Chi Sing Interest in a

 controlled corporation

190,277,880

(Note 10)

13.62% — —

Zhou Quan Interest in a

 controlled corporation

190,277,880

(Note 10)

13.62% — —

Vertex Beneficial owner 119,225,000

(Note 11)

8.54% — —

Temasek Holdings

 (Private) Limited

Interest in a

 controlled corporation

119,225,000

(Note 11)

8.54% — —
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Notes:

(1) Mr. Zongjian Cai is interested in all the issued share capital of Duke Online and he is the sole director of Duke Online. 

Therefore, he is deemed to be interested in 178,699,027 Shares held by Duke Online under the SFO. Mr. Zongjian Cai 

is also deemed to be interested in all Shares held by Ms. Kai Chen under the SFO.

(2) Mr. Yuan Chi is interested in 80% of the issued share capital of Edmond Online and he is the sole director of Edmond 

Online. Therefore, he is deemed to be interested in 158,080,000 Shares held by Edmond Online under the SFO.

(3) Mr. Yuan Xu is the beneficial owner of 29,937,638 Shares and is also deemed to be interested in the 4,000,000 Shares 

which may be issued to him upon the exercise of the share options granted to him under the Pre-IPO Share Option 

Scheme.

(4) Mr. Hong Zhang is the beneficial owner of 11,702,040 Shares and is also deemed to be interested in the 9,200,000 

Shares which may be issued to him upon the exercise of the share options granted to him under the Pre-IPO Share 

Option Scheme.

(5) Ms. Kai Chen is the beneficial owner of 17,847,952 Shares and she is also deemed to be interested in all Shares held 

by Mr. Zongjian Cai under the SFO.

(6) Mr. Zhixiang Chen is the beneficial owner of 24,200,000 Shares.

(7) On 16 September 2013, Mr. Zongjian Cai, Mr. Yuan Chi, Duke Online, Edmond Online, Mr. Yuan Xu, Ms. Kai Chen, 

Mr. Hong Zhang and Mr. Zhixiang Chen entered into an act in concert agreement, pursuant to which each of them 

agreed that they would act in concert with each other with respect to material matters relating to the Company’s 

operation. Mr. Zongjian Cai, Mr. Yuan Chi, Duke Online, Edmond Online, Mr. Yuan Xu, Ms. Kai Chen, Mr. Hong Zhang 

and Mr. Zhixiang Chen expect that the material matters will cover, among other things, the matters which shall be 

approved at the annual general meeting, declaration of dividends, business plan, notifiable transactions and connected 

transactions subject to Shareholders’ approval, if any.

(8) Mr. Zongjian Cai is deemed to be interested in the 332,000 Shares which may be issued to him upon the exercise of 

the share options granted to him on 23 March 2015 under the Share Option Scheme. Mr. Yuan Chi is deemed to be 

interested in the 486,000 Shares which may be issued to him upon the exercise of the share options granted to him on 

23 March 2015 under the Share Option Scheme. Mr. Yuan Xu is deemed to be interested in the 613,000 Shares which 

may be issued to him upon the exercise of the share options granted to him on 23 March 2015 under the Share Option 

Scheme. Mr. Hong Zhang is deemed to be interested in the 605,000 Shares which may be issued to him upon the 

exercise of the share options granted to him on 23 March 2015 under the Share Option Scheme.

(9) On 23 March 2015, 2,906,000 share options which were previously granted to Mr. Zongjian Cai, Mr. Yuan Chi, Mr. 

Yuan Xu, Mr. Hong Zhang under the Share Option Scheme were cancelled at their written request.
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(10) IDG-Accel China Growth Fund II L.P., holds 175,892,880 Shares and IDG-Accel China Investors II L.P., holds 

14,385,000 Shares. Each of them is a limited partnership and is managed by its general partner, who has the full and 

exclusive power and authority to manage and control the fund and its business. Each of them also consists of limited 

partner or limited partners who merely play the passive function of injecting capital into the fund and have no voting 

or management right. The funds mainly engage in equity investment in portfolios with China-related business and 

operations.

 IDG-Accel China Growth Fund II L.P. is controlled by its general partner, namely, IDG-Accel China Growth Fund 

II Associates L.P., which is, in turn, controlled by its general partner, namely, IDG-Accel China Growth Fund GP II 

Associates Ltd. Therefore, each of IDG-Accel China Growth Fund II Associates L.P. and IDG-Accel China Growth 

Fund GP II Associates Ltd. is deemed to be interested in all Shares held by IDG-Accel China Growth Fund II L.P. 

under the SFO.

 IDG-Accel China Investors II. L.P. is controlled by its general partner, IDG-Accel China Growth Fund GP II Associates 

Ltd. Therefore, IDG-Accel China Growth Fund GP II Associates Ltd. is deemed to be interested in all Shares held by 

IDG-Accel China Investors II. L.P. under the SFO.

 Each of Ho Chi Sing and Zhou Quan is the controlling shareholder of IDG-Accel China Growth Fund GP II Associates 

Ltd. and therefore deemed to be interested in all Shares held by IDG-Accel China Growth Fund GP II Associates Ltd. 

under the SFO.

(11) Vertex is 100% owned by Vertex Venture Holdings Limited, which is ultimately owned by Temasek Holdings (Private) 

Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, the Directors are not aware of any other persons, other 

than the Directors and chief executives of the Company, whose interests are set out in the section headed 

“Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short positions in Shares, underlying Shares and debentures” 

above, had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company that was required to 

be recorded pursuant to Section 336 to the SFO.
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PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme was adopted by the Company on 12 November 2008 and amended on 16 

September 2013 by written resolutions of all the Shareholders. The terms of our Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are 

not subject to the provisions of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules or Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules as our Pre-

IPO Share Option Scheme will not involve the grant of options by us to subscribe for Shares once we have become 

a listed issuer.

The purpose of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to offer selected persons an opportunity to acquire a proprietary 

interest in the success of the Company, or to increase such interest, by purchasing Shares.

The outstanding options under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme represent share options originally granted by 

the Company to the grantees on 20 January 2007, 1 July 2007, 1 July 2008, 5 December 2008, 19 March 2009, 1 

August 2009, 1 November 2009, 18 April 2011, 21 April 2011, 25 April 2011, 3 May 2011, 16 May 2011, 13 June 

2011, 2 July 2011, 14 August 2011, 15 January 2012, 21 May 2012, and 31 March 2013, respectively, in respect of 

the Shares in the Company. As of the Listing Date, a total of 224 participants, including three members of the senior 

management and seven connected persons of our Group have been conditionally granted options under the Pre-

IPO Share Option Scheme. The Company should not and did not grant any share options under the Pre-IPO Share 

Option Scheme after the Listing.

Share options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall mainly vest according to the following 

schedule, each with an exercise period commencing from the relevant vesting date and ending 10 years after the 

date of grant:

Period within which option can be exercised

Maximum

percentage

of entitlement

Any time after the date when the options are granted (the “First Granting Date”),

 subject to Grantee’s completion of 12 months’ continuous service

25%

Any time after the first anniversary of the First Granting Date,

 subject to Grantee’s completion of 12 months’ continuous service

25%

Any time after the second anniversary of the First Granting Date,

 subject to Grantee’s completion of 12 months’ continuous service

25%

Any time after the third anniversary of the First Granting Date,

 subject to Grantee’s completion of 12 months’ continuous service

25%
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Below table set forth the exercise price of the share options granted on respective dates:

Date of grant Exercise price

20 January 2007, 1 July 2007 US$0.004026

1 July 2008 US$0.008052

5 December 2008, 19 March 2009 US$0.03775

1 August 2009, 1 November 2009 US$0.05

18 April 2011, 21 April 2011, 25 April 2011, 3 May 2011,

 16 May 2011, 13 June 2011

US$0.0525

2 July 2011, 14 August 2011, 15 January 2012,

 21 May 2012, 31 March 2013

US$0.0865

Particulars and movements of share options under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 

December 2015 by category of grantees were as follows:

Number of Pre-IPO share options

Category of grantees

Outstanding

as at

31 December

2014

Exercised

during the

year

Lapsed/

forfeited

during 

the year

Cancelled

during the

year

Outstanding

as at

31 December

2015

Senior management 13,200,000 — — — 13,200,000

Connected persons

 (other than members of

 the senior management) 9,895,000 7,485,000 — — 2,410,000

Other grantees who have been

 granted share options

 under the Pre-IPO Share

 Option Scheme to subscribe

 for one million

 Shares or more 10,838,000 6,385,000 10,000 — 4,443,000

Other grantees

 (total 168 grantees) 39,741,500 12,356,000 757,000 — 26,628,500
     

Total 73,674,500 26,226,000 767,000(Note 1) — 46,681,500
     

Note:

1. The share options were lapsed due to the employment termination of the employees of the Group pursuant to the Pre-IPO 

Share Option Scheme.
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Save as disclosed above, no share options under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme have been exercised, lapsed or 
cancelled during the year ended 31 December 2015.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme on 16 September 2013 for the purpose of giving the eligible 
persons an opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company and help motivate them to optimise their future 
performance and efficiency to the Group and/or to reward them for their past contributions, to attract and retain 
or otherwise maintain on-going relationships with such eligible persons who are significant to and/or whose 
contributions are or will be beneficial to the performance, growth or success of the Group, and additionally in the 
case of executives, to enable the Group to attract and retain individuals with experience and ability and/or to reward 
them for their past contributions.

Eligible persons shall be (a) any executive director of, manager of, or other employee holding an executive, 
managerial, supervisory or similar position in any member of the Group, any full-time or part-time employee, or a 
person for the time being seconded to work full-time or part-time for any member of the Group; (b) a director or 
proposed director (including a non-executive director and/or an independent non-executive director) of any member 
of the Group; (c) a direct or indirect shareholder of any member of the Group; (d) a supplier of goods or services to 
any member of the Group; (e) a customer, consultant, business or joint venture partner, franchisee, contractor, agent 
or representative of any member of the Group; (f) a person or entity that provides design, research, development 
or other support or any advisory, consultancy, professional or other services to any member of the Group; (g) an 
associate of any of the persons referred to in paragraphs (a) to (c) above; and (h) who, in the sole opinion of the 
Board, will contribute to or have contributed to the Group.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share 
Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Group shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issued 
as at the Listing Date, that is, 130,973,709 Shares, representing approximately 9.51% of the issued shares as at 
the date of this annual report. No option may be granted to any participant of the Share Option Scheme such that 
the total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be granted to that 
person in any 12-month period up to the date of the latest grant exceeds 1% of the Company’s issued share capital 
from time to time.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period 
as determined by the Board and not exceeding 10 years from the date of the grant. There is no minimum period for 
which an option must be held before it can be exercised. Participants of the Share Option Scheme are required to 
pay the Company HK$1.0 upon acceptance of the grant on or before the 28 days after the offer date. The exercise 
price of the options is determined by the Board in its absolute discretion and shall not be less than whichever is the 
highest of:

(a) the nominal value of a Share;

(b) the closing price of a Share as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets on the offer 
date; and

(c) the average closing price of a Share as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for 
the five Business Days immediately preceding the offer date.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years from the Listing Date, after which no 
further options will be granted or offered.
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On 23 March 2015, the Board (including all independent non-executive Directors) resolved to grant a total of 6,339,000 

share options to subscribe for the ordinary Shares of US$0.0000025 each in the share capital of the Company, 

pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, subject to the acceptance by the grantees. On the same date, an aggregate 

of 9,742,500 old share options previously granted pursuant to the Share Option Scheme were cancelled, following 

the receipt by the Company of irrevocable written requests issued by the relevant grantees.

Pursuant to Rule 17.07 of the Listing Rules, particulars and movements of share options under the Share Option 

Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2015 by category of grantees were as follows:

Number of share options

Category of grantees Date of grant

Exercise
price per

Share

Outstanding
as at

31 December
2014

Granted
during the

year

Lapsed/
forfeited

during the
year

Cancelled
during the

year

Outstanding
as at

31 December
2015

Directors
Mr. Zongjian Cai 25 March 2014 HK$8.96 291,000 — — 291,000 —

Mr. Yuan Chi 25 March 2014 HK$8.96 135,000 — — 135,000 —

Mr. Yuan Xu (appointed 
 on 21 August 2015) 25 March 2014 HK$8.96 213,000 — — 213,000 —

Mr. Hong Zhang (appointed 
 on 21 August 2015) 25 March 2014 HK$8.96 168,000 — — 168,000 —

Other connected persons
Ms. Meijia Chen
 (a director of IGG HK) 25 March 2014 HK$8.96 288,000 — — 288,000 —

Mr. Hanling Fang (a director
 of IGG Philippines) 25 March 2014 HK$8.96 299,000 — — 299,000 —

Other employees and
 eligible persons 25 March 2014 HK$8.96 2,099,500 — 100,000 1,999,500 —

Directors
Mr. Xiaojun Li (resigned on 
 31 December 2015) 12 May 2014 HK$5.88 350,000 — — 350,000 —

Mr. Kee Lock Chua 
 (resigned on 
 4 August 2015) 12 May 2014 HK$5.88 350,000 — — 350,000 —

Dr. Horn Kee Leong 12 May 2014 HK$5.88 250,000 — — 250,000 —

Mr. Dajian Yu 12 May 2014 HK$5.88 250,000 — — 250,000 —

Ms. Zhao Lu 12 May 2014 HK$5.88 250,000 — — 250,000 —

Other employees and
 eligible persons 12 May 2014 HK$5.88 1,300,000 — — 1,300,000 —

Directors
Mr. Zongjian Cai 11 August 2014 HK$5.47 757,000 — — 757,000 —

Mr. Yuan Chi 11 August 2014 HK$5.47 351,000 — — 351,000 —

Mr. Yuan Xu (appointed 
 on 21 August 2015) 11 August 2014 HK$5.47 554,000 — — 554,000 —

Mr. Hong Zhang (appointed 
 on 21 August 2015) 11 August 2014 HK$5.47 437,000 — — 437,000 —
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Number of share options

Category of grantees Date of grant

Exercise
price per

Share

Outstanding
as at

31 December
2014

Granted
during the

year

Lapsed/
forfeited

during the
year

Cancelled
during the

year

Outstanding
as at

31 December
2015

Other connected persons
Ms. Meijia Chen (a director
 of IGG HK) 11 August 2014 HK$5.47 265,000 — — 265,000 —

Other employees and
 eligible persons 11 August 2014 HK$5.47 1,800,000 — 305,000 1,135,000 360,000

Other employees and
 eligible persons 21 November 2014 HK$3.51 1,267,000 — — 100,000 1,167,000

Directors
Mr. Zongjian Cai 23 March 2015 HK$3.90 — 332,000 — — 332,000
Mr. Yuan Chi 23 March 2015 HK$3.90 — 486,000 — — 486,000
Mr. Kee Lock Chua 
 (resigned on 
 4 August 2015) 23 March 2015 HK$3.90 — 350,000 — — 350,000
Mr. Xiaojun Li  (resigned on 
 31 December 2015) 23 March 2015 HK$3.90 — 350,000 — — 350,000
Dr. Horn Kee Leong 23 March 2015 HK$3.90 — 250,000 — — 250,000
Ms. Zhao Lu 23 March 2015 HK$3.90 — 250,000 — — 250,000
Mr. Dajian Yu 23 March 2015 HK$3.90 — 250,000 — — 250,000
Mr. Hong Zhang (appointed on 
 21 August 2015) 23 March 2015 HK$3.90 — 605,000 — — 605,000
Mr. Yuan Xu (appointed on 
 21 August 2015) 23 March 2015 HK$3.90 — 613,000 — — 613,000

Other connected persons
Mr. Hanling Fang (a director
 of IGG Philippines) 23 March 2015 HK$3.90 — 449,000 — — 449,000
Ms. Meijia Chen (a director 
 of IGG HK) 23 March 2015 HK$3.90 — 553,000 — — 553,000
Mr. Huihan Wu (a director
 of IGG Japan
 and IGG Korea) 23 March 2015 HK$3.90 — 300,000 — — 300,000
Richard Chua Choon Kiat
 (a director of
 Tapcash Singapore) 23 March 2015 HK$3.90 — 200,000 — — 200,000
Mr. Feng Chen (a director
 of Tapcash Cayman) 23 March 2015 HK$3.90 — 300,000 — — 300,000
Mr. Shuo Wang (a director
 of IGG Japan and 
 IGG Korea) 23 March 2015 HK$3.90 — 90,000 — — 90,000

Other employees and 
 eligible persons 23 March 2015 HK$3.90 — 961,000 — — 961,000

Other employees and
 eligible persons 10 September 2015 HK$2.94 — 100,000 — — 100,000

     
Total 11,674,500 6,439,000 405,000 9,742,500 7,966,000

     



ANNUAL REPORT

51

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

25 March 2014

Share options granted on 25 March 2014 shall vest according to the following schedule, each with an exercise period 

commencing from the relevant vesting date and ending 10 years after the date of grant.

Share option vesting period Percentage of share options to vest

On or after 25 March 2015 25% of the total number of share options granted

On or after 25 March 2016 25% of the total number of share options granted

On or after 25 March 2017 25% of the total number of share options granted

On or after 25 March 2018 25% of the total number of share options granted

12 May 2014

Share options granted on 12 May 2014 shall vest according to the following schedule, each with an exercise period 

commencing from the relevant vesting date and ending 10 years after the date of grant.

The 1,450,000 share options, which were granted to all of the non-executive Directors and independent non-

executive Directors, shall be subject to a vesting period as follows:

Share option vesting period Percentage of share options to vest

On or after the date of the annual general meeting 

 to be convened in 2015

One-third of the total number of Share Options granted

On or after the date of the annual general meeting 

 to be convened in 2016

One-third of the total number of Share Options granted

On or after the date of the annual general meeting 

 to be convened in 2017

One-third of the total number of Share Options granted

The remaining 1,300,000 Share Options shall be subject to a vesting period as follows:

Share option vesting period Percentage of share options to vest

On or after 12 May 2015 25% of the total number of share options granted

On or after 12 May 2016 25% of the total number of share options granted

On or after 12 May 2017 25% of the total number of share options granted

On or after 12 May 2018 25% of the total number of share options granted



ANNUAL REPORT

52

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

11 August 2014

Share options granted on 11 August 2014 shall vest according to the following schedule, each with an exercise 

period commencing from the relevant vesting date and ending 10 years after the date of grant.

Share option vesting period Percentage of share options to vest

On or after 11 August 2015 25% of the total number of share options granted

On or after 11 August 2016 25% of the total number of share options granted

On or after 11 August 2017 25% of the total number of share options granted

On or after 11 August 2018 25% of the total number of share options granted

21 November 2014

Share options granted on 21 November 2014 shall vest according to the following schedule, each with an exercise 

period commencing from the relevant vesting date and ending 10 years after the date of grant.

Share option vesting period Percentage of share options to vest

On or after 21 November 2015 25% of the total number of share options granted

On or after 21 November 2016 25% of the total number of share options granted

On or after 21 November 2017 25% of the total number of share options granted

On or after 21 November 2018 25% of the total number of share options granted

23 March 2015

Out of the share options granted on 23 March 2015, 1,450,000 share options, which were granted to all of the non-

executive Directors (including Mr. Kee Lock Chua, a non-executive Director during the year, who resigned on 4 

August 2015 and Mr. Xiaojun Li, a non-executive Director during the year, who resigned on 31 December 2015, 

while excluding Mr. Yuan Chi who was an executive Director during the year but was subsequently re-designated as 

a non-executive Director on 21 August 2015) and independent non-executive Directors, shall be subject to a vesting 

period as follows:

Share option vesting period Percentage of share options to vest

On or after the date of the annual general meeting 

 to be convened in 2016

One-third of the total number of share options granted

On or after the date of the annual general meeting 

 to be convened in 2017

One-third of the total number of share options granted

On or after the date of the annual general meeting 

 to be convened in 2018

One-third of the total number of share options granted
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The remaining 4,889,000 share options shall be subject to a vesting period as follows:

Share option vesting period Percentage of share options to vest

On or after 23 March 2016 25% of the total number of share options granted

On or after 23 March 2017 25% of the total number of share options granted

On or after 23 March 2018 25% of the total number of share options granted

On or after 23 March 2019 25% of the total number of share options granted

10 September 2015

Out of the share options granted on 10 September 2015, 100,000 share options, shall be subject to a vesting period 

as follows:

Share option vesting period Percentage of share options to vest

10 September 2016 25% of the total number of share options granted

10 September 2017 25% of the total number of share options granted

10 September 2018 25% of the total number of share options granted

10 September 2019 25% of the total number of share options granted

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December 2015, no share options under the Share Option 

Scheme have been granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Share Award Scheme of the Company was adopted by the Board on 24 December 2013 (the “Adoption Date”). 

The purpose of the Share Award Scheme is to recognise the contributions by certain selected grantees and to give 

incentives thereto in order to retain them for the continuing operation and development of the Group, and to attract 

suitable personnel for further development of the Group.

The Board may, from time to time, at their absolute discretion select any eligible person (excluding any excluded 

grantee) for participation in the Share Award Scheme as a selected grantee. However, until so selected, no eligible 

person shall be entitled to participate in the Share Award Scheme. The awarded shares (where the Board has 

determined such number pursuant to the terms of the Share Award Scheme) shall be either (i) allotted and issued by 

the Company, by using the general mandate granted to the Board by the shareholders of the Company in the annual 

general meeting of the Company from time to time, unless separate Shareholders’ approval is obtained in a general 

meeting of the Company, or (ii) acquired by Computershare Hong Kong Trustees Limited, as the trustee (“Trustee”) 

from the open market by utilising the Company’s resources provided to the Trustee, subject to the absolute discretion 

of the Board. The Company will contribute or grant cash to the Trustee to enable the Scheme to operate with 

necessary funds to purchase and/or subscribe for Shares. The vesting period shall, in any event, be no longer than 

ten years.
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It is intended that the awarded shares under the Share Award Scheme will be offered to the selected grantees 

to take up the relevant awarded shares for no consideration subject to the compliance with the relevant laws and 

regulations, and certain conditions to be decided by the Board at the time of grant of the awarded shares under the 

Share Award Scheme.

Awarded shares held by the Trustee upon the trust and which are referable to a selected grantee shall vest to that 

selected grantee in accordance with a vesting schedule determined at the discretion of the Board, provided that the 

selected grantee remains at all times after the reference date (the date of final approval by the Board of the total 

number of Shares to be awarded to the selected grantees in a single occasion pursuant to the Share Award Scheme 

or the date of an award by the Trustee pursuant to the trust deed) and on each relevant vesting date(s) an eligible 

person. The Board may also, in its absolute discretion, determine the performance, operating and financial targets 

and other criteria, if any, to be satisfied by the selected grantee before the awarded shares can vest.

The Board shall not make any further award which will result in the number of shares awarded by the Board under 

the Share Award Scheme in excess of 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date. In 

any event, the unvested shares held by the Trustee at any time shall be less than 5% of the issued share capital of 

the Company. The maximum number of Shares to all Controlling Shareholders which may be subject to an award 

or awards in any of the 12 months shall not in aggregate exceed 2% of the issued share capital of the Company 

from time to time. The maximum number of shares which may be awarded to a participant under the Share Award 

Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board, the Share Award Scheme shall be valid and 

effective for a period of ten years commencing on the Adoption Date.

Details of the Share Award Scheme are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 24 December 2013.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company granted the awarded shares as followings:

23 March 2015

On 23 March 2015, the Board (including all independent non-executive Directors) resolved to grant a total of 2,935,244 

awarded shares to certain selected grantees of the Group, all of whom are third parties independent from the 

Company and the connected persons of the Company, pursuant to the Share Award Scheme at nil consideration, 

subject to the acceptance by the selected grantees. The total of 2,935,244 awarded shares granted to the selected 

grantees represents approximately 0.21% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of grant.
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The awarded shares granted shall vest in the grantees in accordance with the schedule below:

Share award vesting date Percentage of awarded shares to vest

On 23 March 2016 25% of the total number of awarded shares granted

On 23 March 2017 25% of the total number of awarded shares granted

On 23 March 2018 25% of the total number of awarded shares granted

On 23 March 2019 25% of the total number of awarded shares granted

10 September 2015

On 10 Septemeber 2015, the Board (including all independent non-executive Directors) based on the 

recommendation of the remuneration committee, resolved to grant a total of 1,000,000 awarded shares to certain 

selected grantees of the Group, all of whom are third parties independent from the Company and the connected 

persons of the Company, pursuant to the Share Award Scheme at nil consideration, subject to the acceptance by the 

selected grantees. The total of 1,000,000 awarded shares granted to the selected grantees represents approximately 

0.07% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of grant.

The awarded shares granted shall vest in the grantees in accordance with the schedule below:

Share award vesting date Percentage of awarded shares to vest

On 10 September 2016 25% of the total number of awarded shares granted

On 10 September 2017 25% of the total number of awarded shares granted

On 10 September 2018 25% of the total number of awarded shares granted

On 10 September 2019 25% of the total number of awarded shares granted

Particulars of the movements of the awarded shares under the Share Award Scheme during the year are as 

followings:

Date of grant

Outstanding 

as at 

31 December 

2014

Grant during 

the year

Exercised 

during 

the year

Lapsed 

during 

the year

Balance 

as at 

31 December 

2015

25 March 2014 1,401,000 — 350,250 — 1,050,750

11 August 2014 897,552 — 224,379 31,878 641,295

21 November 2014 331,600 — 66,325 66,300 198,975

23 March 2015 — 2,935,244 — 158,333 2,776,911

10 September 2015 — 1,000,000 — 75,000 925,000
     

Total 2,630,152 3,935,244 640,954 331,511 5,592,931
     

Note: The lapse of awarded shares during the year was due to termination of employment of certain grantees.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December 2015, no awarded shares were granted, vested, or 

lapsed under the Share Award Scheme.



ANNUAL REPORT

56

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

TAPCASH SUBSIDIARY SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted the Tapcash Subsidiary Share Option Scheme on 5 May 2015. The purpose of the Tapcash 

Subsidiary Share Option Scheme is to offer selected eligible persons an opportunity to acquire a proprietary 

interest in the success of Tapcash Cayman and its subsidiaries and to motivate eligible persons to optimise 

their future contributions to the Tapcash Group and/or to reward them for their past contributions, to attract and 

retain or otherwise maintain on-going relationships with such eligible persons who are significant to and/or whose 

contributions are or will be beneficial to the performance, growth or success of the Tapcash Group, and additionally 

in the case of executive, to enable the Tapcash Group to attract and retain individuals with experience and ability 

and/or to reward them for their past contributions.

Eligible persons means any of the following persons: (a) an executive, any full-time or part-time employee, any 

person to whom any offer of employment has been made, or a person for the time being seconded to work full-time 

or part-time for any member of the Tapcash Group; (b) a director or proposed director (including a non-executive 

director and/or an independent non-executive director) of any member of the Tapcash Group; (c) a direct or indirect 

shareholder of any member of the Tapcash Group; (d) a supplier of goods or services to any member of the Tapcash 

Group; (e) a customer, consultant, business or joint venture partner, franchisee, contractor, agent or representative 

of any member of the Tapcash Group; (f) a person or entity that provides design, research, development or other 

support or any advisory, consultancy, professional or other services to any member of the Tapcash Group; and (g) 

an associate of any of the foregoing persons; (h) who, in the sole opinion of the board of Tapcash Cayman, will 

contribute to or have contributed to the Tapcash Group.

The maximum number of Tapcash Cayman Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted 

under the Tapcash Subsidiary Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Tapcash Group (except for the 

options that are lapsed) shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Tapcash Cayman Shares in issue as at the date 

of approval by Shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 5 May 2015, that is, 5,000,000 

Tapcash Cayman Shares, representing 10% of the total issued share capital of Tapcash Cayman as at the date of 

this annual report.

The maximum number of Tapcash Cayman Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted to 

any one eligible person (including exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of 

the Tapcash Cayman Shares in issue from time to time. Where any further grant of options to such an eligible person 

would result in the Tapcash Cayman Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be 

granted to such eligible person (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the 12-month period up 

to and including the date of such further grant representing in aggregate over 1% of the Tapcash Cayman Shares in 

issue, such further grant shall be separately approved by the shareholders of the Company in general meeting with 

such eligible person and his close associates (or his associates if the participant is a connected person) abstaining 

from voting.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Tapcash Subsidiary Share Option Scheme at any 

time during a period as determined by the board of directors of Tapcash Cayman and not exceeding 10 years from 

the date of the grant. There is no minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be exercised.
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The exercise price in respect of any particular option shall be such price as the board of directors of Tapcash 

Cayman may in its absolute discretion determine at the time of grant of the relevant option (and shall be stated in the 

letter containing the offer of the grant of the option) but the exercise price shall not be less than the nominal value of 

a Share on the date on which the option is offered in writing to the eligible person.

The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing on the date of the annual general 

meeting of the Company held on 5 May 2015.

On 10 September 2015, the board of directors of Tapcash Cayman resolved to grant a total of 1,480,000 Tapcash 

Share Options to subscribe for 1,480,000 Tapcash Cayman Shares at an exercise price of US$0.06 per Tapcash 

Cayman Shares, subject to the acceptances by the grantees of Tapcash Share Options. Among the grantees, except 

that 32,000 Tapcash Share Options, 32,000 Tapcash Share Options and 20,000 Tapcash Share Options were 

granted to Ms. Meijia Chen (cousin of Mr. Yuan Xu, an executive Director),  Mr. Neng Xu (brother of Mr. Yuan Xu, 

an executive Director) and Ms. Xiaoming Yang, respectively, none of the grantees is a Director, chief executive or 

substantial shareholder of the Company or associate of any of them.

In October 2015, an aggregate of 20,000 share options granted on 10 September 2015 pursuant to the Tapcash 

Subsidiary Share Option Scheme were lapsed, due to the termination of the employment relationship of certain 

grantees.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December 2015, no share options under the Tapcash Subsidiary 

Share Option Scheme have been granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled. The outstanding number of share options 

under the Tapcash Subsidiary Share Option Scheme as at 31 December 2015 was 1,460,000.

10 September 2015

Share options granted on 10 September 2015 under the Tapcash Subsidiary Share Option Scheme shall vest in the 

grantees in accordance with the timetable below, each with an exercise period commencing from the relevant share 

option vesting date and ending 10 years after the date of grant:

Share option vesting date Percentage of share options to vest

On 10 September 2016 25% of the total number of share options granted

On 10 September 2017 25% of the total number of share options granted

On 10 September 2018 25% of the total number of share options granted

On 10 September 2019 25% of the total number of share options granted
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

During the year and up until the date of this report, except that on 23 March 2015 (1) Mr. Zongjian Cai, Mr. Yuan Xu 

and Mr. Hong Zhang, all of whom are executive Directors, were granted with 332,000, 613,000 and 605,000 share 

options under the Share Option Scheme, respectively, (2) Mr. Yuan Chi, a non-executive Director, were granted with 

486,000 share options under the Share Option Scheme, (3) each of the independent non-executive Directors was 

granted 250,000 share options under the Share Option Scheme, (4) Mr. Kee Lock Chua, who was a non-executive 

Director during the year but subsequently resigned on 4 August 2015, was granted with 350,000 share options 

under the Share Option Scheme (on 27 August 2015, the Board resolved that Mr. Kee Lock Chua shall continue to 

be entitled to exercise the share options granted to him under the Share Option Scheme after his resignation as a 

non-executive Director of the Company), and (5) Mr. Xiaojun Li, who was a non-executive Director during the year 

but subsequently resigned on 31 December 2015, was granted with 350,000 share options under the Share Option 

Scheme (on 31 December 2015, the Board resolved that Mr. Xiaojun Li shall continue to be entitled to exercise the 

share options granted to him under the Share Option Scheme after his resignation as a non-executive Director of the 

Company), none of the Directors or chief executives of the Company was granted any share options under the Pre-

IPO Share Option Scheme or the Share Option Scheme or any awarded shares under the Share Award Scheme. 

Save as disclosed above and in the section headed “Disclosure of Interest as per registers kept pursuant to the SFO” 

in this report, at no time for the year ended 31 December 2015 were there rights to acquire benefits by means of the 

acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of the Company granted to any Director of the Company or their respective 

spouses or minor children, or were such rights exercised by them, or was the Company, its holding company or any 

of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means 

of the acquisition of Shares in, or debt securities (including debentures) of the Company or any other body corporate.

COMPETING INTEREST

None of the Directors or the Controlling Shareholders or the substantial shareholders of the Company or their 

respective associates has any interest in any business which competed or may compete with the business of the 

Group during the year ended 31 December 2015.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Each of the Controlling Shareholders has confirmed to the Company of his/her compliance with the non-compete 

undertakings provided to the Company under the Deed of Non-competition. The independent non-executive Director 

have reviewed the status of compliance and confirmed that the Controlling Shareholders have complied with all the 

undertakings under the Deed of Non-competition for the year ended 31 December 2015.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party to and 

in which a Director or its connected entity (within the meaning of section 486 of the Companies Ordinance) had a 

material interest in, whether directly or indirectly, and subsisted as of 31 December 2015 or at any time during the 

year ended 31 December 2015.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of 

the Company were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2015

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”, “Share Option Scheme”, “Share Award 

Scheme” and “Tapcash Subsidiary Share Option Scheme”, as at the end of and during the year ended 31 December 

2015, the Company did not enter into (i) any agreement that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares; or (ii) 

any agreement requiring the Company to enter into any agreement specified in (i).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to Article 164 of the Articles of Association, the Directors shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of 

the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses 

which the Directors or any of the Directors shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred 

in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices or trusts; and none 

of the Directors shall be answerable for the acts, receipts, neglects or defaults of the other or others of them or 

for joining in any receipts for the sake of conformity, or for any bankers or other persons with whom any moneys 

or effects belonging to the Company shall or may be lodged or deposited for safe custody, or for insufficiency 

or deficiency of any security upon which any moneys of or belonging to the Company shall be placed out on or 

invested, or for any other loss, misfortune or damage which may happen in the execution of their respective offices 

or trusts, or in relation thereto; provided that the indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or 

dishonesty which may attach to any of the Directors.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

The Company had bought back the Shares on the Stock Exchange during the year ended 31 December 2015 with 

details as follows:

Price per ShareNumber of

Trading Day

Shares 

Purchased

Highest 

Price Paid

Lowest 

Price Paid Total Paid

HKD HKD HKD

22 December 2015 1,265,000 3.19 3.13 4,017,240.00

23 December 2015 1,626,000 3.25 3.22 5,260,140.00

30 December 2015 437,000 3.48 3.44 1,513,160.00

31 December 2015 616,000 3.50 3.46 2,149,734.00
 

Total 3,944,000
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All of the shares bought back were subsequently cancelled in January 2016. Save as disclosed above, neither 

the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities 

during the year ended 31 December 2015. The Board considers that the value of the Shares in the capital market is 

significantly undervalued. The market value of which is far below their intrinsic value, taking into account the Group 

has sufficient and strong financial resources. The Board believes that the Company’s healthy financial position allows 

the Company to conduct the above buy-backs while maintaining sufficient financial resources for the continuous 

growth of the Group’s operations. The Board also believes the share repurchase and subsequent cancellation of the 

repurchased shares can improve the return to shareholders.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee with written terms of reference in compliance with the GEM Listing 

Rules and, following the Transfer of Listing, the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the audit committee are to review 

and to supervise the financial reporting process and risk management and internal control systems of the Group. The 

audit committee comprises all independent non-executive Directors, namely, Dr. Horn Kee Leong (chairman of the 

audit committee), Mr. Dajian Yu and Ms. Zhao Lu.

The audit committee has reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 

December 2015 and was of the opinion that the preparation of such statements complied with applicable accounting 

standards and that adequate disclosure in accordance with the Listing Rules has been made in respect thereof.

INTERESTS OF THE COMPLIANCE ADVISER

As notified by China Everbright Capital Limited (“China Everbright”), the Company’s compliance adviser, neither 

China Everbright nor any of its directors or employees or associates had any significant interest in the share capital 

of the Company or any member of the Group (including options or rights to subscribe for such securities) as at 31 

December 2015.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions entered into by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2015 are set 

out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company confirmed that it has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the 

Listing Rules.
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NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

A. Structured Contracts

Background

The existing PRC laws and regulations restrict foreign investment in value-added telecommunication, Internet 

content and information services, and online games in the PRC. The wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 

Fuzhou Tianji, being a foreign owned enterprise, does not have the requisite licenses to provide services regarding 

value-added telecommunication, Internet content and information services, and online games in the PRC.

In order to comply with PRC laws restricting foreign ownership in the value-added telecommunication in China, 

or foreign ownership prohibitions on Internet content and information services, the Group historically operated 

the licensing and publishing of self-developed browser games and client-based games in China through Fuzhou 

Tianmeng, a limited liability company established under the laws of PRC with registered capital of RMB10.0 million 

and whose equity interests are owned as to 50% by Mr. Zongjian Cai and 50% by Mr. Yuan Chi. For backgrounds 

relating to Mr. Zongjian Cai and Mr. Yuan Chi, please refer to the section headed “Biographical details of Directors 

and Senior Management” in this annual report. The principal business operation of Fuzhou Tianmeng includes (i) 

designing and developing browser games, client-based games and mobile games; (ii) providing online customer 

support services to end users in the PRC; (iii) operating and ongoing maintenance of Chinese versions of developed 

games in the PRC, which includes (a) uploading and maintaining the self-developed games for download and play by 

players in the PRC; (b) licensing games to third party licensees in the PRC; and (c) co-operating games our Group 

developed in-house with third party game operators in the PRC; and (iv) Fuzhou Tianmeng holds certain number of 

intellectual property rights in relation to the operation of our Chinese version of the online games. Fuzhou Tianmeng, 

as a domestic company, holds an ICP License, Internet Culture Operating License and Internet Publishing License. 

In addition, Fuzhou Tianmeng holds certain of the Group’s intellectual properties and is also partially vested with the 

Group’s online games development functions.

Major Terms of the Structured Contracts

In 2007, Fuzhou Tianji, the Founders and Fuzhou Tianmeng entered into the Structured Contracts, as supplemented 

by the agreements in 2009 and 2013, pursuant to which the financial results of Fuzhou Tianmeng would be combined 

with the Company as if Fuzhou Tianmeng were a subsidiary of the Group.

The Structured Contracts comprise six agreements, the details of which are summarised below:

(i) Call Option Agreement: on 30 November 2007, Fuzhou Tianji, Fuzhou Tianmeng and the Founders entered 

into an exclusive acquisition rights agreement (as supplemented by a supplemental agreement dated 16 

September 2013 entered into by the same parties, collectively the “Call Option Agreement”), pursuant to 

which the Founders irrevocably granted the exclusive right to Fuzhou Tianji to require the Founders to transfer 

their equity interest in Fuzhou Tianmeng to Fuzhou Tianji.
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(ii) Equity Pledge Agreement: on 30 November 2007, Fuzhou Tianji and the Founders entered into an equity 

interest pledge agreement (as supplemented by supplemental agreements dated 5 January 2009 and 16 

September 2013, respectively, entered into by the same parties, collectively the “Equity Pledge Agreement”), 

pursuant to which Fuzhou Tianji was entitled to exercise its rights to sell the Founders’ pledged interest in the 

registered capital of Fuzhou Tianmeng on the occurrence of certain specified events.

(iii) Power of Attorney of Mr. Zongjian Cai: on 30 November 2007, Mr. Zongjian Cai issued a power of attorney 

(as supplemented by a supplemental power of attorney dated 16 September 2013 issued by Mr. Zongjian Cai, 

collectively the “Power of Attorney of Mr. Zongjian Cai”), pursuant to which Mr. Zongjian Cai authorised 

Fuzhou Tianji to exercise all the shareholders’ rights of Mr. Zongjian Cai in Fuzhou Tianmeng.

(iv) Power of Attorney of Mr. Yuan Chi: on 30 November 2007, Mr. Yuan Chi issued a power of attorney (as 

supplemented by a supplemental power of attorney dated 16 September 2013 issued by Mr. Yuan Chi, 

collectively the “Power of Attorney of Mr. Yuan Chi”), pursuant to which Mr. Yuan Chi authorized Fuzhou 

Tianji to exercise all the shareholders’ rights of Mr. Yuan Chi in Fuzhou Tianmeng.

(v) Exclusive Technical Consulting Service Agreement: on 30 November 2007, Fuzhou Tianji and Fuzhou 

Tianmeng entered into an exclusive technical consulting service agreement (as supplemented by supplemental 

agreements dated 5 January 2009 and 16 September 2013, respectively, entered into by the same parties, 

collectively, “Exclusive Technical Consulting Service Agreement”), pursuant to which Fuzhou Tianji would 

provide technical support and consultation services to Fuzhou Tianmeng in consideration of services fees 

equivalent to the total revenue less all the related costs, expenses and taxes payable by Fuzhou Tianmeng, to 

be paid on a quarterly basis.

(vi) Online Game Licensing Agreement: on 16 September 2013, Fuzhou Tianji and Fuzhou Tianmeng entered 

in an agreement for online game licensing (the “Online Game Licensing Agreement”), pursuant to which 

Fuzhou Tianji will license various online game software to Fuzhou Tianmeng for operation in the PRC market 

for a consideration of an initial licensing fee and commissions payable on a quarterly basis according to a 

percentage generally accepted in the market and such commission shall be a fair value.
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Contribution of the Structured Contracts to the Group

The Directors are of the view that the Group kept the Structured Contracts to maintain presence in the PRC for 

further development but the business and operation of the Group do not rely on Fuzhou Tianmeng or the Structured 

Contracts.

The tables below compare the number of games operated, game revenue and assets attributable to Fuzhou 

Tianmeng during the year:

Number of games operated:

Developed 

in-house Licensed

As at 31 December 2015

Fuzhou Tianmeng 4 0

Game revenue*:

Revenue 

attributable 

to the 

relevant 

entity

Percentage 

of the total 

revenue of 

the Group

For the year ended 

31 December 2015

USD$’000 %

Fuzhou Tianmeng 314 0.2

* Game revenue is from external customers.
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Assets:

Assets

attributable

to the

relevant

entity

Percentage

of the total

assets of

the Group

For the year ended 

31 December 2015

USD$’000 %

Fuzhou Tianmeng 2,693 1.2

On-going reporting and approvals

The Directors confirmed that, as at the date hereof, the Structured Contracts had not been challenged by the 

relevant authorities in the PRC and the Group had not encountered any interference or encumbrance from any PRC 

governing bodies in operating their business through Fuzhou Tianmeng under the Structured Contracts.

The Group has adopted the following measures to ensure the effective operation of our Group with the 

implementation of the Structured Contracts and our compliance with the Structured Contracts:

‧ The Company confirms that in order to ensure the operation of the Structured Contracts, the Company 

has reviewed the overall performance and compliance with the Structured Contracts for the year ended 31 

December 2015.

‧ The independent non-executive Directors will review Structured Contracts annually and confirmed in the 

annual reports that (i) the transactions carried out during such year have been entered into in accordance with 

relevant terms of the Structured Contracts such that all revenue generated by Fuzhou Tianmeng deducting all 

related expenses, costs and the taxes payable by it has been retained by the Group; (ii) no dividends or other 

distributions have been made by Fuzhou Tianmeng to its equity interest holders; and (iii) no new contracts or 

renewed contracts have been entered into on the same terms as the existing Structured Contracts.

‧ The Company has engaged Ernst & Young as its auditor to perform procedures annually on the transactions 

contemplated under the Structured Contracts and the auditor will carry out procedures annually to ensure 

that no dividend has been distributed by Fuzhou Tianmeng to its equity holders which was not subsequently 

assigned or transferred to our Group and relevant transactions have received approval of the Board and were 

entered into in accordance with the terms of the Structured Contracts.

‧ The Group has not renewed and/or reproduced any of the framework of and terms and conditions similar to 

those of the Structured Contracts in relation to any existing or new wholly foreign-owned enterprise or operating 

company.
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‧ Fuzhou Tianmeng has provided the Company’s management and auditors with full access to relevant records 

for the purpose of the auditors’ performance of review procedures on relevant transactions under the Structured 

Contracts.

Regulatory Matters in Relation to the Structure Contracts

FITE Regulations

Foreign investment in telecommunications sector is governed by the Regulations on Administration of Foreign 

Invested Telecommunications Enterprises (外商投資電信企業管理規定 ) (the “FITE Regulations”), which were 

promulgated by the State Council on 11 December 2001 and amended on 10 September 2008. Pursuant to the FITE 

Regulations, a foreign investor must establish a Chinese-foreign equity joint venture with a Chinese partner to invest 

in telecommunications industry. A foreign-invested telecommunications enterprise, or FITE, is allowed to be engaged 

in basic telecommunications business and value-added telecommunications business. The foreign investor’s ultimate 

equity holding percentage in a value-added telecommunications business shall not exceed 50% except in online 

data processing and transaction processing (Operating E-commerce) business both of which can be operated by a 

wholly foreign-owned enterprise according to the Notice of the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology on 

Removing the Restrictions on Foreign Equity Ratios in Online Data Processing and Transaction Processing (Operating 

E-commerce) Business. In addition, the FITE Regulations require a foreign investor to demonstrate a good track 

record and prior experience in providing value-added telecommunications services business before it can acquire 

any equity interest in a value-added telecommunications services business in the PRC. However, as advised by our 

PRC legal advisers, Jingtian & Gongcheng, as at the date of this report, there are no administrative or implementing 

rules in the PRC defining the term “a good track record and prior experience”. Our PRC legal advisers, Jingtian& 

Gongcheng, also advised the disclosures in the Prospectus with regard to the qualification requirements on the 

Group’s business stipulated under the provisions on FITE Regulations remain unchanged since the Listing Date and 

up to the date hereof.

Draft Foreign Investment Law

On 19 January 2015, the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC (the “MOC”) published the draft Foreign Investment 

Law to solicit public comment, which, when finally adopted, will have significant impact on the foreign investment 

regime of the PRC. The draft Foreign Investment Law was published accompanied by the MOC’s notes (the “Notes”) 

on, among others, the background, guidelines and principle, and main content of the draft Foreign Investment Law 

and elaboration on several issues including the treatment of the existing structured contracts arrangement (in other 

words, VIE arrangements, structured contracts, or contractual arrangements) which were established before the 

effectiveness of the Foreign Investment Law.
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The draft Foreign Investment Law proposes to standardize the market entry requirements and procedures for 

foreign and domestic investors, replacing the existing requirements for approval of all foreign investments by the 

competent foreign investment authority, and aims to consolidate and streamline the various regulatory requirements 

on foreign investment. Meanwhile, the draft Foreign Investment Law redefines the standard of foreign investors 

and foreign investment in terms of actual control. In particular, where the foreign investors incorporated under the 

laws of countries or regions other than the PRC, who are under the actual control of PRC investors, engage in any 

investment as set out in the catalogue of restrictions in the PRC, their investment may be viewed as an investment 

by PRC investors after the access permission review of the competent foreign investment authorities.

The Notes elaborated three suggested approaches from the academic and practical sectors for public consultation 

purpose:

(i) reporting: the structured contracts will be permitted to continue following reporting to MOC that the  

foreign-invested enterprises are actually controlled by PRC investor(s);

(ii) verification: the structured contracts will be permitted to continue following confirmation with MOC that the 

foreign-invested enterprises are actually controlled by PRC investor(s); or

(iii) approval: the structure contracts being permitted to continue following approval by MOC.

However, the Notes also stated that MOC will broadly seek advices from the public, conduct further research on this 

issue and then bring out suggestion on its treatment. As advised by our PRC legal advisers, Jingtian & Gongcheng, 

the above three approaches are set out to solicit public opinions on the treatment of existing structured contracts 

arrangements and have not been formally adopted and may be subject to revisions and amendments taking into 

account of the results of public consultation and/or further research and recommendation. Our PRC legal advisers, 

Jingtian & Gongcheng also advises that there is no definite timeline when the new Foreign Investment Law will come 

into effect.

As advised by our PRC legal advisers, Jingtian & Gongcheng, considering that the voting rights jointly held by Mr. 

Zongjian Cai, Mr. Yuan Chi, Ms. Kai Chen, Mr. Zhixiang Chen, Mr. Yuan Xu and Mr. Hong Zhang, all of whom 

are PRC citizens and are parties to an act in concert agreement on 16 September 2013, pursuant to which each 

of them agreed that they would act in concert with each other with respect to matters relating to the operation of 

the Company in all material respects, reached approximately 30.10% as at 31 December 2015, which would exert 

major influence on the Group, Fuzhou Tianmeng can be regarded as being controlled by PRC investors as defined 

under the draft Foreign Investment Law, however, as at the date of this report, the draft Foreign Investment Law 

and the Notes are just drafts released for the purpose of public consultation, and both of them have no legal effect. 

Given this, the Company is of the view that it may not be appropriate at this stage to evaluate the potential impact 

of the Foreign Investment Law and to formulate any specific measures to keep Fuzhou Tianmeng being controlled 

by PRC investors. If Fuzhou Tianmeng does not qualify as being controlled by PRC investors when the Foreign 

Investment Law becomes effective, the Company might be requested to dispose of its interests in Fuzhou Tianmeng. 

The appropriate risk factors had already been disclosed in the paragraph headed “Risk Factors – Risk Relating to 

our Contractual Arrangement — There is no assurance that the contractual arrangements between Fuzhou Tianji 

and Fuzhou Tianmeng will be deemed to be in compliance with existing or future PRC laws and regulations” in the 

Prospectus.
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The Company confirms that if the Structured Contracts are required to be unwind or the Company is required 

to dispose the interests in Fuzhou Tianmeng in the future, it can engage other domestic publishers with the 

due qualifications and licenses to operate its online games in the PRC, which may adversely affect the Group’s 

operational and financial performance because engaging other domestic publishers may impose more costs to the 

Group. Based on the current market price, it is estimated that such domestic publishers would charge an annual fee 

of approximately 20% of the annual revenue generated from the games operated by them in the PRC. For illustration 

purposes, using the games operated by Fuzhou Tianmeng as at 31 December 2015 and the revenue generated 

from these games for the year ended 31 December 2015, it is estimated that the annual cost to engage domestic 

publishers with the due qualifications and licenses to operate such games will not exceed US$200,000. However, the 

Company expects that such adverse impact on the Group’s operational and financial performance will not be material 

considering that (1) the revenue and assets attributable to the Structured Contracts are minor, and (2) there is no 

legal obstacle for Fuzhou Tianmeng to transfer its assets to Fuzhou Tianji or IGG Singapore, as the case maybe, a 

subsidiary of the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group has implemented measures to ensure compliance with the 

relevant regulations. Following the Transfer of Listing, the Group will continue to implement the following measures to 

ensure the effective operation of the Structured Contracts and the Group’s compliance with the Structured Contracts:

‧ major issues arising from the implementation and compliance with the Structured Contracts or any regulatory 

enquiries from government authorities will be submitted to the Board, if necessary, for review and discussion 

on an occurrence basis;

‧ the Board will review the overall performance of and compliance with the Structured Contracts at least once a 

year;

‧ the Company will disclose the overall performance and compliance with the Structured Contracts in its annual/

interim report to update the Shareholders and potential investors;

‧ the Directors will provide periodic updates in the annual/interim reports regarding the qualification requirements 

as stipulated under the FITE Regulations and the development of Foreign Investment Law, including the latest 

relevant regulatory development as well as the plan and progress in acquiring the relevant experience to meet 

these qualification requirements; and

‧ the Company will engage external legal advisers or other professional advisers, if necessary, to assist the 

Board to review the implementation of the Structured Contracts, review the legal compliance of Fuzhou Tianji 

and Fuzhou Tianmeng to deal with specific issues or matters arising from the Structured Contracts.
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B. Confirmation of independent non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Structured Contracts (collectively referred to as 

the “Continuing Connected Transactions”) and confirmed that during the year ended 31 December 2015:

(i) the Continuing Connected Transactions have been entered into in the ordinary and usual course of 

business of the Company;

(ii) as appropriate, the Continuing Connected Transactions are on normal commercial terms or, on terms no 

less favourable to the Company than terms available to or from Independent Third Parties; and

(iii) the Continuing Connected Transactions have been entered into in accordance with the relevant 

agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders 

of the Company as a whole.

C. Confirmation of auditor of the Company

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor, were engaged to report on the Group’s Continuing Connected 

Transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance 

Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice 

Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued 

by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

After performing the procedure related to continuing connected transactions, Ernst & Young confirmed that:

a. nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the disclosed continuing connected 

transactions have not been approved by the Company’s board of directors.

b. for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the Group, nothing has come to 

their attention that causes them to believe that the transactions were not, in all material respects, in 

accordance with the pricing policies of the Company.

c. nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the transactions were not entered 

into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such transactions.

d. with respect to the aggregate amount of US$53,550 the continuing connected transactions under 

consulting services agreement (note 1), nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe 

that the disclosed continuing connected transactions have exceeded the maximum aggregate annual 

value disclosed in the Section “Continuing Connected Transactions” of the prospectus of the Company 

dated 11 October 2013 (the “Prospectus”) in respect of each of the disclosed continuing connected 

transactions.

e. nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that dividend or other distribution was 

made by Fuzhou Tianmeng to its equity holders.
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 Ernst & Young have issued their letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the Continuing 

Connected Transactions in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has 

been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

Note:

1. The consulting services agreement is a continuing connected transaction exempt from the reporting, annual review, 

announcement and independent Shareholders’ approval pursuant to Rule 14A.76(1) of Listing Rules. For more details, 

please refer to the section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus.

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN SINGAPORE AND PRC

The headquarters and principal place of business in Singapore of the Company were changed to 315 Alexandra 

Road #04-03 Sime Darby Business Centre Singapore 159944 with effect from 30 April 2015.

The principal place of business of the Company in the PRC was changed to 20 Jinjishan Road, Jin’an District, 

Fuzhou, Fujian 350013, the PRC with effect from 7 December 2015.

EMPLOYEES

Emolument Policy

The Group’s emolument policies are based on the merit, qualifications and competence of individual employees and 

are reviewed by the remuneration committee periodically.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the remuneration committee and are decided by the 

Board, having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and comparable market statistics. 

Details of Directors’ remuneration and five individuals with highest emoluments are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the 

consolidated financial statements.

The Company has adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, the Share Option Scheme, the Share Award Scheme 

and the Tapcash Subsidiary Share Option Scheme to motivate and reward Directors and eligible employees. 

Details of the schemes are set out in the paragraphs headed “Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”, “Share Option 

Scheme”, “Share Award Scheme” and “Tapcash Subsidiary Share Option Scheme” in this report and note 27 to 

the consolidated financial statements. None of the directors waived any emoluments during the year ended 31 

December 2015.

Pension Scheme

Particulars of the pension scheme of the Group are set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.



ANNUAL REPORT

70

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Key relationship

Employees are regarded as the most important and valuable assets of the Group. The objectives of the Group’s 

human resource management are to: (i) reward and recognise performing staff by providing a fair, efficient and 

competitive remuneration package and implementing a sound performance appraisal system with appropriate 

incentives, (ii) build a sense of belongings among employees by offering them a better working environment, and 

(iii) promote career development and progression through offering on-job training to employees and providing 

opportunities within the Group for career advancement.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The customers of the Group primarily consist of hundreds of millions of individual players and licensees of our 

games. The Group provides customer services for each of the games offered by the Group to cater to the needs of 

the players. The Group has also adopted various means to strengthen the communication between the players and 

the Group, including customer service support via live in-game chat, online support or email all year around. The five 

largest customers of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2015 only accounted for 2.0% of the Group’s 

total revenue.

The Group’s suppliers primarily include advertising service providers, payment service providers, licensors of games, 

and server, data center and bandwidth providers. The Group maintains sound relationships with these suppliers and 

receives professional and value-added services from them. Most of the key service providers have ongoing business 

relationship with the Group for years. The largest and five largest suppliers of the Group during the year ended 31 

December 2015 accounted for 24.8% and 43.8% of the Group’s total purchases respectively.

So far as is known to the Directors, at no time during the year ended 31 December 2015 did a director, his/her 

associate(s) or a Shareholder, which to the knowledge of the Director owns more than 5% of the Company’s share 

capital have an interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

BANK LOAN AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The Group did not record any bank loans or other borrowings as at 31 December 2015.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association or the laws of Cayman Islands where 

the Company is incorporated applicable to the Company.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 as set out in the section headed 

“Management Discussion and Analysis – Business Review” in this annual report is expressly included in this report 

and forms part of this directors’ report.



ANNUAL REPORT

71

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2015 and up to the date of this report, the Group has complied with the relevant 

laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Company.

BUSINESS RISKS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems 

of the Group, which are designed to manage the risk of failure to achieve objectives and provide reasonable 

assurance against material mistatement or loss. When conducting business activities globally, the Group is exposed 

to a variety of key risks. Management team of the Group regularly monitors and updates risk profile and exposure 

and report to Audit Committee regarding the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control in mitigating 

risks.

Business Risk

The Group conducts business globally and faces business risks includes reputation risks, investment and acquisition 

risks, taxation risk and corporate responsibility and sustainability risks. The Board meets regularly and reviews the 

investment and expansion strategies, business plan, financial results, and key performance indicators of the Group 

to ensure that the business risks are controlled and managed, and potential risks can be identified.

Financial Risk

The Group has adopted financial risk management policies to control the Group’s financial risk exposure, such 

as taxation risk, currency risk and financial reporting risks. Also, the Board monitors the financial results and key 

operating statistics with the assistance of the Group’s internal financial reporting department on a monthly basis.

Compliance Risk

The Group has adopted internal procedures to monitor the Group’s compliance risk to ensure that the Group’s 

compliance with the laws and regulations in regions which the Group conducts business. In addition, the Group 

from time to time engages consulting firms and professional advisors to keep the Group updated with the latest 

development in the regulatory environments.

Operational Risk

The Group has adopted procedures to manage its operational risk exposures, such as human resources risks and 

IT governance risks. The Group monitors the overall employee turnover rate, degree of satisfaction, and IT system 

status on a monthly basis, and adopts countermeasures if any risk indicators arise.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group is committed to act in an environmentally responsible manner. To encourage sustainable use of 

resources, the Group has adopted initiatives of reducing energy consumption and recycling consumables such as 

computer hardware, paper and other consumables.

The Group’s business activities do not involve any significant industrial and environmental pollution since the Group 

is not engaged in any manufacturing activities. Currently, the Group does not foresee any industrial or environmental 

risk nor any issues for the Group to comply with environmental law or regulations. Nevertheless, the Group will 

remain alert to regulatory changes in countries where it is present.

IMPORTANT EVENTS SINCE THE YEAR END

No important events occurred for the Group since the year ended 31 December 2015.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the 

Company has maintained the prescribed public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued Shares as 

required under the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December 2015 and up to the date hereof.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for their re-appointment 

as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Zongjian Cai

Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2016
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To the shareholders of IGG Inc

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of IGG Inc (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries set out on 

pages 75 to 178, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015, and the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated 

statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a 

summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true 

and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting 

Standards Board and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal 

control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements based on our audit. Our report is 

made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no 

other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this 

report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute 

of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from 

material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 

of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 

consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company 

and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2015, and their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended 

in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in compliance with 

the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

25 March 2016
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Notes 2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

REVENUE 7 202,546 204,612

Cost of sales (62,007) (58,827)
  

Gross profit 140,539 145,785

Other income and gains 7 1,378 4,110

Selling and distribution expenses (41,652) (43,064)

Administrative expenses (21,840) (16,672)

Research and development costs (26,944) (17,202)

Other expenses (6,546) (1,342)
  

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 8 44,935 71,615

Income tax expense 11 (3,687) (5,223)
  

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 41,248 66,392
  

Attributable to:

 Owners of the parent 41,492 66,373

 Non-controlling interests (244) 19
  

41,248 66,392
  

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY

 EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 13

 (expressed in US$ per share)

Basic

  – For profit for the year US$0.0300 US$0.0488
  

Diluted

 – For profit for the year US$0.0290 US$0.0462
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2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 41,248 66,392

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Other comprehensive income/(loss) to be reclassified to

 profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (922) (280)

Available-for-sale investments:

 Changes in fair value 47 (3,989)

 Reclassification adjustments for gain or loss included in the

  consolidated statement of profit or loss

  – gain on disposal 67 3,199

  – impairment loss 508 —
  

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (300) (1,070)
  

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 40,948 65,322
  

Attributable to:

 Owners of the parent 41,192 65,303

 Non-controlling interests (244) 19
  

40,948 65,322
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Notes 2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 14 5,379 2,896

Other intangible assets 15 903 905

Other non-current assets 16 2,531 2,004

Interest in an associate 17 — 3,323

Available-for-sale investments 18 8,215 4,497

Deferred tax assets 24 6 115
  

Total non-current assets 17,034 13,740
  

CURRENT ASSETS

Accounts receivable 19 1,083 2,375

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 20 3,028 3,482

Funds receivable 13,478 16,889

Time deposits with original maturity of over three months — 54,000

Cash and cash equivalents 21 185,503 127,088
  

Total current assets 203,092 203,834
  

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 22 4,586 7,572

Other payables and accruals 23 3,511 4,476

Tax payable 3,339 4,820

Deferred revenue 25 16,982 12,970
  

Total current liabilities 28,418 29,838
  

NET CURRENT ASSETS 174,674 173,996
  

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 191,708 187,736
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Notes 2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Deferred tax liabilities 24 454 457
  

Total non-current liabilities 454 457
  

NET ASSETS 191,254 187,279
  

EQUITY

Issued capital 26 3 3

Reserves 28 190,521 186,777
  

190,524 186,780
  

Non-controlling interests 730 499
  

Total equity 191,254 187,279
  

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 25 March 2016

Zongjian Cai Yuan Chi  

Director Director
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Attributable to owners of the parent 

Share

capital

Share

premium

Shares held

for Share

Award

Scheme

Share

option

reserve

Share

repurchased

 for 

cancellation

Available-for-

sale equity

investment

revaluation

reserve

(note 18)

Reserve

funds

Other

reserve

Exchange

fluctuation

reserve

Retained

profits

Total

equity

Non-

controlling

interests

Total

equity

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

At 1 January 2015 3 185,236 (4,300) 3,685 — (790) 88 8 (373) 3,223 186,780 499 187,279

Profit for the year — — — — — — — — — 41,492 41,492 (244) 41,248

Other comprehensive income for the year:

 Changes in fair value of available-for-sale

  equity investments, net of tax — — — — — 47 — — — — 47 — 47

 Reclassification adjustments for gain and loss

  included in the consolidated statement of

  profit or loss — — — — — 575 — — — — 575 — 575

 Exchange differences on translation

  of foreign operations — — — — — — — — (922) — (922) — (922)
             

Total comprehensive income for the year — — — — — 622 — — (922) 41,492 41,192 (244) 40,948

Control obtained over an associate — — — — — — — — — — — 236 236

Contribution from non-controlling interests — — — — — — — — — — — 239 239

Equity-settled share option arrangements — — — 2,695 — — — — — — 2,695 — 2,695

Shares purchased for Share Award Scheme (note 27) — — (1,999) — — — — — — — (1,999) — (1,999)

Repurchase of ordinary shares (note 26) — — — — (1,669) — — — — — (1,669) — (1,669)

Exercise of share options — 1,563 — (523) — — — — — — 1,040 — 1,040

Vesting of awarded shares — 71 470 (541) — — — — — — — — —

Dividend for Share Award Schemes — — — — — — — 145 — — 145 — 145

2014 second interim dividend paid — — — — — — — — — (10,213) (10,213) — (10,213)

2014 special dividend paid — — — — — — — — — (20,247) (20,247) — (20,247)

2015 interim dividend paid — — — — — — — — — (7,200) (7,200) — (7,200)
             

At 31 December 2015 3 186,870* (5,829) * 5,316 * (1,669) * (168) * 88 * 153 * (1,295) * 7,055* 190,524 730 191,254
             

* These components of equity comprise the consolidated reserves of US$190,521,000 (2014:US$186,777,000) in the 

consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015.
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Attributable to owners of the parent 

Share

capital

Share

premium

Shares held

for Share

Award

Scheme

Share

option

reserve

Available-for-

sale equity

investment

revaluation

reserve

(note18)

Reserve

funds

Other

reserve

Exchange

fluctuation

reserve

(Accumulated

deficits)/

retained

profits

Total

equity

Non-controlling

interests

Total

equity

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

At 1 January 2014 3 184,600 — 1,553 — 88 8 (93) (50,386) 135,773 — 135,773

Profit for the year — — — — — — — — 66,373 66,373 19 66,392

Other comprehensive income for the year:

 Changes in fair value of available-for-sale

  equity investments, net of tax — — — — (3,989) — — — — (3,989) — (3,989)

 Reclassification adjustments for gains

  included in the consolidated statement

  of profit or loss - gain on disposal — — — — 3,199 — — — — 3,199 — 3,199

 Exchange differences on translation

  of foreign operations — — — — — — — (280) — (280) — (280)
            

Total comprehensive income for the year — — — — (790) — — (280) 66,373 65,303 19 65,322

Contribution from non-controlling interests — — — — — — — — — — 480 480

Equity-settled share option arrangements — — — 2,269 — — — — — 2,269 — 2,269

Shares purchased for Share Award Scheme

 (note 27) — — (4,300) — — — — — — (4,300) — (4,300)

Exercise of share options — 636 — (137) — — — — — 499 — 499

2013 Final dividend paid — — — — — — — — (2,879) (2,879) — (2,879)

2014 interim dividend paid — — — — — — — — (9,885) (9,885) — (9,885)
            

At 31 December 2014 3 185,236 (4,300) 3,685 (790) 88 8 (373) 3,223 186,780 499 187,279
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Notes 2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax: 44,935 71,615

Adjustments for:

 Interest income 7 (578) (557)

 Dividend income from available-for-sale investments 7 (460) —

 Fair value loss/(gain), net

  – Available-for-sale investments (transfer from equity on disposal) 8 (67) (3,199)

 Impairment loss on available-for-sale investments 8 508 —

 Impairment of interest in associates 8 4,294 —

 Loss on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 8 88 3

 Depreciation 8 1,498 1,025

 Amortisation of other intangible assets 8 420 389

 Equity-settled share compensation costs 2,695 2,269
  

53,333 71,545

Decrease/(increase) in funds receivable 3,411 (4,641)

Decrease in amounts due from related parties — 114

Decrease/(increase) in accounts receivable 1,302 (2,061)

Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, deposits and other receivables 466 (2,563)

Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable (2,986) 4,344

Increase in deferred revenue 4,012 5,165

Increase/(decrease) in other payables and accruals (965) 1,470

Decrease in other non-current assets (527) (1,847)
  

Cash flows generated from operations 58,046 71,526

Interest received 578 557

Income tax paid (5,062) (1,260)
  

Net cash flows from operating activities 53,562 70,823
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Notes 2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 7 62

Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment 14 (4,137) (2,327)

Purchases of other intangible assets 15 (312) (1,472)

Purchases of available-for-sale investments (14,100) (15,342)

Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale investments 10,563 13,254

Dividend received from listed investments 460 —

Additional investment in associates (8,529) (3,323)

Cash and bank balances acquired from business combination 29 7,652 —

Decrease/(increase) in short term deposits with

 original maturity of over three months 54,000 (44,000)
  

Net cash flows generated/(used in) investing activities 45,604 (53,148)
  

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from exercise of share options 1,185 499

Dividends declared and paid to then existing shareholders (37,660) (12,764)

Capital contribution from non-controlling interests 239 480

Payments for purchase of ordinary shares 26 (3,668) (4,300)
  

Net cash flows used in from financing activities (39,904) (16,085)
  

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 59,262 1,590

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 127,088 125,488

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net (847) 10
  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 185,503 127,088
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

 IGG Inc (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 16 August 2007 as an exempted 

company with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) 

of the Cayman Islands. The registered address of the Company is Floor 4, Willow House, Cricket Square, P.O. 

Box 2804, Grand Cayman, KY1-1112, Cayman Islands. The shares of the Company were listed on the Growth 

Enterprise Market (the “GEM”) of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 18 

October 2013 (the “Listing Date”).

 On 7 July 2015, the shares of the Company were transferred to the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

 The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group was principally engaged in the 

development and operation of mobile, browser and client-based online games in the international market. 

There has been no significant change in the Group’s principal activities during the year.

 In the opinion of the directors of the Company, as of the date of this report, controlling shareholders comprising 

the following investment entities and individuals are the ultimate substantial shareholders:

a) Duke Online Holdings Limited (“Duke Online”), which was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the 

“BVI”) and fully owned by Mr. Zongjian Cai;

b) Edmond Online Holdings Limited (“Edmond Online”), which was incorporated in the BVI and 80% owned 

by Mr. Yuan Chi;

c) Ms. Kai Chen;

d) Mr. Zhixiang Chen;

e) Mr. Yuan Xu; and

f) Mr. Hong Zhang.

 Individuals stated above from (c) to (f) were collectively referred to as the Management Team. On 16 

September 2013, Duke Online, Edmond Online, Mr. Zongjian Cai, Mr. Yuan Chi and members of the 

Management Team entered into an act-in-concert agreement, pursuant to which each of them agreed that they 

would act in concert with each other with respect to material matters relating to the Company’s operation.

 Under the prevailing laws and regulations in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”, or Mainland China 

which excludes, for the purpose of this report, the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC 

or Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC or Macau, and Taiwan), companies 

with foreign ownership are prohibited from online game business in Mainland China. The Group currently is 

operating its online games in Mainland China through Fuzhou Tianmeng, a structured entity.

 Certain structured contracts (“Structured Contracts”) were effectuated among Fuzhou Tianmeng, Fuzhou Tianji 

and Mr. Zongjian Cai and Mr. Yuan Chi (the “Registered Shareholders”) who are the legal shareholders of 

Fuzhou Tianmeng and also the core founders of the Company. The Structured Contracts for Fuzhou Tianmeng 

were effectuated in November 2007.
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued)

 The Structured Contracts provide the Group through Fuzhou Tianji with effective control over Fuzhou 

Tianmeng. In particular, Fuzhou Tianji undertakes to provide Fuzhou Tianmeng with certain technical services 

as required to support their operations. In return, the Group is entitled to substantially all of the operating profits 

and residual benefits generated by Fuzhou Tianmeng through intercompany charges levied on these services 

rendered. The Registered Shareholders are also required to transfer their interests in Fuzhou Tianmeng to 

the Group or the Group’s designee upon a request made by the Group when permitted by the PRC laws for 

a consideration, as permitted under the PRC laws. The ownership interests in Fuzhou Tianmeng have also 

been pledged by the Registered Shareholders to the Group in respect of the continuing obligations of Fuzhou 

Tianmeng. Fuzhou Tianji has not provided any financial support that it was not previously contractually required 

to do so to Fuzhou Tianmeng during the year. Fuzhou Tianji intends continuously to provide to or assist Fuzhou 

Tianmeng in obtaining financial support when deemed necessary. Accordingly, the Group has rights to variable 

returns from its involvement with Fuzhou Tianmeng and has the ability to affect those returns through its power 

over Fuzhou Tianmeng.

 As a result, Fuzhou Tianmeng was accounted for as a subsidiary of the Company. The formation of the 

Structured Contracts for Fuzhou Tianmeng was accounted for as a business combination between entities 

under common control by applying the pooling of interests method, where the assets and liabilities of Fuzhou 

Tianmeng are reflected at their existing carrying values at the date of consolidation. This approach was 

adopted because in management’s belief it best reflected the substance of the formation.
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued)

 Information about subsidiaries

 Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name

Place and date

of incorporation/

registration and

place of operation

Issued and

paid-up/

registered 

capital

Percentage of

equity attributable

to the Company Principal activities

Direct Indirect

% %

Skyunion Hong Kong

 Holdings Limited

Hong Kong

20 February 2006

HK$1,500,000 100 — Operation and licensing

of online games in

overseas markets

IGG Singapore Pte. Ltd.

 (“IGG Singapore”)

Singapore

30 June 2009

SGD1,500,000 100 — Research and development

of games, operation and

licensing of online games in

overseas markets

Sky Union, LLC (“IGG US”) USA

21 October 2005

US$266,236.86 100 — Provision of sales and

marketing, as well as

server hosting services for

group companies including

collecting fees from

players globally

Fuzhou TJ Digital

 Entertainment Co., Ltd

 (“Fuzhou Tianji”)*

PRC

15 November 2007

US$5,000,000 — 100 Research and development

of games and provision of

global customer support

services

Fuzhou Skyunion Digital

 Co., Ltd (“Fuzhou

 Tianmeng”)**

PRC

12 December 2006

RMB10,000,000 — 100# Research and development

of games and provision of

global customer

support services

Fuzhou Tianjie Information

 Technology Co., Ltd

 (“Fuzhou Tianjie”)**

PRC

3 June 2008

RMB1,000,000 — 100 Research and development

of games
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued)

 Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Name

Place and date

of incorporation/

registration and

place of operation

Issued and

paid-up/

registered 

capital

Percentage of

equity attributable

to the Company Principal activities

Direct Indirect

% %

IGG Philippines Corp.

 (“IGG Philippines”)

Philippines

11 January 2013

PHP10,000,000 — 100 Provision of global customer

support services

IGG.COM CANADA INC.

 (“IGG CAD”)

Canada

30 January 2014

US$3,000,000 — 100 Research and development

of games

Tap Media Technology Inc.

 (“Tapcash Cayman”)

Cayman Islands

11 November 2014

US$12,500 60 — Investment holding

Tapcash Inc. (“Tapcash

 Canada”)

Canada

30 January 2014

US$1,200,000 — 60 Provision of sales support

services and cash

collection services

 Tap Media Technology 

 Pte. Ltd. (“Tapcash

 Singapore”)

Singapore

30 December 2014

US$1 — 60 Provision of sales and

marketing as well as

collecting fees for

advertising

Nerd Kingdom, Inc. USA

20 May 2010

US$488.8 61.7 — Research and development

of games

IGG Korea Ltd. Korea

14 January 2015

KRW300,000,000 — 100 Operation of online games

株式会社

 G-BOX (IGG Japan)

Japan

5 February 2015

JPY40,000,000 — 100 Operation, research and

development of games

* Registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under the law of the PRC.

** Registered as limited liability companies under the law of the PRC.

# Fuzhou Tianmeng was legally owned by the Registered Shareholders. Fuzhou Tianji entered into the Structured 

Contracts with Fuzhou Tianmeng and its Registered Shareholders. As a result of the contractual arrangements, 

Fuzhou Tianmeng was ultimately controlled by Fuzhou Tianji, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued)

 Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

 The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, 

principally affected the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To 

give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRSs”, which include all International Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting 

Standards (“IAS”) and Interpretations) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and 

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. All IFRSs effective for the accounting period 

commencing from 1 January 2015, together with the relevant transitional provisions, have been adopted by the 

Group in the preparation of these financial statements throughout the year.

 They have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for non-redeemable convertible 

preferred shares and certain available-for-sale investments which have been measured at fair value. These 

financial statements are presented in United States Dollars (“US$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest 

thousand except when otherwise indicated.

 Basis of consolidation

 The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries 

(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2015. A subsidiary is an entity (including 

a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is 

exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect 

those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability to 

direct the relevant activities of the investee).

 When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, 

the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, 

including

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

 The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, using 

consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group 

obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

 The acquisition of subsidiaries under common control has been accounted for using the pooling of interests 

method. The pooling of interests method involves incorporating the financial statement items of the combining 

entities or businesses in which the common control combination occurs as if they had been combined from the 

date when the combining entities or businesses first came under the control of the controlling party. The net 

assets of the combining entities or businesses are combined using the existing book value.

 No amount is recognised in respect of goodwill or the excess of the acquirers’ interest in the net fair value 

of acquirees’ identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of investment at the time of 

common control combination.

 Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the parent of 

the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit 

balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions 

between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

 The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 

changes to one or more of the three elements of control described above. A change in the ownership interest 

of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

 If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities 

of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation 

differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair 

value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of 

components previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained 

profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related 

assets or liabilities.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

 The Group has adopted the following revised standards and a new interpretation for the first time for the current 

year’s financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions

Amendments to IFRS 8 in Annual

 Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle

Operating Segments

Amendments to IAS 16 in Annual

 Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle

Property, Plant and Equipment

Amendments to IAS 38 in Annual

 Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle

Intangible Assets

Amendments to IFRS 24 in Annual

 Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle

Related Party Disclosures

Amendment to IFRS 3 included in Annual

 Improvements 2011-2013 Cycle

Business Combinations

Amendment to IFRS 13 included in Annual

 Improvements 2011-2013 Cycle

Fair Value Measurement

Amendment to IAS 40 included in Annual

 Improvements 2011-2013 Cycle

Investment Property

 The adoption of the above revised standards has had no significant financial effect on these financial 

statements.

 Amendments to IFRS 19 apply to contributions from employees or third parties to defined benefit plans. The 

amendments simplify the accounting for contributions that are independent of the number of years of employee 

service, for example, employee contributions that are calculated according to a fixed percentage of salary. If the 

amount of the contributions is independent of the number of years of service, an entity is permitted to recognise 

such contributions as a reduction of service cost in the period in which the related service is rendered. The 

amendments have had no impact on the Group as the Group does not have defined benefit plans.

 The IFRS 8 Amendments clarify that an entity must disclose the judgements made by management in 

applying the aggregation criteria in IFRS 8, including a brief description of operating segments that have 

been aggregated and the economic characteristics used to assess whether the segments are similar. The 

amendments also clarify that a reconciliation of segment assets to total assets is only required to be disclosed 

if the reconciliation is reported to the chief operating decision maker. The amendments have had no impact on 

the Group.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

 The IAS 16 and IAS 38 Amendment clarify the treatment of gross carrying amount and accumulated 

depreciation or amortisation of revalued items of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. The 

amendments have had no impact on the Group as the Group does not apply the revaluation model for the 

measurement of these assets.

 IFRS 3 clarifies that joint arrangements but not joint ventures are outside the scope of IFRS 3 and the scope 

exception applies only to the accounting in the financial statements of the joint arrangement itself. The 

amendment is applied prospectively. The amendment has had no impact on the Group as the Company is not 

a joint arrangement and the Group did not form any joint arrangement during the year.

 The IFRS 13 Amendment clarifies that the portfolio exception in IFRS 13 can be applied not only to financial 

assets and financial liabilities, but also to other contracts within the scope of IFRS 9 or IAS 39 as applicable. 

The amendment is applied prospectively from the beginning of the annual period in which IFRS 13 was initially 

applied. The amendment has had no impact on the Group as the Group does not apply the portfolio exception 

in IFRS 13.

 The IAS 40 Amendment clarifies that IFRS 3, instead of the description of ancillary services in IAS 40 which 

differentiates between investment property and owner-occupied property, is used to determine if the transaction 

is a purchase of an asset or a business combination. The amendment is applied prospectively for acquisitions 

of investment properties. The amendment has had no impact on the Group as the as the Group does not 

acquire any investment properties during the year so this amendment is not applicable.

 In addition, the Company has adopted the amendments to the Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Stock 

Exchange relating to the disclosure of financial information with reference to the Hong Kong Companies 

Ordinance (Cap. 622) came into effect for the first time during the current financial year. The main impact to the 

financial statements is on the presentation and disclosure of certain information in the financial statements.
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3. ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

 The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective, 

in the financial statements.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments2

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an

 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture1

Amendments to IFRS 10,

 IFRS 12 and IAS 28

Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception1

Amendments to IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations1

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts3

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers2

Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative1

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable Methods of

 Depreciation and Amortisation1

Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 Agriculture: Bearer Plants1

Amendments to IAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements1

Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle Amendments to a number of IFRSs2

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
3 Effective for an entity that first adopts IFRSs for its annual financial statements beginning on or after 1 January 2016 

and therefore is not applicable to the Group

 Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be applicable to the Group is as follows:

 In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9, bringing together all phases of the financial 

instruments project to replace IAS 39 and all previous versions of IFRS 9. The standard introduces new 

requirements for classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. The Group expects to 

adopt IFRS 9 from 1 January 2018. During 2015, the Group performed a high-level assessment of the impact 

of the adoption of IFRS 9. This preliminary assessment is based on currently available information and may be 

subject to changes arising from further detailed analyses or additional reasonable and supportable information 

being made available to the Group in the future. The expected impacts arising from the adoption of IFRS 9 are 

summarised as follows:
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3. ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(Continued)

(a) Classification and measurement

 The Group does not expect that the adoption of IFRS 9 will have a significant impact on the classification 

and measurement of its financial assets. It expects to continue measuring at fair value all financial assets 

currently held at fair value. Equity investments currently held as available for sale will be measured 

at fair value through other comprehensive income as the investments are intended to be held for the 

foreseeable future and the Group expects to apply the option to present fair value changes in other 

comprehensive income. Gains and losses recorded in other comprehensive income for the equity 

investments cannot be recycled to profit or loss when the investments are derecognised.

(b) Impairment

 IFRS 9 requires an impairment on debt instruments recorded at amortised cost or at fair value through 

other comprehensive income, lease receivables, loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts 

that are not accounted for at fair value through profit or loss under IFRS 9, to be recorded based on an 

expected credit loss model either on a twelve-month basis or a lifetime basis. The Group expects to apply 

the simplified approach and record lifetime expected losses that are estimated based on the present 

value of all cash shortfalls over the remaining life of all of its trade and other receivables. The Group will 

perform a more detailed analysis which considers all reasonable and supportable information, including 

forward-looking elements, for estimation of expected credit losses on its trade and other receivables upon 

the adoption of IFRS 9.

 The amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 

10 and in IAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate 

or joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution 

of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction 

involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is 

recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that 

associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.



ANNUAL REPORT

93

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2015

3. ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(Continued)

(b) Impairment (Continued)

 The amendments to IFRS 11 require that an acquirer of an interest in a joint operation in which the 

activity of the joint operation constitutes a business must apply the relevant principles for business 

combinations in IFRS 3. The amendments also clarify that a previously held interest in a joint operation is 

not remeasured on the acquisition of an additional interest in the same joint operation while joint control 

is retained. In addition, a scope exclusion has been added to IFRS 11 to specify that the amendments 

do not apply when the parties sharing joint control, including the reporting entity, are under common 

control of the same ultimate controlling party. The amendments apply to both the acquisition of the initial 

interest in a joint operation and the acquisition of any additional interests in the same joint operation. The 

amendments are not expected to have any impact on the financial position or performance of the Group 

upon adoption on 1 January 2016.

 IFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with customers. 

Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity 

expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The principles in 

IFRS 15 provide a more structured approach for measuring and recognising revenue. The standard also 

introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements, including disaggregation of 

total revenue, information about performance obligations, changes in contract asset and liability account 

balances between periods and key judgements and estimates. The standard will supersede all current 

revenue recognition requirements under IFRSs.

 Amendments to IAS 1 include narrow-focus improvements in respect of the presentation and disclosure 

in financial statements. The amendments clarify:

(i) the materiality requirements in IAS 1;

(ii) that specific line items in the statement of profit or loss and the statement of financial position may 

be disaggregated;

(iii) that entities have flexibility as to the order in which they present the notes to financial statements; 

and

(iv) that the share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures accounted for using 

the equity method must be presented in aggregate as a single line item, and classified between 

those items that will or will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.

 Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements that apply when additional subtotals are presented 

in the statement of financial position and the statement of profit or loss. The Group expects to adopt the 

amendments from 1 January 2016. The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on 

the Group’s financial statements.
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3. ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(Continued)

(b) Impairment (Continued)

 Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 clarify the principle in IAS 16 and IAS 38 that revenue reflects a 

pattern of economic benefits that are generated from operating a business (of which the asset is part) 

rather than the economic benefits that are consumed through the use of the asset. As a result, a revenue-

based method cannot be used to depreciate property, plant and equipment and may only be used in very 

limited circumstances to amortise intangible assets. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. 

The amendments are not expected to have any impact on the financial position or performance of the 

Group upon adoption on 1 January 2016 as the Group has not used a revenue-based method for the 

calculation of depreciation of its non-current assets.

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 Investments in associates

 An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest of generally not less than 20% of the 

equity voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant influence is 

the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint 

control over those policies.

 The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at the 

Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses.

 The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income of associates is included 

in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively. 

In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group 

recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. 

Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated 

to the extent of the Group’s investments in the associates, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of 

an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates is included as part 

of the Group’s investments in associates.

 When an investment in an associate is classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Business combinations and goodwill

 Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred is 

measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets 

transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity 

interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the 

Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present ownership 

interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value 

or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling 

interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

 When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 

classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent 

conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of 

the acquiree.

 If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest is remeasured at its 

acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

 Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition 

date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair 

value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured and 

subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

 Fair value measurement

 The Group measures its non-redeemable convertible preferred shares, available-for-sale investments and 

derivative financial instruments at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that 

would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 

participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the 

transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or 

liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset 

or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or 

liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

 A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 

economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant 

that would use the asset in its highest and best use.



ANNUAL REPORT

96

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2015

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Fair value measurement (Continued)

 The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data 

are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 

unobservable inputs.

 All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised 

within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 

value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 – based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is unobservable

 For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group 

determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation 

(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each 

reporting period.

 Impairment of non-financial assets

 Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other 

than deferred tax assets and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s 

recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less 

costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows 

that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable 

amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

 An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In 

assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 

discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 

asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those 

expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

 An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is an indication that previously 

recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the 

recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is 

reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that 

asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any 

depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of 

such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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 Related parties

 A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person (i) has control or joint 

control over the Group; (ii) has significant influence over the Group; or (iii) is a member of the key 

management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group; or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow 

subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an 

entity related to the Group; and the sponsoring employers of the post-employment benefit plan;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a) (i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 

services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

 Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. 

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable 

costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

 Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains or losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign 

currency purchases of property, plant and equipment.

 Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs 

and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In 

situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the 

carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are 

required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful 

lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (Continued)

 Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and 

equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates (after taking account of 

the residual value) used for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease terms and 20%

Computer equipment 31.7%

Office equipment and furniture 31.7%

Motor vehicles 19%

 Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item is 

allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values, 

useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial 

year end.

 An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part initially recognised is derecognised 

upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on 

disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the 

difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

 Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

 Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets 

acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible 

assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently 

amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the 

intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset 

with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

 Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually either individually or at the 

cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset 

with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life assessment continues to 

be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a 

prospective basis.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

 Royalty fees

 Royalty fees represent upfront license fees paid for exclusive operation licenses of the Group’s licensed-in 

games. They are stated at cost less any impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis over 

the estimated useful life.

 Trademarks and domain names, software and copyright

 All these intangible assets are stated at cost less any impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line 

basis over their estimated useful lives of 3 to 5 years.

 Research and development costs

 All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as incurred.

 Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can 

demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, 

its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic 

benefits, the availability of resources to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure 

during the development. Product development expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed 

when incurred.

 Operating leases

 Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are 

accounted for as operating leases.

 Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of any incentives received from the 

lessor are charged to the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Investments and other financial assets

 Initial recognition and measurement

 Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, 

loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial investments, or as derivatives designated as hedging 

instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially, they are 

measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets, 

except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

 All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date 

that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or 

sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or 

convention in the marketplace.

 Subsequent measurement

 The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and financial assets 

designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as 

held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term. Derivatives, including separated 

embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging 

instruments as defined by IAS 39.

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair 

value with positive net changes in fair value presented as other income and gains and negative net changes 

in fair value presented as finance costs in the statement of profit or loss. These net fair value changes do not 

include any dividends or interest earned on these financial assets, which are recognised in accordance with the 

policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

 Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the 

date of initial recognition and only if the criteria in IAS 39 are satisfied.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)

 Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value 

if their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the host 

contracts are not held for trading or designated as at fair value through profit or loss. These embedded 

derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 

Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the 

cash flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair value through 

profit or loss category.

 Loans and receivables

 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 

quoted in an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured at amortised 

cost using the effective interest method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by 

taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral 

part of the effective interest rate less any allowance for impairment. The effective interest rate amortisation 

is included in other income and gains in the statement of profit or loss. The loss arising from impairment is 

recognised in the statement of profit or loss in finance costs for loans and in other expenses for receivables.

 Funds receivable

 Funds receivable represent balances due from third-party payment service providers for the cash collected from 

game players that purchased virtual currency. The Group carefully considers and monitors the creditworthiness 

of the third-party payment service providers.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

 Available-for-sale financial investments

 Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative financial assets in listed and unlisted equity 

investments and debt securities. Equity investments classified as available for sale are those which are 

neither classified as held for trading nor designated as at fair value through profit or loss. Debt securities in 

this category are those which are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and which may be sold in 

response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in market conditions.

 After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments are subsequently measured at fair value, with 

unrealised gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive income in the available-for-sale investment 

revaluation reserve until the investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised 

in the statement of profit or loss in other income, or until the investment is determined to be impaired, when 

the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve to the 

statement of profit or loss in other gains or losses. Interest and dividends earned whilst holding the available-

for-sale financial investments are reported as interest income and dividend income, respectively and are 

recognised in the statement of profit or loss as other income in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue 

recognition” below.

 When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be reliably measured because (a) the variability in the 

range of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities of the various 

estimates within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value, such investments 

are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

 The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell its available-for-sale financial assets in the near 

term are still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable to trade these financial assets due 

to inactive markets, the Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets if management has the ability and 

intention to hold the assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity.

 For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date 

of reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any previous gain or loss on that asset that has been 

recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of the investment using the effective 

interest rate. Any difference between the new amortised cost and the maturity amount is also amortised over 

the remaining life of the asset using the effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently determined to be 

impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to the statement of profit or loss.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Derecognition of financial assets

 A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) 

is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset, or has assumed an obligation 

to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” 

arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, 

or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, 

but has transferred control of the asset.

 When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-

through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of 

the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor 

transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the 

Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred 

asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group 

has retained.

 Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower 

of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be 

required to repay.

 Impairment of financial assets

 The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a financial 

asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events that occurred after 

the initial recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or 

the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications 

that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in 

interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation 

and observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as 

changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

 Financial assets carried at amortised cost

 For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses whether impairment exists individually 

for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually 

significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed 

financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit 

risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for 

impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective 

assessment of impairment.

 The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 

amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not yet 

been incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s 

original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).

 The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the loss is 

recognised in the statement or profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying 

amount and using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the 

impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any associated allowance are written off when there is no 

realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the Group.

 If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an 

event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is increased 

or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other 

expenses in the statement of profit or loss.

 Assets carried at cost

 If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument 

that is not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, or on a derivative asset that 

is linked to and must be settled by delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument, the amount of the loss is 

measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 

cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Impairment losses on 

these assets are not reversed.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

 Available-for-sale financial investments

 For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether 

there is objective evidence that an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

 If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of any 

principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in 

the statement of profit or loss, is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in the statement 

of profit or loss.

 In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale, objective evidence would include a significant 

or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment below its cost. “Significant” is evaluated against the 

original cost of the investment and “prolonged” against the period in which the fair value has been below 

its original cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference 

between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously 

recognised in the statement of profit or loss – is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in 

the statement of profit or loss. Impairment losses on equity instruments classified as available for sale are not 

reversed through the statement of profit or loss. Increases in their fair value after impairment are recognised 

directly in other comprehensive income.

 The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires judgement. In making this judgement, the 

Group evaluates, among other factors, the duration or extent to which the fair value of an investment is less 

than its cost.

 In the case of debt instruments classified as available for sale, impairment is assessed based on the same 

criteria as financial assets carried at amortised cost. However, the amount recorded for impairment is the 

cumulative loss measured as the difference between the amortised cost and the current fair value, less any 

impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Future interest 

income continues to be accrued based on the reduced carrying amount of the asset using the rate of interest 

used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. The interest income is 

recorded as part of finance income. Impairment losses on debt instruments are reversed through the statement 

of profit or loss if the subsequent increase in fair value of the instruments can be objectively related to an event 

occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Financial liabilities

 Initial recognition and measurement

 Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, 

loans and borrowings, or as derivative designated as hedging instruments in effective hedges, as appropriate.

 All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of 

directly attributable transaction costs.

 The Group’s financial liabilities include accounts payable, financial liabilities included in other payables and 

accruals, and non-redeemable convertible preferred shares.

 Subsequent measurement

 The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial 

liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

 Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of repurchasing in 

the near term. This category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that are 

not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by IAS 39. Separated embedded 

derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. 

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. The net fair 

value gain or loss recognised in the statement of profit or loss does not include any interest charged on these 

financial liabilities.

 Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss are designated at 

the date of initial recognition and only if the criteria in IAS 39 are satisfied.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Financial liabilities (Continued)

 Loans and borrowings

 After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, 

using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case 

they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are 

derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

 Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs 

that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in 

finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

 Non-redeemable convertible preferred shares

 The non-redeemable convertible preferred shares were designated as at fair value through profit or loss on 

initial recognition.

 A financial liability may be designated as at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition if:

• such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that 

would otherwise arise; or

• the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is 

managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s 

documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided 

internally on that basis; or

• it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and IAS 39 permits the entire 

combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

 The non-redeemable convertible preferred shares with embedded derivatives whose economic risks and 

characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contract (the liability component) as a whole are 

designated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition.

 Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the non-redeemable convertible preferred shares 

designated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in the statement 

of profit or loss.

 At the end of the reporting period subsequent to initial recognition, the non-redeemable convertible preferred 

shares are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value arising on re-measurement recognised directly in 

the statement of profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Derecognition of financial liabilities

 A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

 When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, 

or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated 

as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the 

respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

 Offsetting of financial instruments

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial 

position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention 

to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

 Derivative financial instruments

 Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

 The Group purchases derivative financial instruments, such as warrants to be settled with other entity’s 

common stock. Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which 

a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as 

assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

 The fair value of commodity purchase contracts that meet the definition of a derivative as defined in IAS 39 is 

recognised in the statement of profit or loss as cost of sales. Commodity contracts that are entered into and 

continue to be held for the purpose of the receipt or delivery of a non-financial item in accordance with the 

Group’s expected purchase, sale or usage requirements are held at cost.

 Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives are taken directly to the statement of profit 

or loss.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Derivative financial instruments (Continued)

 Current versus non-current classification

 Derivative instruments that are not designated as effective hedging instruments are classified as current or 

non-current or separated into current and non-current portions based on an assessment of the facts and 

circumstances (i.e., the underlying contracted cash flows).

• Where the Group expects to hold a derivative as an economic hedge (and does not apply hedge 

accounting) for a period beyond 12 months after the end of the reporting period, the derivative is classified 

as non-current (or separated into current and non-current portions) consistently with the classification of 

the underlying item.

• Embedded derivatives that are not closely related to the host contract are classified consistently with the 

cash flows of the host contract.

• Derivative instruments that are designated as, and are effective hedging instruments, are classified 

consistently with the classification of the underlying hedged item. The derivative instruments are 

separated into current portions and non-current portions only if a reliable allocation can be made.

 Cash and cash equivalents

 For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on 

hand and demand deposits which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject 

to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months when 

acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash 

management.

 For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash 

on hand and at banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

 Provisions

 A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past 

event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided that 

a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

 When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value at the 

end of each reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The 

increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs 

in the statement of profit or loss.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Income tax

 Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is 

recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

 Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the 

taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 

the end of each reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the 

jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

 Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of each reporting 

period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 

purposes.

 Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

• when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that 

is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor 

taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and an associate, 

where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the 

temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

 Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax 

credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised, to the extent that it is probable that 

taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused 

tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

• when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial 

recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of 

the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and an 

associate, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary 

differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the 

temporary differences can be utilised.



ANNUAL REPORT

111

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2015

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Income tax (Continued)

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting period and reduced to 

the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the 

deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of the reporting 

period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 

available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when 

the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted by the end of each reporting period.

 Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current 

tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same 

taxation authority.

 Government grants

 Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant 

will be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense 

item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to 

compensate, are expensed. Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income 

account and is released to the statement of profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by 

equal annual instalments.
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 Revenue recognition

 Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the 

revenue can be measured reliably.

(a) Online game revenue

 The Group operates its mobile, browser and client-based online games that allow players to play for free. 

Players can purchase virtual currency to obtain in-game items and premium features, commonly known 

as virtual items, to enhance their game-playing experience. Players can pay for virtual currency using 

different payment platforms such as Google Play, Apple App Store, Facebook Payments, credit cards 

and PayPal. The third-party payment platforms are entitled to the relevant service fees which are withheld 

and deducted from the gross proceeds of virtual currency collected from the players, with the net amounts 

remitted to the Group. The consideration received for the purchase of the virtual currency or virtual items 

is non-refundable and the related contracts are non-cancellable. Such consideration received is initially 

included in deferred revenue on the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group recognises 

revenue on a gross basis and treats the relevant service fees as cost of sales in the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss.

 The virtual items are considered value-added services and rendered over a pre-specified period 

or throughout the whole game life. The revenue from these virtual items is recognised either upon 

consumption or ratably over the practical usage period predetermined in the game or throughout the 

estimated user life of paying players as appropriate. Future usage patterns may differ from the historical 

usage patterns on which the Group’s revenue recognition policy is based. The Group monitors the 

operational statistics and usage patterns of the virtual items. Once virtual currency is charged to a player’s 

personal online game account, it can be used by the player until the specific game has been closed 

down. Unused balance of virtual currency is recognised as revenue when the specific game has been 

closed down or the players’ account has been inactive for 360 consecutive days, whichever is earlier. 

The Group determines that the likelihood that the Group would provide further online game service with 

respect to the players whose accounts have been inactive for 360 consecutive days is remote.

 The Group is susceptible to chargeback claims, in which the players report to the payment platforms the 

purchase of virtual currency or virtual items as suspicious or fraudulent activity. The payment platforms 

may not substantially review the claim and will normally refund the credit card. The Group estimates 

chargebacks from third-party payment processors to account for potential future chargebacks based on 

historical data and record such amounts as a reduction of revenue.
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 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(b) Joint operation revenue

 When the Group’s games are jointly operated through the websites of third-party joint operators, the 

Group views the third-party joint operators as its customers and recognises revenue on a net basis as 

they act as agents in the arrangement. The Group does not have the primary responsibility for fulfilment 

and acceptability of the game services. The Company has been given access to third-party joint 

operators’ platforms to monitor monthly sales activities for the purpose of estimating revenue.

 Accordingly, revenue from such arrangement is recognised in the monthly game players purchase of the 

Group’s virtual currency. The amount of revenue is measured based on the portion to which the Company 

is entitled and the amount of game players’ purchase of the Group’s virtual currency through the joint 

operators’ websites.

(c) Other revenue

• Mobile advertising revenue

 The Group also provides performance-based mobile advertising service for app publishers. The 

Group introduces individual users to its advertisers mainly through its performance based pay-for-

click application and charges advertisers on a per action basis when the users complete certain 

tasks such as completion of installation of the advertisers’ apps. Revenue from performance based 

advertising is primarily recognised on a per action basis when the users complete the action.

• Licensing revenue

 The Group receives royalty income from third-party licensees in exchange for exclusive operation 

of the Group’s self-developed games in certain regions and providing related technical support. 

The royalty fees include an upfront fee and a monthly fee, which is determined based on an 

agreed percentage of virtual currency purchased by the players with accounts registered with the 

third parties. The upfront fee is recognised ratably over the contracted licence period. The Group 

is unable to reliably estimate the monthly royalty fee because it has no access to the data of 

players’ purchase activity conducted through the licensees. Accordingly, the monthly royalty fee is 

recognised when the licensees confirm their sales activities for the period.
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 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(d) Interest income

 Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate 

that discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument to the 

net carrying amount of the financial asset.

 Share-based payments

 The Company operates the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, Post-IPO Share Option Scheme I and Share 

Award Scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to 

the success of the Group’s operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in 

the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render services as consideration for equity instruments 

(“equity-settled transactions”).

 The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date 

at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model, further 

details of which are given in note 27 to the financial statements.

 The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognized in employee benefit expense, together with a 

corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are 

fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of the reporting period 

until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate 

of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of profit or 

loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end 

of that period.

 Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account when determining the grant date 

fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s best 

estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are 

reflected within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without an associated 

service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the 

fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or 

performance conditions.

 For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance and/or service conditions have not 

been met, no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, which are 

treated as vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other 

performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Share-based payments (Continued)

 Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the 

terms had not been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised 

for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial 

to the employee as measured at the date of modification.

 Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and 

any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where non-

vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new award 

is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, 

the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in 

the previous paragraph.

 The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings 

per share.

 Shares held for the Share Award Scheme

 As disclosed in note 27 to the financial statements, the Group has set up the Share Award Scheme Trust for 

the Share Award Scheme, where the Share Award Scheme Trust purchases shares issued by the Group, the 

consideration paid by the Company, including any directly attributable incremental costs, is presented as “Shares 

held for Share Award Scheme” and deducted from the Group’s equity.

 Other employee benefits

 Pension scheme — Mainland China

 The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries, which operate in Mainland China, are required to participate in 

a central pension scheme operated by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required to 

contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are 

charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central 

pension scheme.

 Pension scheme — non-China

 The Group contributes on a monthly basis to various defined contribution plans organised by the relevant 

governmental authorities in various areas other than Mainland China. The Group’s liability in respect of these 

plans is limited to the contributions payable at the end of each reporting period. Contributions to these plans 

are expensed as incurred.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Dividends

 Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. 

In prior years, final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a separate allocation of retained profits 

within the equity section of the consolidated statement of financial position, until they have been approved by 

the shareholders in a general meeting. Following the implementation of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance 

(Cap. 622), proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

 Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the Company’s memorandum and 

articles of association grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim 

dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

 Foreign currencies

 These financial statements are presented in United States dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. 

Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements 

of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the 

entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates 

of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the 

functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement 

or translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

 Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit 

or loss with the exception of monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of the Group’s net 

investment is disposed of, at which time the cumulative amount is reclassified to the statement of profit or loss. 

Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on those monetary items are also recorded in 

other comprehensive income.

 Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 

exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign 

currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or 

loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of 

the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain 

or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive 

income or profit or loss, respectively).
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

 Foreign currencies (Continued)

 The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and associates are currencies other than the United 

States dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into 

United States dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their statements of 

profit or loss are translated into United States dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

 The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the 

exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive 

income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

 Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign 

operation and translated at the closing rate.

 For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are 

translated into United States dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently 

recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into United States 

dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

 The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates 

and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their 

accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions 

and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the 

assets or liabilities affected in the future.

 Judgement

 In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, 

apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 

financial statements:

 Tax

 Determining income tax provisions requires the Group to make judgements on the future tax treatment 

of certain transactions. The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of transactions in accordance with 

prevailing tax regulations and makes tax provisions accordingly.

 The Group’s determination as to whether to accrue for deferred tax for withholding taxes from the distribution of 

dividends from the subsidiaries in the PRC according to the relevant tax jurisdictions is subject to judgement on 

the timing of the payment of the dividend, where the Group considers that if it is probable that the profits of the 

subsidiaries in the PRC will not be distributed in the foreseeable future, no deferred tax for withholding taxes is 

provided.

 Estimates of income tax and sales tax

 The Group is subject to taxation in various jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in determining the 

amount of provision for taxation and the timing of payment of the related taxation. Where the final tax outcome 

is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences would impact on the income and 

deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination was made.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

 Estimation uncertainty

 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 

reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 

and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

 Fair value of share-based compensation expenses

 As mentioned in note 27, the Group has granted share options and awarded shares to its employees. The 

directors have used the binominal model to determine the fair value of the options granted, which is to be 

expensed over the vesting period. Significant judgement on parameters, such as risk-free rate, dividend yield, 

expected volatility and expected life of options, is required to be made by the directors in applying the binomial 

model.

 The grant of equity instruments is conditional upon satisfying specified performance and/or service vesting 

conditions. Judgement is required to take into account the vesting conditions and adjust the number of equity 

instruments included in the measurement of share-based compensation costs.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

 Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

 Online game revenue recognition

(a) Estimation of the sales value of unutilised virtual items

 Online game revenue is recognised based on the actual consumption of the virtual items converted from 

virtual currency. Income received in respect of unutilised virtual items is recognised as deferred revenue. 

As to the amount of deferred revenue in respect of unutilised virtual items, management’s estimation is 

required in determining the average sales value of those unutilised virtual items because the Company is 

unable to track the sales value of each individual unutilised virtual item.

 A number of promotional activities offering game players volume discounts of virtual currency were 

conducted throughout the reporting period. In assessing the amount of the average sales value for the 

virtual currency which accordingly will affect the value of unutilised virtual items, management considers 

the discount rate offered in different promotional activities and the income received during the period 

when such activities were conducted. Based on these factors, management determines an average 

discount rate which gives rise to the best estimate of the discount given to virtual currency sold during 

the reporting period. In addition, a number of unutilised virtual items were granted free of charge by 

completing certain tasks or entering into lucky draws within the games. The portion of unutilised virtual 

items obtained within the games by means other than paying with virtual currency is estimated based on 

the Company’s statistics. The average sales value of each virtual item paid with virtual currency is then 

determined by factoring the average discount rate to the face value of the virtual currency and standard 

price of the virtual items measured in virtual currency.

(b) Estimation of the user life of paying players

 The Group recognises revenue from the sales of virtual items and virtual currency ratably over the 

estimated average user life of paying players for the applicable games in which the Group is not able to 

track the consumption of virtual items. Future paying player usage patterns and behaviour may differ from 

the historical usage patterns and therefore the estimated average user life of paying players may change 

in the future.

 The Group will continue to monitor the estimation used in determining the sales value of virtual items and 

the average user life of paying players, which may differ from the historical period, and any change in the 

estimate may result in the revenue being recognised on a different basis to that in prior periods.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

 Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

 Impairment of non-financial assets

 The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of 

each reporting period. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the 

carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-

generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and 

its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding 

sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less incremental 

costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate 

the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in 

order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

 The Group was principally engaged in the development and operation of online games in the international 

market.

 IFRS 8 Operating Segments requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about 

components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker in order to allocate 

resources to segments and to assess their performance. The information reported to the directors of the 

Company, who are the chief operating decision-makers, for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment 

of performance does not contain separate profit or loss information for the development and operation of 

online games and the directors reviewed the financial results of the Group as a whole reported under IFRSs. 

Therefore, no further information about the operating segment is presented.
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6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

 Geographical information

(a) Revenue from external customers based on the IP locations of the game players

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

North America 75,330 78,021

Europe 63,464 56,258

Asia 51,564 58,259

Oceania 6,074 6,989

South America 4,525 4,014

Africa 1,589 1,071
  

202,546 204,612
  

(b) Non-current assets

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

PRC 3,873 1,075

North America 1,206 1,577

Singapore 143 218

Others 157 26
  

5,379 2,896
  

 The non-current asset information above is based on the locations of the assets and excludes financial 

instruments, intangible assets, interest in an associate and deferred tax assets.

 Information about major customers

 No revenue from a single external customer amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s revenue during the 

financial periods presented.
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7. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

 Revenue represents the services rendered after allowances for chargebacks and deduction of value-added tax.

 An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows:

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Revenue

Online game revenue 197,072 193,859

Joint operation revenue 3,594 8,088

Others 1,880 2,665
  

202,546 204,612
  

Other income and gains

Dividend income from available-for-sale investments 460 —

Government grants* 258 227

Bank interest income 578 557

Fair value gain, net:

 Available-for-sale investments (transfer from equity on disposal) — 3,199

Others 82 127
  

1,378 4,110
  

* Government grants were received from the government of the PRC mainly for subsidising the staff training costs 

incurred by the Group for its service outsourcing and technology export businesses. There are no unfulfilled conditions 

or contingencies relating to the grants.
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8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

 The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2015 2014

Notes US$’000 US$’000

Channel cost 53,711 50,785

Royalty fee 1,421 1,781

Depreciation 14 1,498 1,025

Amortisation of other intangible assets 15 420 389

Minimum lease payments under operating leases 6,009 3,009

Auditors’ remuneration

 – audit service 500 517

 – non-audit service 738 186
  

1,238 703
  

Employee benefit expense (including directors’ and

 chief executive’s remuneration, note 9):

 Salaries and wages 25,121 19,876

 Staff welfare expenses 1,023 1,176

 Equity-settled share compensation costs 2,695 2,269

 Pension scheme contributions 1,024 917

Foreign exchange loss 1,504 280

Fair value loss/(gain), net

 – Available-for-sale investments

   (transfer from equity on disposal) 18 (67) (3,199)

Impairment loss on available-for-sale investments 18 508 —

Impairment of interest in associates 17 4,294 —

Loss on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 88 3

Bank interest income 7 (578) (557)

Dividend income from available-for-sale investments 7 (460) —

Government grants 7 (258) (227)
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION

(1) Directors and chief executive

 Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, 

section 383(1) (a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies 

(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

Group

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Fees 272 240
  

Other emoluments:

 Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 669 339

 Equity-settled share compensation expense 501 287

 Performance related bonuses* 254 28

 Pension scheme contributions 38 12
  

1,462 666
  

1,734 906
  

* Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to bonus payments which are determined as a 

percentage of the profit after tax of the Group.
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION (Continued)

(1) Directors and chief executive (Continued)

(a) Independent non-executive directors

 The remuneration paid to independent non-executive directors during the year was as follows:

Fees

Salaries,

 allowances

and benefits

in kind

Performance

related

bonuses

Equity-

settled share

compensation

expense

Pension

scheme

contributions

Total

remuneration

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2015

Dr. Horn Kee Leong 40 — — 26 — 66

Mr. Dajian Yu 20 — — 26 — 46

Ms. Zhao Lu 20 — — 26 — 46
      

80 — — 78 — 158
      

Fees

Salaries,

allowances

and benefits

in kind

Performance

related

bonuses

Equity-

settled share

compensation

expense

Pension

scheme

contributions

Total

remuneration

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2014

Dr. Horn Kee Leong 40 — — 27 — 67

Mr. Dajian Yu 20 — — 27 — 47

Ms. Zhao Lu 20 — — 27 — 47
      

80 — — 81 — 161
      

 There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-executive directors during the year 

(2014: Nil).
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION (Continued)

(1) Directors and chief executive (Continued)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and the chief executive

Fees

Salaries,

 allowances

and benefits

in kind

Performance

related

bonuses#

Equity-

settled share

compensation

expense

Pension

scheme

contributions

Total

remuneration

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2015

Executive directors

Mr. Zongjian Cai* 60 205 22 28 6 321

Mr. Yuan Xu** 20 245 129 73 16 483

Mr. Hong Zhang** 20 180 101 281 16 598
      

100 630 252 382 38 1,402
      

Non-executive directors

Mr. Xiaojun Li*** 20 — — — — 20

Mr. Kee Lock Chua*** 12 — — — — 12

Mr. Yuan Chi**** 60 39 2 41 — 142
      

92 39 2 41 — 174
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION (Continued)

(1) Directors and chief executive (Continued)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors and the chief executive (Continued)

Fees

Salaries, 

allowances

and benefits

in kind

Performance

related

bonuses

Equity-

settled share

compensation

expense

Pension

scheme

contributions

Total

remuneration

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2014

Executive directors

Mr. Zongjian Cai 60 207 17 89 6 379

Mr. Yuan Chi 60 132 11 41 6 250
      

120 339 28 130 12 629
      

Non-executive directors

Mr. Xiaojun Li 20 — — 38 — 58

Mr. Kee Lock Chua 20 — — 38 — 58
      

40 — — 76 — 116
      

* Mr. Zongjian Cai is the chief executive of the Group.

** Mr. Yuan Xu and Mr. Hong Zhang are appointed as executive directors on August 21, 2015.

*** Mr. Xiaojun Li resigned on August 4, 2015 and Mr. Kee Lock Chua resigned on December 31, 2015.

**** Mr. Yuan Chi was redesignated as a non-executive Director on 21 August 2015.

# Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to bonus payments which are determined as a 

percentage of the profit after tax of the Group.

 There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any 

remuneration during the year.
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION (Continued)

(2) Senior management

 Senior management includes directors, chief executive, president and other senior executives. The 

aggregate compensation paid/payable to senior management for employee services excluding the 

directors and the chief executive whose details have been reflected in note 9 (1) is as follows:

Group

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 354 619

Equity-settled share compensation expense 42 146

Performance related bonuses* 165 341

Pension scheme contributions 4 61
  

565 1,167
  

* Certain senior management of the Company are entitled to bonus payments which are determined as a 

percentage of the profit after tax of the Group.
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year include four directors (2014: Nil), details of whose 

remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration of the one (2014: remaining five) highest 

paid employee who are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 266 883

Performance related bonuses 159 1,913

Equity-settled share option expense 42 190

Pension scheme contributions — 108
  

467 3,094
  

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the 

following bands is as follows:

Number of employees

2015 2014

US$100,001 to US$300,000 — —

US$300,001 to US$500,000 1 2

US$500,001 to US$700,000 — 2

US$700,001 to US$800,000 — 1
  

1 5
  

During the year and in prior years, share options and awarded shares were granted to the non-director and 

non-chief executive, highest paid employees in respect of their services to the Group, further details of which 

are included in the disclosures in note 27 to the financial statements. The fair value of such options and 

awarded shares, which have been recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the vesting period, was 

determined as at the date of grant and the amount included in the financial statements for the current year is 

included in the above non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees’ remuneration disclosures.
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11. INCOME TAX

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability under the 

Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and accordingly is not subject to income tax.

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in 

which the Group operates.

IGG Singapore is subject to the prevailing corporate tax rate of 17% in Singapore and is entitled to a 

preferential tax rate of 5% on qualifying income derived during the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: 5%).

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group had no assessable profits derived from or 

earned in Hong Kong during the year.

Under the relevant income tax law, the PRC subsidiaries are subject to income tax at a statutory rate of 25% 

for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: 25%) on their respective taxable income. Fuzhou Tianmeng was 

certified as a Software Enterprise and is entitled to 50% reduction in taxation for the year ended 31 December 

2015. Fuzhou Tianji was certified as Software Enterprise and is exempted from income tax for two years 

starting from the first year in which it generate taxable profit, followed by a 50% reduction for the next three 

years. In the year ended 31 December 2014, Fuzhou Tianji started generating taxable profit and therefore is 

exempted from income tax for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014. 

IGG US, a subsidiary of the Company in the United States, is subject to federal income tax at gradual rates 

ranging from 15% to 39%. In addition, IGG US is also subject to California state income tax at a rate of 8.84%.

IGG Philippines was certified by and registered with Philippines Board of Investment (BOI), granting a 4-year 

income tax holiday for customer service income starting from 28 March, 2014. In the year ended 31 December 

2015, provision for IGG Philippines’ corporate income tax was from advertisement income which was not 

exempted.

IGG CAD and Tapcash Canada, subsidiaries of the Company, were registered in Canada. In accordance with 

Canada tax laws, the federal income tax rate is 11% or 15%. In addition, the British Columbia provincial income 

tax rate is 2.5% or 11%.

IGG Korea Ltd., a subsidiary of the Company registered in Korea, is subject to progressive corporate income 

tax rates ranging from 10% to 22%.
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11. INCOME TAX (Continued)

IGG Japan, a subsidiary of the Company registered in Japan, is subject to the corporate income tax rate at 

25.5%.No provision for Japan corporate income tax has been made as IGG Japan has no taxable income 

earned during the year.

Group

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Current year provision:

 Singapore 3,288 4,657

 Canada 197 56

 US 93 49

 Korea 2 —

 Philippines 1 —

 PRC — 2
  

Subtotal of current tax 3,581 4,764
  

Deferred tax (note 24):

 PRC 53 (1)

 US 50 44

 Singapore 3 416
  

Subtotal of deferred tax 106 459
  

Total tax charge for the year 3,687 5,223
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11. INCOME TAX (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, IGG Singapore was the headquarter of the Group where 

it recorded majority of the Group’s revenue. A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax 

at IGG Singapore’s statutory tax rate to the tax expense at the effective tax rate, and a reconciliation of the 

applicable rate (i.e., IGG Singapore’s statutory tax rate) to the effective tax rate, are as follows:

2015 2014

US$’000 % US$’000 %

Profit before tax 44,935 71,615
  

Tax at the applicable tax rate 7,639 17.0 12,175 17.0

Effect in tax rates for different

 tax jurisdictions or enacted

 by local authority 2,920 6.5 530 0.7

Effect of tax holidays applicable to

 the subsidiaries (6,550) (14.5) (8,059) (11.3)

Tax losses not recognised 653 1.5 673 0.9

Income not subject to tax (7) (0.1) (62) (0.1)

Expenses not deductible for tax 63 0.1 333 0.5

Super deduction for qualified

 spending under Productivity

 and Innovation Credit and

 qualified research and

 development costs (1,031) (2.3) (367) (0.5)
    

Tax charge at the Group’s

 effective rate 3,687 8.2 5,223 7.2
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12. DIVIDENDS

2015 2014

Notes US$’000 US$’000

Proposed and paid 2014 interim dividend

 – HK5.6 cents per ordinary share (a) — 9,885

Proposed and paid 2014 second interim dividend

 – HK5.7 cents per ordinary share (b) 10,213 —

Proposed and paid 2014 special dividend

 – HK11.3 cents per ordinary share (b) 20,247 —

Proposed and paid 2015 interim dividend

 – HK4.0 cents per ordinary share (c) 7,200 —

Declared 2015 second interim dividend

 – HK2.8 cents per ordinary share (d) 4,860 —

Declared 2015 special dividend

 – HK14.2 cents per ordinary share (d) 25,140 —
  

67,660 9,885
  

(a) At a board meeting held on 8 August 2014, the directors declared an interim dividend of HK5.6 cents per ordinary 

share, totaling HK$76,226,023 (equivalent to approximately US$9,885,000) for the six months ended 30 June 2014, 

which was paid on 5 September 2014.

(b) At the board meeting held on 9 March 2015, the directors declared the second interim dividend of HK5.7 cents per 

ordinary share for the six months from 1 July to 31 December 2014 and a special dividend of HK11.3 cents per 

ordinary share, totaling HK$236,065,080 (equivalent to approximately US$30,460,010) which was subsequently paid 

on 30 April 2015.

(c) At the board meeting held on 27 August 2015, the directors declared the interim dividend of HK4.0 cents per ordinary 

share for the six months from 1 January to 30 June 2015, amount to HK$56,962,500 (equivalent to approximately 

US$7,200,000) which was subsequently paid on 30 September 2015.

(d) At the board meeting held on 25 March 2016, the directors declared the second interim dividend of HK2.8 cents 

per ordinary share for the six months from 1 July to 31 December 2015 and a special dividend of HK14.2 cents per 

ordinary share, totaling HK$233,909,372 (equivalent to approximately US$30,000,000).
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

For the purpose of calculating earnings per share, the numbers of ordinary shares outstanding during the years 

ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 have been adjusted retroactively as a result of the Shares Subdivision 

defined in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts is based on the respective earnings attributable to 

ordinary equity holders of the parent, and the weighted average numbers of ordinary shares in issue.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the profit for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 

2014 attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent. The weighted average number of ordinary shares 

used in the calculation is the number of ordinary shares in issue during the years ended 31 December 2015 

and 2014, as used in the basic earnings per share calculation, and the weighted average number of ordinary 

shares assumed to have been issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise of all dilutive potential 

ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based on:

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Earnings

Earnings attributable to ordinary equity holders of

 the parent used in the basic and diluted earnings per

 share calculations 41,492 66,373
  

Shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue

 during the year used in the basic earnings per share calculation 1,382,435,492 1,360,444,256

Effect of dilution – weighted average number of ordinary shares:

Share options 45,807,846 74,919,612

Awarded shares 3,020,601 299,642
  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in

 the diluted earnings per share calculation 1,431,263,939 1,435,663,510
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold

improvements

Computer

equipment

Office

equipment

and furniture

Motor

vehicles Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2015

At 31 December 2014 and

 at 1 January 2015:

Cost 150 7,277 296 448 8,171

Accumulated depreciation (46) (4,864) (259) (106) (5,275)
     

Net carrying amount 104 2,413 37 342 2,896
     

At 1 January 2015, net of

 accumulated depreciation 104 2,413 37 342 2,896

Additions 2,599 827 629 82 4,137

Acquisition of a subsidiary — 2 — — 2

Disposals — (94) (1) — (95)

Depreciation provided during

 the year (93) (1,197) (125) (83) (1,498)

Exchange realignment (9) (36) (3) (15) (63)
     

At 31 December 2015,

 net of accumulated 

 depreciation 2,601 1,915 537 326 5,379
     

At 31 December 2015:

Cost 2,749 8,012 924 530 12,215

Accumulated depreciation (148) (6,097) (387) (204) (6,836)
     

Net carrying amount 2,601 1,915 537 326 5,379
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Leasehold

improvements

Computer

equipment

Office

equipment

and furniture

Motor

vehicles Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2014

At 31 December 2013 and

 at 1 January 2014:

Cost 52 5,510 280 67 5,909

Accumulated depreciation (11) (3,923) (237) (64) (4,235)
     

Net carrying amount 41 1,587 43 3 1,674
     

At 1 January 2014,

 net of accumulated

 depreciation 41 1,587 43 3 1,674

Additions 98 1,823 25 381 2,327

Disposals — (56) (9) — (65)

Depreciation provided during

 the year (35) (936) (12) (42) (1,025)

Exchange realignment — (5) (10) — (15)
     

At 31 December 2014,

 net of accumulated 

 depreciation 104 2,413 37 342 2,896
     

At 31 December 2014:

Cost 150 7,277 296 448 8,171

Accumulated depreciation (46) (4,864) (259) (106) (5,275)
     

Net carrying amount 104 2,413 37 342 2,896
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15. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Trademarks

and domain

names Software Copyright Royalty fees Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2015

At 1 January 2015,

 net of accumulated 

 amortisation 237 191 6 471 905

Additions 65 238 9 — 312

Acquisition of a subsidiary — 118 — — 118

Amortisation provided during

 the year (108) (126) (7) (179) (420)

Exchange realignment (2) (10) — — (12)
     

At 31 December 2015 192 411 8 292 903
     

At 31 December 2015:

Cost 526 1,528 38 928 3,020

Accumulated amortisation (334) (1,117) (30) (636) (2,117)
     

Net carrying amount 192 411 8 292 903
     

2014

At 1 January 2014,

 net of accumulated 

 amortisation 42 53 2 — 97

Additions 253 562 7 650 1,472

Amortisation provided during

 the year (59) (148) (3) (179) (389)

Exchange realignment 1 (276) — — (275)
     

At 31 December 2014 237 191 6 471 905
     

At 31 December 2014:

Cost 461 1,172 31 928 2,592

Accumulated amortisation (224) (981) (25) (457) (1,687)
     

Net carrying amount 237 191 6 471 905
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16. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Other non-current assets mainly represent housing loans to employee, prepayments for games outsourcing 

development fee, revenue sharing fee for licensing games and the balance was either expected to be collected 

or to which the service related was expected to be provided beyond one year.

17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Investment in an associate

 – Goodwill on acquisition in Nerd Kingdom, Inc. 603 603

 – Non-redeemable convertible preferred shares 10,220 2,720

 – Convertible promissory note 1,000 —

 – Unlisted shares in 199 Digital Co., Ltd. 29 —
  

11,852 3,323

 – Transfer to subsidiary (note 29) (7,558) —

 – Provision of impairment for interest in Nerd Kingdom, Inc. (4,265) —

 – Provision for impairment for interest in 199 Digital Co., Ltd (29) —
  

— 3,323
  

As at 31 December 2014, the Group was entitled to certain warrants associated with its interest in Nerd 

Kingdom, Inc.. The directors of the Company considered that the fair values of such warrants were insignificant 

and accordingly, the Group did not separately recognise these warrants in the consolidated financial 

statements.

The provision for impairment related to the Company’s investment in Nerd Kingdom, Inc. (“NK”) amounted 

to US$4,265,000. The recoverable amount of the investment in Nerd Kingdom, Inc. of US$4,265,000 has 

been determined based on a value-in-use calculation using the Company’s share of the present value of the 

estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by the associate from financial budgets covering a six-

year period. The projected cash flows have been updated to reflect the current financial performance of Nerd 

Kingdom, Inc., and the key assumptions adopted for growth rates and discount rates used in the value-in-use 

calculations are based on management’s best estimates. Growth rates are determined by considering both 

internal and external factors. The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 29% (2014: 30%). 

As a result of this analysis, management has recognised an impairment charge of US$4,265,000 during the 

year ended 31 December 2015. The impairment charge is recorded within other expenses in the statement of 

profit or loss.
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17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Particulars of the associate are as follows:

Name

Issued

ordinary

shares held

Place of

incorporation/

registration

and business

Percentage of

ownership

interest in the

ordinary

shares

attributable

to the Group Principal activities

Nerd Kingdom, Inc.* Ordinary shares ** the United States 61.7% Research and

development of

online games

* Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

** The Group also held various non-redeemable convertible preferred shares and warrants exercisable into ordinary 

shares issued by Nerd Kingdom, Inc.

On 22 December 2014, the Group had acquired an associate, Nerd Kingdom, Inc., from independent third 

parties, the aggregate fair value of liabilities exceeded that of assets attributable to the interests acquired by 

the Group. The total consideration paid is US$603,000. The investment costs of Nerd Kingdom, Inc. included 

goodwill of approximately US$603,000. The Group does not have contractual right to share additional losses. 

The Group holds 61.70% of ordinary shares of Nerd Kingdom, Inc. and has the right to appoint two directors 

out of five directors in the board before 13 November 2015 in accordance with the Article of Incorporation. The 

Group does not have any vote-in-concert arrangement with other shareholders who are entitled to elect the 

other three (3) director. Therefore, Nerd Kingdom, Inc. was classified as an associate of the Group before 13 

November 2015.

Nerd Kingdom, Inc., which is considered as a material associate of the Group, is a strategic partner of the 

Group engaged in the research and development of online games and is accounted for using the equity 

method.
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17. INTERESTS IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information of Nerd Kingdom, Inc. adjusted for 

any differences in accounting policies, and reconciled to the carrying amount in the consolidated financial 

statements:

2014

US$’000

Current assets 1,287

Non-current assets 133

Goodwill on acquisition of the associate 603

Non-redeemable convertible preferred shares (3,319)
 

Net deficits (1,296)
 

Net deficits, excluding goodwill (1,899)

Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in the associate:

Proportion of the Group’s ownership 61.7%

Group’s share of net assets of the associate, excluding goodwill —

Goodwill on acquisition 603

Non-redeemable convertible preferred shares 2,720
 

Carrying amount of the investment 3,323
 

On 13 November 2015, Nerd Kingdom, Inc. has become a subsidiary of the Group as the Group holds 61.7% 

of existing ordinary shares and is entitled to appoint three (3) directors out of five (5) directors in the board of 

Nerd Kingdom, Inc..



ANNUAL REPORT

142

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2015

18. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Listed equity investments, at fair value 4,415 2,497

Unlisted equity investments, at cost 3,800 2,000
  

8,215 4,497
  

During the year, the gross loss in respect of the Group’s available-for-sale investments in certain listed 

companies providing online game service recognised in other comprehensive income amounted to US$47,000 

(2014: gain of US$3,989,000), of which a gain of US$67,000 (2014: US$3,199,000) was reclassified from other 

comprehensive income to the statement of profit or loss for the year.

There was a significant decline in the market value of one listed equity investment during the year. The 

directors consider that such a decline indicates that the listed equity investment has been impaired and an 

impairment loss of US$508,000 (2014: Nil), which included a reclassification from other comprehensive income 

of US$508,000 (2014: Nil), has been recognised in the statement of profit or loss for the year.

As at 31 December 2015, certain unlisted equity investments with a carrying amount of US$3,800,000 (2014: 

US$2,000,000) were stated at cost less impairment because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is 

so significant that the directors are of the opinion that their fair value cannot be measured reliably. The Group 

does not intend to dispose of them in the near future.

The above investments consist of investments in equity investment which were designated as available-for-

sale financial assets and have no fixed maturity date or coupon rate.
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19. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Accounts receivable 1,083 2,375
  

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly cash settlement, except for well-established corporate 

customers in the mobile advertising business and the online game joint operation business, for which the credit 

term is generally one to six months. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables 

to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. The Group does not 

hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over those accounts receivable balances. Accounts receivable 

are non-interest-bearing.

An aged analysis of the accounts receivable as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is 

as follows:

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Within 3 months 1,083 1,944

3 to 6 months — 431
  

1,083 2,375
  

No provision has been made for impairment of accounts receivable in the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: 

Nil).

The aged analysis of the accounts receivable that are not individually nor collectively considered to be impaired 

is as follows:

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Neither past due nor impaired 1,083 2,375
  

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a number of customers for whom there was no 

recent history of default. There was no receivable that was past due.
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20. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Prepayments 1,710 2,191

Rental deposits 538 220

Other receivables 780 1,071
  

3,028 3,482
  

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The financial assets included in the above balances 

relate to receivables for which there was no recent history of default.

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Cash and bank balances 185,503 97,550

Time deposits with original maturity of less than three months — 29,538
  

185,503 127,088
  

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) 

amounted to approximately US$2,676,422 (2014: US$7,192,768). The RMB is not freely convertible into other 

currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of 

Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for 

other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Time deposits are made for 

varying periods of between seven days and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements 

of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and non-

pledged time deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.
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22. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

An aged analysis of the accounts payable as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as 

follows:

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Within 3 months 3,282 6,404

3 to 6 months 965 564

6 months to 1 year 242 544

Over 1 year 97 60
  

4,586 7,572
  

The accounts payable are non-interest-bearing and are mainly settled within three months.

23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Other tax payables 372 543

Other payables 824 746

Provision for chargebacks 117 307

Salary and welfare payables 2,151 2,704

Other accruals 47 176
  

3,511 4,476
  

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and are mainly settled within three months. Salary and welfare 

payables are non-interest-bearing and payable on demand.
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24. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year are as follows:

 Deferred tax assets

Deferred

revenue

Intangible

assets Others Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

At 1 January 425 — 10 435

Deferred tax (charged)/credited to

 the statement of profit or loss

 during the year (372) 4 48 (320)

Exchange realignment — — — —
    

Deferred tax assets at 31 December

 2014 and 1 January 2015 53 4 58 115

Deferred tax charged to the

 statement of profit or loss during

 the year (53) (4) (52) (109)

Exchange realignment — — — —
    

Deferred tax assets at

 31 December 2015 — — 6 6
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24. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

 Deferred tax assets (Continued)

The Group had tax losses arising in the PRC of approximately US$3,912,000 (2014: US$5,265,000) that 

will expire in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets have not been 

recognised in respect of these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some 

time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be available against which the taxable losses can 

be utilised.

 Deferred tax liabilities

Property,

plant and

equipment

US$’000

At 1 January 2014 317

Deferred tax charged to the statement of profit or loss during the year 140
 

Deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 457

Deferred tax credited to the statement of profit or loss during the year (3)
 

Deferred tax liabilities at 31 December 2015 454
 

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law (the “New CIT Law”) which was approved and became 

effective on 1 January 2008, a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from 

the foreign investment enterprises established in the PRC. The requirement is effective on 1 January 2008 and 

applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty 

between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The 

Group is therefore liable for withholding tax on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in the 

PRC in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.
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24. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

 Deferred tax liabilities (Continued)

At 31 December 2015, no deferred tax has been recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on the 

unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of Fuzhou Tianji. In the opinion of the directors, it is 

not probable that Fuzhou Tianji will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of 

temporary differences associated with the investment in Fuzhou Tianji for which deferred tax liabilities have not 

been recognised totalled approximately US$1,354,000 as at 31 December 2015 (2014: US$806,000).

At 31 December 2015, there were no undistributed earnings of Fuzhou Tianmeng (2014: Nil). 

There were no undistributed earnings of Fuzhou Tianjie as at 31 December 2015 (2014: Nil).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of dividends by the Company to its 

shareholders.

25. DEFERRED REVENUE

Deferred revenue mainly represents service fees prepaid by game players or licensees for online game 

services to which related services have not been rendered as at the end of the reporting period.
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26. SHARE CAPITAL

 Shares

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Issued and fully paid or credited as fully paid:

1,396,711,599 (2014: 1,370,485,599) 

 ordinary shares (par value:US$0.0000025) 3 3
  

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as follows:

Number of

shares in

issue

Share

capital

Share

premium

account

Shares held

for Share 

Award 

Scheme

Shares

repurchased

for 

cancellation

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

At 1 January 2014 1,358,852,099 3 184,600 — —

Share options exercised (note 27) 11,633,500 — 636 — —

Share issuance expenses — — — — —

Shares purchased for

 Share Award Scheme (note 27) — — — (4,300) —

At 31 December 2014 1,370,485,599 3 185,236 (4,300) —
     

At 1 January 2015 1,370,485,599 3 185,236 (4,300) —

Share options exercised (note 27) 26,226,000 — 1,563 — —

Rewarded shares exercised (note 27) — — 71 470 —

Shares purchased for

 Share Award Scheme (note 27) — — — (1,999) —

Repurchase of ordinary shares — — — — (1,669)
     

At 31 December 2015 1,396,711,599 3 186,870 (5,829) (1,669)
     

Pursuant to section 37(3) of the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, 3,944,000 shares were repurchased 

in 2015 and the repurchased shares with carrying amount of US$1,669,000 were subsequently cancelled in 

January 2016.
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopts a pre-IPO share option scheme (the “Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”) and a share 

option scheme (the “Post-IPO Share Option Scheme I”), approved by the written resolution of shareholders 

passed on 16 September 2013 (the “Resolution”).

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme was adopted by the Company on 12 November 2008 and amended on 

16 September 2013 by the Resolution. The purpose of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to offer eligible 

persons an opportunity to acquire a proprietary interest in the success of the Group’s operations, or to increase 

such interest by purchasing ordinary shares of the Company. Eligible participants of the Pre-IPO Share Option 

Scheme include employees, the Company’s outside directors and consultants. Only employees, the Company’s 

outside directors and consultants are eligible for the grant of non-statutory options or the direct award or sale 

of shares. Only employees are eligible for the grant of incentive share options. The Pre-IPO Share Option 

Scheme became effective on 31 October 2008 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in 

force for 10 years from that date.

The maximum number of shares that are subject to options or other rights outstanding at any time under the 

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall not exceed the number of shares that then remain available for issuance 

under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme. The Company, during the term of the Pre-IPO Share Option 

Scheme, shall at all times reserve and keep available sufficient authorised but unissued shares to satisfy the 

requirements of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.

Generally the option is exercisable to the extent of the option that has been vested. Certain options are 

exercisable to the extent of the options that have been vested following the IPO and subject to the conditions 

and terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the board of directors at its sole discretion, but may not 

be less than the fair value of a share at the date of grant, or, if higher, the par value of such share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The following share options were outstanding under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme during the year:

2015 2014

Weighted

average

exercise price

 per share

(Note)

Number of

options

(Note)

Weighted

average

exercise price

per share

(Note)

Number of

options

(Note)

US$ US$

At 1 January 0.0527 73,674,500 0.0516 86,058,000

Granted during the year — — — —

Forfeited during the year 0.0752 (767,000) 0.0761 (750,000)

Exercised during the year 0.0394 (26,226,000) 0.0430 (11,633,500)
    

At 31 December 0.0599 46,681,500 0.0527 73,674,500
    

Note: The weighted average exercise price per share and number of options have been adjusted retroactively as a result of 

the Shares Subdivision as if the Shares Subdivision had taken place on 1 January 2013.

Nil consideration was payable by each grantee to the Company for grant of the options under the Pre-IPO 

Share Option Scheme. Save for the options which have been granted, no further option will be granted under 

the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options outstanding, adjusted retroactively as a result of 

the Shares Subdivision as if the Shares Subdivision had taken place on 1 January 2013, as at the end of the 

reporting period are as follows:

2015

Number of options Exercise price* per share Exercise period

US$

3,235,000 0.0038 01-07-2008 to 30-06-2017

2,241,000 0.0078 Since IPO to 30-06-2018

4,000,000 0.0378 05-12-2009 to 04-12-2018

5,126,000 0.0500 Since IPO to 31-07-2019

20,000 0.0525 Since IPO to 17-04-2021

11,677,000 0.0525 Since IPO to 20-04-2021

30,000 0.0525 Since IPO to 24-04-2021

120,000 0.0525 Since IPO to 02-05-2021

148,000 0.0525 Since IPO to 15-05-2021

280,000 0.0525 Since IPO to 12-06-2021

2,188,000 0.0865 Since IPO to 13-08-2021

2,177,000 0.0865 Since IPO to 14-01-2022

5,970,000 0.0865 Since IPO to 21-05-2022

9,469,500 0.0865 Since IPO to 31-03-2023
 

46,681,500
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued)

2014

Number of options Exercise price* per share Exercise period

US$

1,200,000 0.0038 Since IPO to 19-01-2017

11,191,000 0.0038 01-07-2008 to 30-06-2017

4,548,000 0.0078 Since IPO to 30-06-2018

4,000,000 0.0378 05-12-2009 to 04-12-2018

7,020,000 0.0500 Since IPO to 31-07-2019

416,000 0.0500 Since IPO to 02-08-2019

200,000 0.0500 Since IPO to 31-10-2019

60,000 0.0525 Since IPO to 17-04-2021

16,901,000 0.0525 Since IPO to 20-04-2021

120,000 0.0525 Since IPO to 24-04-2021

160,000 0.0525 Since IPO to 02-05-2021

240,000 0.0525 Since IPO to 15-05-2021

700,000 0.0525 Since IPO to 12-06-2021

400,000 0.0525 Since IPO to 02-07-2021

3,148,000 0.0865 Since IPO to 13-08-2021

3,546,000 0.0865 Since IPO to 14-01-2022

7,684,000 0.0865 Since IPO to 21-05-2022

12,140,500 0.0865 Since IPO to 31-03-2023
 

73,674,500
 

* The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case of stock split or a reverse of stock split, or 

other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (Continued)

No equity-settled share options under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme have been granted during the year 

ended 31 December 2015.

The 26,226,000 (2014: 11,633,500) share options exercised during the year resulted in the issuance of 

26,226,000 (2014: 11,633,500) ordinary shares of the Company and new share premium of US$1,562,802 

(2014: US$636,492) (before share issuance expenses), as further detailed in note 26 to the financial 

statements.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 46,681,500 share options outstanding under the Pre-IPO 

Share Option Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding share options would, under the present capital 

structure of the Company, result in the issuance of 46,681,500 additional ordinary shares of the Company and 

additional share capital of US$117 (before issuance expenses).

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme I

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Post-IPO Share Option Scheme I”) for the purpose of 

giving eligible persons an opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company and help motivate them to 

optimise their future performance and efficiency and/or to reward them for their past contributions, to attract 

and retain or otherwise maintain on-going relationships with such eligible persons who are significant to and/

or whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the performance, growth or success of the Group, and 

additionally in the case of Executives (defined as below), to enable the Group to attract and retain individuals 

with experience and ability and/or to reward them for their past contributions.

Eligible persons of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme I include a) any executive director of, manager of, or 

other employee holding an executive, managerial, supervisory or similar position in any member of the Group 

(“Executives”), any full-time or part-time employee, or a person for the time being seconded to work full-

time or part-time for any member of the Group; b) a director or proposed director (including a non-executive 

director and/or an independent non-executive director) of any member of the Group; c) a direct or indirect 

shareholder of any member of the Group; d) a supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group; e) a 

customer, consultant, business or joint venture partner, franchisee, contractor, agent or representative of any 

member of the Group; f) a person or entity that provides design, research, development or other support or any 

advisory, consultancy, professional or other services to any member of the Group; g) an associate of any of the 

persons referred to in paragraphs (a) to (c) above; and h) who, in the sole opinion of the board of directors, will 

contribute to or have contributed to the Group.

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme I became effective on 18 October 2013 and, unless otherwise cancelled 

or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date.
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme I (Continued)

The maximum number of shares to be issued upon exercise of all share options to be granted under the Post-

IPO Share Option Scheme I and any other scheme of the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the 

total number of shares in issue on the Listing Date (assuming that the Over-allotment Option is not exercised) 

and 30% of the shares of the Company in issue from time to time. The maximum number of shares issuable 

under share options to each eligible participant in the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme I within any 12-month 

period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in 

excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or a substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of 

their respective associates, are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors, 

excluding the independent non-executive directors who or whose associates are the grantee. In addition, any 

share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the Company, 

or to any of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time 

and with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in 

excess of HK$5,000,000, within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a 

general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days from the date of offer, upon payment of 

a nominal consideration of HK$1.0 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted is 

determinable by the board of directors in its absolute discretion, and commences after a certain vesting period 

and ends on a date which is not later than ten years from the date of grant of the share options.

The exercise price in respect of any particular option shall be such price as the board of directors may in its 

absolute discretion determines at the time of grant of the relevant option (and shall be stated in the letter 

containing the offer of the grant of the option) but the exercise price shall be at least the highest of: (a) the 

closing price of a share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the offer date, which must 

be a business day; (b) the average of the closing prices of a share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily 

quotation sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the offer date; and (c) the nominal value of a 

share on the offer date.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme I (Continued)

The following table lists the inputs to the model used for equity-settled share options granted under the Post-

IPO Share Option Scheme I during the year ended 31 December 2015.

2015

Dividend yield (%) 2.72-6.53

Expected volatility (%) 47.28-48.91

Risk-free interest rate (%) 1.85-2.28

Forfeiture rate (%) 5-6

Weighted average share price (HK$ per share) 3.44-8.30

The expected forfeiture rate is based on the historical data and is not necessarily indicative of the exercise 

patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative 

of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the measurement of fair value.

On 23 March 2015, the Company’s board of directors and remuneration committee approved to amend the 

terms of certain stock options under Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. The amendment comprised of two parts. 

Firstly, 6,769,000 options with exercise prices from HK$5.47 to HK$8.96 were replaced by 5,899,000 options 

with exercise prices of HK$3.9. Secondly, every three options were converted into one rewarded shares (“RS”) 

with its vesting schedule unchanged, which lead to the conversion of 2,973,500 options into 991,165 rewarded 

shares vesting from 23 March 2015. These amendments were accounted for as a share option modification 

and required the remeasurement of these share options. This remeasurement resulted in a total incremental 

share-based compensation of US$480,650, of which, US$90,122 was recognised in the year ended 31 

December 2015 and the remaining will be recognised ratably over the remaining vesting period of the awards.
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme I (Continued)

The following share options were outstanding under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme I during the year 

ended 31 December 2015.

2015 2014

Weighted

average

exercise price

per share

Number of

options

Weighted

average

exercise price

per share

Number of

options

HK$ HK$

At 1 January 6.40 11,674,500 — —

Granted during the year 3.72 540,000 6.44 11,881,000

Replacement options Granted

 during the period (Note) 3.90 5,899,000 — —

Cancelled during the period (Note) 6.78 (9,742,500) — —

Forfeited during the year 6.33 (405,000) 8.96 (206,500)
    

At 31 December 3.90 7,966,000 6.40 11,674,500
    

HK$1.0 consideration was payable by each grantee to the Company for the grant of the options under the Post-

IPO Share Option Scheme I.

31 December 2015

Number of options Exercise price per share Exercise period

HK$

360,000 5.47 11-08-2015 to 11-08-2024

1,167,000 3.51 21-11-2015 to 21-11-2024

4,889,000 3.90 23-03-2016 to 23-03-2025

1,450,000 3.90 03-06-2016 to 03-06-2025

100,000 2.94 10-09-2016 to 10-09-2025
 

7,966,000
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme I (Continued)

31 December 2014

Number of options Exercise price per share Exercise period

HK$

3,493,500 8.96 25-03-2015 to 25-03-2024

2,750,000 5.88 12-05-2015 to 12-05-2024

4,164,000 5.47 11-08-2015 to 11-08-2024

1,267,000 3.51 21-11-2015 to 21-11-2024
 

11,674,500
 

Share Award Scheme

The Share Award Scheme of the Company was adopted by the Board on 24 December 2013 (the “Adoption 

Date”). The purpose of the Share Award Scheme is to recognise the contributions by certain selected grantees 

and to give incentives thereto in order to retain them for the continuing operation and development of the 

Group, and to attract suitable personnel for further development of the Group. The awarded shares shall be 

either (i) allotted and issued by the Company or (ii) acquired by the Computershare Hong Kong Trustees 

Limited, as the trustee (“Trustee”) from the open market by utilising the Company’s s resources provided 

to the Trustee, subject to the absolute discretion of the Board. The vesting period of the awarded shares 

is determined by the Board. The awarded shares granted shall vest in the grantees in accordance with the 

schedule as determined by the Board.
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Share Award Scheme (Continued)

Movements in the number of shares held for the Share Award Scheme and awarded shares for the years 

ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

Number of

shares held

for the

Share Award

Scheme

Number of

awarded

shares Total

At 1 January 2015 3,098,848 2,630,152 5,729,000

Purchased and withheld 4,865,000 — 4,865,000

Granted (2,944,079) 2,944,079 —

Forfeited 331,511 (331,511) —

Replacement awarded shares granted (Note) (991,165) 991,165 —

Vested — (640,954) (640,954)
   

At 31 December 2015 4,360,115 5,592,931 9,953,046
   

Vested but not transferred as at 31 December 2015 —
 

Number of

shares held

for the

Share Award

Scheme

Number of

awarded

shares Total

At 1 January 2014 — — —

Purchased and withheld 5,729,000 — 5,729,000

Granted (2,794,819) 2,794,819 —

Forfeited 164,667 (164,667) —
   

At 31 December 2014 3,098,848 2,630,152 5,729,000
   

Vested but not transferred as at 31 December 2014 —
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Share Award Scheme (Continued)

The fair value of the awarded shares was calculated based on the market price of the Company’s shares at the 

respective grant date. The expected dividends during the vesting period have been taken into account when 

assessing the fair value of these awarded shares.

The weighted average fair value of the awarded shares granted during the year ended 31 December 2015 was 

HK$3.71 per share.

The awarded shares granted during the year ended 31 December 2015 and outstanding as at the year end will 

vest upon the anniversary of the grant date with each of 25% being vested annually.

Note : modification of stock option

On 23 March 2015, the Company’s board of directors and remuneration committee approved to amend the terms of 9,742,500 

stock options, among whith: 

• 5,899,000 options with exercise price from HK$5.47 to HK$8.96 were replaced by 5,899,000 options with exercise 

price of HK$3.9 and new graded vesting term of four years. The options would vest as to 25% annually since 23 March 

2015;

• 2,973,500 options with exercise price from HK$3.51 to HK$8.96 were replaced by 991,165 rewarded shares with 

graded vesting term of four years. The rewarded shares would vest as to 25% annually since 23 March 2015. 

28. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior years are presented 

in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 79 and 80 of the financial statements.

Certain subsidiaries established in Mainland China are required to transfer 10% of their profits after tax 

calculated in accordance with the PRC accounting regulations to their respective statutory reserve funds until 

the reserve funds reach 50% of their respective registered capital, upon which any further appropriation is at 

the directors’ recommendation. Such reserve refunds are restricted from distribution to the Company in the 

form of dividend and may be used to reduce any losses incurred by the subsidiaries or may be capitalised as 

paid-up capital of the subsidiaries, provided that the remaining balance after the capitalisation is not less than 

25% of the registered capital.
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29. BUSINESS COMBINATION

On 22 December 2014, the Group had acquired an associate, Nerd Kingdom, Inc., from independent third 

parties, the aggregate fair value of liabilities exceeded that of assets attributable to the interests acquired by 

the Group. The total consideration paid is US$603,000. The investment costs of Nerd Kingdom, Inc. included 

goodwill of approximately US$603,000. The Group does not have contractual right to share additional losses. 

The Group holds 61.7% of ordinary shares of Nerd Kingdom, Inc. and has the right to appoint two directors out 

of five directors in the board.

On 13 November 2015, pursuant to the amended and restated of articles of corporation of Nerd Kingdom, 

Inc., the Group was entitled to appoint three directors out of five directors in the board. In the opinion of the 

directors, the investments constituted business combinations achieved in stages, Nerd Kingdom, Inc. was 

classified as an associate of the Group before 13 November 2015 and has become a subsidiary thereafter. 

The acquisition was made as part of the Group’s strategy to strengthen its research and development of online 

games and nil consideration was paid.

This is regarded as a business combination achieved in stages. The Group accordingly remeasured its 

previously held equity interest in Nerd Kingdom, Inc., at the acquisition-date at fair value and recognised the 

resulting loss of US$4,265,000 in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Nerd Kingdom, Inc. as at the date of acquisition were 

as follows:

Notes

Fair value

recognised

on acquisition

US$’000

Property, plant and equipment 14 2

Other intangible assets 15 118

Accounts receivable 10

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 12

Cash and bank balances 7,652

Total identifiable net assets at fair value 7,794
 

Non-controlling interests 236

Goodwill on acquisition —
 

Satisfied by investment in an associate 17 7,558
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29. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

The Group incurred transaction costs of US$47,000 for this acquisition. These transaction costs have been 

expensed and are included in other expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Since the acquisition, Nerd Kingdom, Inc. contributed US$4,000 to the Group’s revenue and and US$239,000 

of loss to the consolidated profit for the year ended 31 December 2015.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the year, the revenue from continuing operations of the 

Group and the profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 would have been US$202,656,000 

and US$39,144,000, respectively.

30. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, neither the Group nor the Company had any significant contingent 

liabilities.

31. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

As lessee

The Group leases certain of its office premises and warehouses under operating lease arrangements. Leases 

for these properties are negotiated for terms ranging from one to five years.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 

operating leases falling due as follows:

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Within one year 1,761 1,903

In the second to fifth years, inclusive 6,376 4,774

After five years 2,932 4,167
  

11,069 10,844
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32. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note 31 above, the Group and the Company had the 

following capital commitments at the end of the reporting period:

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Contracted, but not provided for:

 Leasehold improvements 837 261
  

33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had the 

following transactions with related parties during the year:

Notes 2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Consulting services fee paid to Hongbin You (i) 54 51

Customer and marketing services fee paid

 to 199 Digital Co., Ltd (ii) 174 —

Research and development services fee

 paid to GameCoreTech (iii) — 229
  

228 280
  

The related party transactions for (i) and (iii) constitute continuing connected transactions as defined 

under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had the 

following transactions with related parties during the year: (Continued)

Notes:

(i) Hongbin You is a company wholly owned by Ms. Hongbin You, who is a sister-in-law of Mr. Hong Zhang, a 

member of the Controlling Shareholders.

 The consulting services fee is determined based on the amounts agreed by the mutual parties.

(ii) 199 Digital Co.,Ltd is an associate company, of whom 49% and 51% of equity interests were held by IGG and 

WKL Co., Ltd., respectively.

 The business services fee is determined based on the amounts agreed by the mutual parties.

(iii) GameCoreTech Software Corporation (“GameCoreTech”) is a company wholly owned by Mr. Neng Xu, who 

is Mr. Yuan Xu’s brother. Mr. Yuan Xu is a member of the Controlling Shareholders. On 5 March 2014, IGG 

Singapore, GameCoreTech and Mr. Neng Xu entered into a termination agreement pursuant to which the 

parties agreed to irrevocably terminate the Research & Development Outsourcing Agreement. There are no 

outstanding rights and obligations under the Research & Development Outsourcing Agreement.

 The research and development services fee is determined based on the amounts agreed by the mutual parties.

(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group, including directors’ remuneration as detailed 

in note 9 above, is as follows:

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Short term employee benefits 1,676 1,640

Equity-settled share option expense 465 433
  

2,141 2,073
  

(c) Capital contribution injected to Tapcash Cayman from key management is amounted to US$720,000. 

Tapcash Cayman is a 60%-owned subsidiary of IGG Inc.
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period 

are as follows:

2015

Financial assets

Financial

assets at fair

value through

profit or loss –

Designated

as such

upon initial

recognition

Loans and

receivables

Available-for-

sale financial

assets Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Available-for-sale investments

 (note 18) — — 8,215 8,215

Other non-current assets — 325 — 325

Funds receivable — 13,478 — 13,478

Accounts receivable (note 19) — 1,083 — 1,083

Financial assets included

 in prepayments, deposits and

 other receivables — 2,619 — 2,619

Cash and cash equivalents (note 21) — 185,503 — 185,503
    

— 203,008 8,215 211,223
    

Financial liabilities

Financial

liabilities at

amortised cost

US$’000

Accounts payable (note 22) 4,586

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 2,095
 

6,681
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (Continued)

2014

Financial assets

Financial

assets at fair

value through

profit or loss –

Designated

as such

upon initial

recognition

Loans and

receivables

Available-for-

sale financial

assets Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Interest in an associate

 – non-redeemable convertible

  preferred shares (note 17) 2,720 — — 2,720

Available-for-sale investments

 (note 18) — — 4,497 4,497

Other non-current assets — 374 — 374

Funds receivable — 16,889 — 16,889

Accounts receivable (note 19) — 2,375 — 2,375

Financial assets included

 in prepayments, deposits and

 other receivables — 1,473 — 1,473

Time deposits with original maturity

 of over three months — 54,000 — 54,000

Cash and cash equivalents (note 21) — 127,088 — 127,088
    

2,720 202,199 4,497 209,416
    

Financial liabilities

Financial 

liabilities at 

amortised cost

US$’000

Accounts payable (note 22) 7,572

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 2,606
 

10,178
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35. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial instruments, other than those with carrying 

amounts that reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

Carrying amounts Fair values

2015 2014 2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Financial assets

Interest in an associate

 – non-redeemable convertible

  preferred shares (note17) — 2,720 — 2,720

Available-for-sale investments-listed

 equity investments (note 18) 4,415 2,497 4,415 2,497

Other non-current assets 325 374 320 370
    

4,740 5,591 4,735 5,587
    

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, funds 

receivable, accounts payable, financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables, 

financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to 

the short term maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s finance department headed by the finance manager is responsible for determining the policies 

and procedures for the fair value measurement of financial instruments. The finance manager reports directly 

to the chief financial officer. At each reporting date, the corporate finance department analyses the movements 

in the values of financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation is 

reviewed and approved by the chief financial officer. The valuation process and results are discussed with the 

audit committee twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.
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35. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the instrument could 

be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The 

following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of non-current assets have been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows using 

rates currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted market prices.
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35. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2015 Fair value measurement using

Quoted prices

in active

markets

(Level 1)

Significant

observable

inputs

(Level 2)

Significant

unobservable

 inputs

(Level 3) Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Available-for-sale investments –

 listed equity instruments (note 18) 4,415 — — 4,415
    

As at 31 December 2014 Fair value measurement using

Quoted prices

in active

markets

(Level 1)

Significant

observable

inputs

(Level 2)

Significant

unobservable

inputs

(Level 3) Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Available-for-sale investments –

 listed equity instruments (note 18) 2,497 — — 2,497

Interests in an associate (note 17)

 – non-redeemable convertible

  preferred shares — — 2,720 2,720
    

2,497 — 2,720 5,217
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35. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Assets measured at fair value: (Continued)

The movement in fair value measurements in Level 3 during the year is as follows:

2015

US$’000

Interest in an associate - non-redeemable convertible preferred shares:

At 1 January 2,720

Total loss recognised in the statement of profit or loss (2,720)
 

At 31 December —
 

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no 

transfers into or out of Level 3 (2014: Nil).
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35. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Assets for which fair values are disclosed

As at 31 December 2015 Fair value measurement using

Quoted prices

in active

markets

(Level 1)

Significant

observable

inputs

(Level 2)

Significant

unobservable

inputs

(Level 3) Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Non-current rental deposits — 320 — 320
    

As at 31 December 2014 Fair value measurement using

Quoted prices

in active

markets

(Level 1)

Significant

observable

inputs

(Level 2)

Significant

unobservable

inputs

(Level 3) Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Non-current rental deposits — 370 — 370
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

 The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents. The main purpose of these 

financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial 

assets and liabilities such as accounts receivable and accounts payable, which arise directly from its 

operations.

 The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are foreign currency risk and liquidity risk. The 

board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised 

below:

Foreign currency risk

 The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise from sales or purchases by operating 

units in currencies other than the units’ functional currencies. Approximately 64.4% (2014: 23.4%) of the 

Group’s sales were denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of the operating units 

making the sales.

 To date, the Group has not entered into any hedging transactions in an effort to reduce the Group’s exposure 

to foreign currency exchange risk. While the Group may decide to enter into hedging transactions in the future, 

the availability and effectiveness of these hedges may be limited and the Group may not be able to hedge the 

Group’s exposure successfully, or at all.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

 The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible 

change in the exchange rate of US$ against RMB and HKD, with all other variables held constant, of the 

Group’s profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities):

Increase/

(decrease)

in US$ rate

Increase/

(decrease) 

in profit 

before tax

% US$’000

2015

If US$ weakens against RMB (5%) (128)

If US$ strengthens against RMB 5% 128

If US$ weakens against HKD (5%) (391)

If US$ strengthens against HKD 5% 391

2014

If US$ weakens against RMB (5%) (360)

If US$ strengthens against RMB 5% 360

If US$ weakens against HKD (5%) (706)

If US$ strengthens against HKD 5% 706
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk

 In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents 

deemed adequate by management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in 

cash flows.

 The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period, based on the 

contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

2015

Within 1 year Total

US$’000 US$’000

Accounts payable (note 22) 4,586 4,586

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 2,574 2,574
  

7,160 7,160
  

2014

Within 1 year Total

US$’000 US$’000

Accounts payable (note 22) 7,572 7,572

Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 2,606 2,606
  

10,178 10,178
  

Capital management

 The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue 

as a going concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise 

shareholders’ value.

 The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions 

and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may 

adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No change 

was made in the objectives, polices or processes for managing capital during the reporting period.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Capital management (Continued)

 The Group monitors capital by regularly reviewing the gearing ratio, which is total liabilities, excluding the non-

redeemable convertible preferred shares, divided by total assets. Capital represents total equity shown in the 

consolidated statement of financial position.

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

Total current liabilities 28,418 29,852

Total non-current liabilities 454 457
  

28,872 30,309
  

Total current assets 203,092 203,834

Total non-current assets 17,034 13,740
  

220,126 217,574
  

Gearing ratio 13.1% 13.9%
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

2015 2014

US$’000 US$’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Investment in subsidiaries 16,761 6,360

Interest in an associate — 3,323

Available-for-sale investments 3,837 2,034
  

Total non-current assets 20,598 11,717
  

CURRENT ASSETS

Due from subsidiaries 31,718 62,580

Cash and cash equivalents 8,368 31,591
  

Total current assets 40,086 94,171
  

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Due to subsidiaries 78 240

Other payables and accruals 233 340
  

Total current liabilities 311 580
  

NET CURRENT ASSETS 39,802 93,591
  

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 60,373 105,308
  

Net assets 60,373 105,308
  

EQUITY

Issued capital 3 3

Reserves 60,370 105,305
  

Total equity 60,373 105,308
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note:

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

Share 

premium

Share option 

reserve

Shares held

for Share

Award 

Scheme

Shares

repurchased

for

cancellation

Available-for-

sale investment 

revaluation 

reserve

Accumulated

deficits Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

1 January 2014 184,600 1,553 — — — (71,315) 114,838

Changes in fair value of available for-

 sale investments, net of tax — — — — (11) — (11)

Profit for the year — — — — — 1,895 1,895
       

Total comprehensive income for the year — — — — (11) 1,895 1,884

Exercise of Employee Share Option Plan 636 (137) — — — — 499

Equity-settled share option arrangement — 2,269 — — — — 2,269

Shares purchased for Share Award Scheme — — (4,300) — — — (4,300)

2014 interim dividend paid (9,885) — — — — — (9,885)
       

At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 175,351 3,685 (4,300) — (11) (69,420) 105,305

Changes in fair value of available for-

 sale investments, net of tax — — — — 11 — 11

Profit for the year — — — — — (7,498) (7,498)
       

Total comprehensive income for the year — — — — 11 (7,498) (7,487)

Exercise of Employee Share Option Plan 1,563 (523) — — — — 1,040

Equity-settled share option arrangement — 2,695 — — — — 2,695

Shares purchased for Share Award Scheme — — (1,999) — — — (1,999)

Repurchase of ordinary shares — — — (1,669) — — (1,669)

Vesting of awarded shares 71 (541) 470 — — — —

Dividends received for Share Award Scheme — 145 — — — — 145

2014 second interim and special dividend paid (30,460) — — — — — (30,460)

2015 interim dividend paid (7,200) — — — — — (7,200)
       

At 31 December 2015 139,325 5,461 (5,829) (1,669) — (76,918) 60,370
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

Pursuant to the Companies Law (2001 Second Revision) of the Cayman Islands, the share premium account is distributable 

to the shareholders of the Company, provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be 

distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options granted which are yet to be exercised, as further 

explained in the accounting policy for share-based payments in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements. The amount 

will either be transferred to the share premium account when the related options are exercised, or be transferred to retained 

profits should the related options expire.

38. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 25 March 2016.
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A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last four 

financial years, as extracted from the published audited financial statements, is set out below:

Year ended 31 December

2015 2014 2013 2012

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Results

REVENUE 202,546 204,612 87,986 43,154

Cost of sales (62,007) (58,827) (22,264) (10,358)
    

Gross profit 140,539 145,785 65,722 32,796

Other income and gains 1,378 4,110 592 422

Selling and distribution expenses (41,652) (43,064) (23,246) (12,071)

Administrative expenses (21,840) (16,672) (10,855) (7,093)

Research and development costs (26,944) (17,202) (9,333) (6,331)

Fair value loss of redeemable 

 convertible preferred shares — — (14,167) (20,612)

Other expenses (6,546) (1,342) (452) (57)
    

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 44,935 71,615 8,261 (12,946)

Income tax expense (3,687) (5,223) (1,313) (163)
    

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FROM 

 CONTINUING OPERATIONS 41,248 66,392 6,948 (13,109)
    

DISCONTINUED OPERATION

Loss for the year from a 

 discontinued operation — — — (326)
    

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 41,248 66,392 6,948 (13,435)
    

Attributable to:

 Owners of the parent 41,492 66,373 6,948 (13,435)

 Non-controlling interests (244) 19 — —
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As at 31 December

2015 2014 2013 2012

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Assets, Liabilities and Equity

TOTAL ASSETS 220,126 217,574 151,446 21,526

TOTAL LIABILITIES 28,872 30,295 15,673 77,367

TOTAL EQUITY 191,254 187,279 135,773 (55,841)
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“Articies of Association” or the articles of association of the Company as amended, supplemented or

 “Articles” otherwise modified from time to time

“associate(s)” has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules

“Board” or “Board of Directors” the board of directors of the Company

“Business day” a day on which banks in Hong Kong and the Cayman Islands are 

generally open for business to the public and which is not a Saturday, 

Sunday or public holiday in Hong Kong or the Cayman Islands

“BVI” British Virgin Islands

“China” or “PRC” the People’s Republic of China, for the purpose of the annual report, 

excluding Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan

“Company” or “IGG” IGG Inc, an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands 

whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange

“Companies Ordinance” the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as 

amended, supplemented, or otherwise modified from time to time

“connected person(s)” has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules

“Controlling Shareholders” has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules and unless the 

context requires otherwise, refers to Mr. Zongjian Cai, Mr. Yuan Chi, Duke 

Online, Edmond Online, Ms. Kai Chen (spouse of Mr. Zongjian Cai), Mr. 

Zhixiang Chen, Mr. Yuan Xu and Mr. Hong Zhang

“Corporate Governance Code” Code on corporate governance practices contained in Appendix 15 to 

the GEM Listing Rules (applicable to the Company prior to the Transfer 

of Listing) and Appendix 14 to Listing Rules (applicable to the Company 

immediately after the Transfer of Listing)

“Directors(s)” the director(s) of the Company

“Duke Online” Duke Online Holdings Limited, an exempted company incorporated under 

the laws of the BVI on 10 September 2007 with limited liability, the entire 

issued share capital of which is owned by Mr. Zongjian Cai, one of the 

Controlling Shareholders

“Edmond Online” Edmond Online Holdings Limited, an exempted company incorporated 

under the laws of the BVI on 10 September 2007 with limited liability, 80% 

of issued share capital of which is owned by Mr. Yuan Chi, one of the 

Controlling Shareholders
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“Founders” Mr. Zongjian Cai (蔡宗建 ) and Mr. Yuan Chi (池元 )

“Fuzhou Tianji” Fuzhou TJ Digital Entertainment Co., Ltd* (福州天極數碼有限公司), a 

limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 15 

November 2007, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group

“Fuzhou Tianmeng” Fuzhou Skyunion Digital Co., Ltd* (福州天盟數碼有限公司), a limited 

liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 12 December 

2006, which is owned as to 50% by Mr. Zongjian Cai and 50% by Mr. 

Yuan Chi, respectively

“GEM” Growth Enterprise Market

“GEM Listing Rules” the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM

“Group”, “we”, “our” or “us” the Company and its subsidiaries

“HK$” and “HK cents” Hong Kong dollars and cents respectively, the lawful currency of Hong 

Kong

“Hong Kong” The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

“IGG HK” Skyunion Hong Kong Holdings Limited (天 盟 香 港 控 股 有 限 公 司 ), a 

company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong on 20 February 2006 

and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

“IGG Japan” G-BOX Inc.* (株式會社G-BOX), a company incorporated under the laws 

of Japan on 5 February 2015, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group

“IGG Korea” IGG Korea Ltd., a company incorporated under the laws of Korea on 14 

January 2015, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group

“IGG Philippines” IGG Philippines Corp., a company incorporated under the laws of the 

Philippines on 11 January 2013, which is wholly-owned by IGG Singapore

“IGG Singapore” IGG Singapore Pte. Ltd. (formerly known as Skyunion Pte. Ltd.), a 

company incorporated under the laws of Singapore on 30 June 2009, a 

wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

“IGG US” Sky Union, LLC, a limited liability company formed in the State of Nevada, 

the United States, on 21 October 2005, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 

Company
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“Independent Third Party(ies)” individual(s) or company(ies) who is/are not connected with (within the 

meaning of the Listing Rules) any of the Company, Directors, chief 

executive or substantial shareholders of the Company, its subsidiaries or 

any of their respective associates

“Listing” or “Placing” the listing of the Shares on the GEM

“Listing Date” 18 October 2013, on which dealings in Shares first commence on the 

GEM

“Listing Rules” the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

“Main Board” stock market operated by the Stock Exchange prior to the establishment 

of GEM (excluding the options market) which stock market continues to be 

operated by the Stock Exchange in parallel with GEM. For the avoidance 

of doubt, the Main Board excludes GEM

“MAU” monthly active users

“Model Code” the required standard of dealings for securities transactions by directors 

of listed issuers as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules 

adopted by the Company on 16 September 2013 (applicable to the 

Company prior to the Transfer of Listing) and Appendix 10 to the Listing 

Rules (applicable to the Company immediately after the Transfer of 

Listing)

“Nerd Kingdom” Nerd Kingdom, Inc., a company incorporated under the laws of the United 

States with limited liability, on 20 May 2010, a subsidiary of the Company

“Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme” the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 12 November 2008 

and amended by written resolutions of all Shareholders passed on 16 

September 2013, certain principal terms of which are summarised in the 

paragraph headed “Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme” in Appendix IV to the 

Prospectus

“Prospectus” the prospectus of the Company dated 11 October 2013

“RMB” Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

“SFO” Securities Futures Ordinance, chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong

“Share(s)” means ordinary share(s) of US$0.0000025 each in the share capital of the 

Company
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“Share Award Scheme” the share award scheme adopted by the Company on 24 December 2013, 

the principal terms of which are summarised in the announcement of the 

Company dated 24 December 2013

“Shareholder(s)” shareholder(s) of the Company

“Share Option Scheme” the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 16 September 

2013, the principal terms of which are summarised under the paragraph 

headed “Share Option Scheme” in Appendix IV to the Prospectus

“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

“subsidiary(ies)” has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 15 of the Companies 

Ordinance

“substantial shareholder” has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules

“Structured Contracts” a series of contracts (as supplemented) which include the Call Option 

Agreement, the Exclusive Technical Consulting Service Agreement, the 

Equity Pledge Agreement, the Power of Attorney and the Online Game 

Licensing Agreement

“Tapcash Cayman” Tap Media Technology Inc., an exempted company incorporated under 

the laws of the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 11 November 2014, 

a subsidiary of the Company

“Tapcash Group” Tapcash Cayman and its subsidiaries

“Tapcash Cayman Share(s)” ordinary share(s) of US$0.00025 each in the capital of Tapcash Cayman

“Tapcash Singapore” Tap Media Technology Pte. Ltd., a company incorporated under the laws 

of Singapore on 30 December 2014, a subsidiary of the Group

“Tapcash Subsidiary Share the share option scheme of Tapcash Cayman and its subsidiaries, the

 Option Scheme” principal terms of which were summarized in the circular of the Company 

dated 31 March 2015

“Transfer of Listing” the transfer of listing of the Shares from GEM to the Main Board pursuant 

to Chapter 9A of the Listing Rules

“U.S. dollar(s)” or “US$” or “USD” United States dollars and cents, respectively, the lawful currency of the

 and “US Cents” United States of America

“Vertex” Vertex Asia Investments Pte. Ltd. (or its affiliates or successors), a 

company incorporated under the law of Singapore on 20 April 2011 which 

is ultimately wholly owned by Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited

% per cent

* If there is any inconsistency between the English and Chinese texts of this report, the English text of this report shall prevail over 

the Chinese text.
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